1200 King County

. King County Courthouse

516 Third Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104

King County Meeting Agenda
Metropolitan King County Council

Councilmembers: Girmay Zahilay, Chair;

Sarah Perry, Vice Chair of Policy Development and Review;
Reagan Dunn, Vice Chair of Regional Coordination;
Claudia Balducci, Jorge L. Barén, Rod Dembowski,

Teresa Mosqueda, De'Sean Quinn, Pete von Reichbauer

1:30 PM Tuesday, July 22, 2025 Hybrid Meeting

REVISED AGENDA

Hybrid Meetings: Attend King County Council meetings in person in Council Chambers (Room
1001), 516 3rd Avenue in Seattle, or through remote access. Details on how to attend and/or
provide comment remotely are listed below.

HOW TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TESTIMONY: The Council values community input and looks
forward to hearing from you. Testimony must be limited to items listed on the agenda for
council action, unless it's the fourth Tuesday of the month, when the Council will hear general
comment on matters relating to county government. You are not required to sign up in
advance.

There are three ways to provide public testimony:
1. In person: You may attend the meeting in person in Council Chambers.

2. By email: You may testify by submitting a COMMENT email. If your testimony is submitted
before 10:00 a.m. on the day of the Council meeting, your email testimony will be distributed to
the Councilmembers and appropriate staff prior to the meeting. Please submit your testimony
by emailing clerk@kingcounty.gov.

3. Remote attendance on the Zoom Webinar: You may provide oral public testimony at the
meeting by connecting to the meeting via phone or computer using the ZOOM application at
https://zoom.us/, and entering the Webinar ID below.

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to 'T' [Telecoil) setting,

King County Page 1 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 1



Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

CONNECTING TO THE WEBINAR
Webinar ID: 890 5838 1493

If you do not have access to the ZOOM application, you can connect to the meeting by calling
1253 215 8782 and using the Webinar ID. Connecting in this manner, however, may impact
your ability to be unmuted to speak.

You have the right to language access services at no cost to you. To request these services,
please contact our Equity and Social Justice Coordinator, Tera Chea at (206) 477 9259 or
Tera.Chea2@kingcounty.gov, three (3) days prior to the meeting.

If you do not wish to be called upon for public comment during the meeting, please help us
manage the callers and use one of the options below (Live Streaming or King County TV

Channel 22).

HOW TO LISTEN TO THE MEETING: There are several ways to listen to the meeting if you don't
wish to provide public testimony:

1. Stream online via this link: https://kingcounty.gov/kctv, or input the link web address into
your web browser.

2. Watch King County TV on Comcast Channel 22 and 322(HD), and Astound Broadband
Channels 22 and 711 (HD).

3. Listen to the meeting by telephone — See “Connecting to the Webinar” above.

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 2 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 2



Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

1. Call to Order To show a PDF of the written materials for an
agenda item, click on the agenda item below.
2. Roll Call
3. Flag Salute and Pledge of Allegiance
Councilmember Barén
4. Approval of Minutes of July 15, 2025 Pg.9
Councilmember Perry

5. Additions to the Council Agenda

6. Special Item

Recognition of Captain Dan Krehbiel upon his retirement from King County Water Taxi

Councilmember Mosqueda and Councilmember Quinn

7. Public Comment

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 3 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 3


Text Box
To show a PDF of the written materials for an
agenda item, click on the agenda item below.


Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinances from Standing Committees
and Regional Committees, and of Ordinances related to Collective
Bargaining

There will be one public hearing on Iltems 6-12

Consent Item 8

Councilmember Perry

8. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0164 Pg. 19

AN ORDINANCE relating to existing regional transportation boards, including the SeaShore
Transportation Forum, the Eastside Transportation Partnership, and the South County Area
Transportation Board; authorizing the executive to enter into agreements for their continuation and
committing to King County staff support through 2028.

Sponsors: Quinn
On 6/10/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Transportation,
Economy, and Environment Committee.

On 7/15/2025, the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee Recommended Do
Pass Consent.

Budget and Fiscal Management

Councilmember Dembowski

9. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0169 Pg. 46

AN ORDINANCE imposing an additional sales and use tax of one-tenth of one percent, as
authorized in Section 201, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025 for criminal justice purposes;
providing for the use of the sales and use tax proceeds for eligible expenditures; and adding a new
section to K.C.C. chapter 4A.500.

Sponsors: Zahilay and Dembowski

On 6/10/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Budget and
Fiscal Management Committee.
On 7/9/2025, the Budget and Fiscal Management Committee Recommended Do Pass.

Public Hearing Required

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 4 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 4


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25724
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25737

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

Transportation, Economy, and Environment

Councilmember Quinn

10. Proposed Substitute Ordinance No. 2025-0176.2 Pg. 59

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the King County executive to enter into an agreement with respect to
the purchase of the landfill gas processing plant located at the Cedar Hills regional landfill.

Sponsors: Quinn
On 7/1/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Transportation,
Economy, and Environment Committee.
On 7/15/2025, the Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee Passed Out of

Committee Without a Recommendation.
Public Hearing Required

Motions, from Standing Committees and Regional Committees and
Motions related to Collective Bargaining, for Council Action

Consent Item 11

Councilmember Perry

11. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0148 Pg. 182

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Marsha Matsumoto, who resides in council
district four, to the King County board of ethics.

Sponsors: Baron

On 7/1/2025, the Metropolitan King County Council Introduced and Referred to Government
Accountability and Oversight Committee.

On 7/8/2025, the Government Accountability and Oversight Committee Recommended Do Pass
Consent.

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 5 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 5


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25775
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25690

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

First Reading of and Action on Motions Without Referral to Committee

12. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0219 Pg. 186

A MOTION appointing committees to write the voters' pamphlet statements for the November 4,
2025, election regarding Ordinance 19950 providing for the submission to the qualified electors of
King County, at special election on November 4, 2025, of a proposition to continue funding for the
countywide Medic One emergency medical services system by authorizing a regular property tax levy
for a consecutive six year period, for collection beginning in 2026, at a rate of $0.25 or less per
$1,000 of assessed valuation, to provide for Medic One emergency medical services.

Sponsors: Dunn

SUBJECT TO A MOTION TO SUSPEND THE RULES TO TAKE ACTION WITHOUT REFERRAL TO
COMMITTEE PURSUANT TO K.C.C. 1.24.085

First Reading and Referral of Ordinances

13. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0212

AN ORDINANCE relating to the levy collection of the sales and use tax of one-tenth of one percent
for the delivery of behavioral health services and therapeutic courts authorized by RCW 82.14.460;
continuing the sales and use tax; adding a new section to K.C.C. chapter 4A.500, establishing an
effective date, and establishing an expiration date.

Sponsors: Dembowski

First Reading and Referral to the Budget and Fiscal Management Committee

This is a dual referral first to the Budget and Fiscal Management Committee and then to the
Regional Policy Committee.

This is a nonmandatory referral to the Regional Policy Committee under K.C.C. 1.24.065.1 as an
issue that would benefit from interjurisdictional discussion.

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 6 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 6


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25848
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25837

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda July 22, 2025

14. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0216

AN ORDINANCE related to civil immigration enforcement at facilities contracted with King County;
amending Ordinance 18665, Section 1, as amended, and K.C.C. 2.15.005, and adding a new section
to K.C.C. chapter 2.15.

Sponsors: Bardn

First Reading and Referral to the Law and Justice Committee

First Reading and Referral of Motions

15. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0170

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Jonathan Deex, who resides in council district
nine, to the King County community advisory committee on law enforcement oversight, as a
representative from King County sheriff contract cities.

Sponsors: Baron

First Reading and Referral to the Law and Justice Committee

16. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0196

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Daisy Wong, who resides in council district
nine, to the King County human and civil rights commission.

Sponsors: Baron

First Reading and Referral to the Law and Justice Committee

17. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0199

A MOTION accepting the King County Clean Water Healthy Habitat Strategic Plan 2020-2025 in
accordance with Ordinance 19881, Section 377.

Sponsors: Perry

First Reading and Referral to the Local Services and Land Use Committee

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
‘ \ by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County Page 7 Printed on 7/18/2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 7


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25843
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25765
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25801
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25804

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Agenda

July 22, 2025

18. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0204

A MOTION accepting the King County 30-Year Forest Plan in accordance with Ordinance 19881,
Section 377.

Sponsors: Quinn and Perry

First Reading and Referral to the Local Services and Land Use Committee

19. Reports

on Special and Outside Committees

Other Business

Adjournment

Sign language and interpreter services can be arranged given sufficient notice (206-848-0355).
TTY Mumber - TTY 711.
Council Chambers is equipped with a hearing loop, which provides a wireless signal that is picked up
by a hearing aid when it is set to T' [Telecaoil) setting.

King County

Page 8

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

Printed on 7/18/2025

8


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25814

1200 King County
Courthouse
516 Third Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104

N King County

King County Meeting Minutes
Metropolitan King County Council

Councilmembers: Girmay Zahilay, Chair;

Sarah Perry, Vice Chair of Policy Development and Review;
Reagan Dunn, Vice Chair of Regional Coordination;
Claudia Balducci, Jorge L. Baréon, Rod Dembowski,

Teresa Mosqueda, De'Sean Quinn, Pete von Reichbauer

1:30 PM Tuesday, July 15, 2025 Hybrid Meeting

DRAFT MINUTES

Hybrid Meetings: Attend King County Council meetings in person in
Council Chambers (Room 1001), 516 3rd Avenue in Seattle, or through
remote access. Details on how to attend and/or provide comment remotely
are listed below.

HOW TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TESTIMONY: The Council values community
input and looks forward to hearing from you. Testimony must be limited to
items listed on the agenda for council action, unless it's the fourth
Tuesday of the month, when the Council will hear general comment on
matters relating to county government. You are not required to sign up in
advance.

There are three ways to provide public testimony:
1. In person: You may attend the meeting in person in Council Chambers.

2. By email: You may testify by submitting a COMMENT email. If your
testimony is submitted before 10:00 a.m. on the day of the Council
meeting, your email testimony will be distributed to the Councilmembers
and appropriate staff prior to the meeting. Please submit your testimony
by emailing clerk@kingcounty.gov.

3. Remote attendance on the Zoom Webinar: You may provide oral public
testimony at the meeting by connecting to the meeting via phone or
computer using the ZOOM application at https://zoom.us/, and entering
the Webinar ID below.

King County Page 1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 9



Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes

July 15, 2025

CONNECTING TO THE WEBINAR
Webinar ID: 890 5838 1493

If you do not have access to the ZOOM application, you can connect to the
meeting by calling 1 253 215 8782 and using the Webinar ID. Connecting in
this manner, however, may impact your ability to be unmuted to speak.

You have the right to language access services at no cost to you. To
request these services, please contact our Equity and Social Justice
Coordinator, Tera Chea at (206) 477 9259 or Tera.Chea2@kingcounty.gov,
three (3) days prior to the meeting.

If you do not wish to be called upon for public comment during the
meeting, please help us manage the callers and use one of the options
below (Live Streaming or King County TV Channel 22).

HOW TO LISTEN TO THE MEETING: There are several ways to listen to
the meeting if you don't wish to provide public testimony:

1. Stream online via this link: https://kingcounty.gov/kctv, or input the link
web address into your web browser.

2. Watch King County TV on Comcast Channel 22 and 322(HD), and
Astound Broadband Channels 22 and 711 (HD).

3. Listen to the meeting by telephone — See “Connecting to the Webinar”
above.

King County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Page 2

July 22, 2025

10



Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

1. Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 1:33 p.m.

2. Roll Call

Present: 9 - Balducci, Barén, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von
Reichbauer and Zahilay

3. Flag Salute and Pledge of Allegiance

Councilmember Perry led the flag salute and Pledge of Allegiance.

4, Approval of Minutes July 8, 2025

Councilmember Perry moved to approve the minutes of the July 8, 2025, meeting as
presented. Seeing no objection, the Chair so ordered.

5. Additions to the Council Agenda

There were no additions.

6. Special Item

Proclamation of July 2025 as Disability Pride Month in King County

Councilmember Balducci made remarks, presented the proclamation, and introduced
Ariele Belo, Co-Director, Hearing, Speech & Deaf Center. Ariele Belo made remarks
and thanked the Council.

King County Page 3

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 11



Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinances from
Standing Committees and Regional Committees, and of
Ordinances related to Collective Bargaining

There will be one public hearing on Items 6-12

The following people spoke:
Jessica Castellanos

Joe Kunzler

Joe Thompson

Consent Item 7

7. Proposed Substitute Ordinance No. 2025-0158.2

AN ORDINANCE amending Ordinance 19862, adopted by the council on November 19, 2024, which
authorized the issuance of limited tax general obligation bonds of the county; and amending Ordinance
19862, Sections 1, 2, 4, 13, 17, and 19 and repealing Ordinance 19862, Attachment B.

Sponsors: Dembowski

The enacted number is 19954.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. A motion was made by
Councilmember Perry that this Ordinance be Passed on the Consent Agenda.
The motion carried by the following vote:

Yes: 9- Balducci, Baréon, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von
Reichbauer, and Zahilay

King County Page 4

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 12


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25707

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

Budget and Fiscal Management

8. Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-0137

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the issuance and sale of one or more series of junior lien sewer revenue
bonds and multi-modal limited tax general obligation bonds (payable from sewer revenues) of the county
in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $1,200,000,000 to provide funds for acquiring and
constructing improvements to the sewer system and to pay the costs of issuing such bonds; authorizing
the issuance and sale of one or more series of junior lien sewer revenue refunding bonds and multi-modal
limited tax general obligation refunding bonds (payable from sewer revenues) of the county to refund
outstanding obligations of the county payable from sewer revenues and to pay the costs of issuing such
refunding bonds; reauthorizing the county’s existing commercial paper notes issued for sewer system
purposes, in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $250,000,000 outstanding at any time;
pledging sewer revenues to pay the principal of and interest on junior lien sewer revenue bonds issued
under this ordinance; pledging the annual levy of taxes and an additional pledge of sewer revenues to pay
the principal of and interest on multi-modal limited tax general obligation bonds (payable from sewer
revenues) issued under this ordinance; delegating authority to the county's Finance Director to approve
the issuance and sale of junior lien sewer revenue bonds and multi-modal limited tax general obligation
bonds (payable from sewer revenues) within specified parameters, to remarket and authorize the
conversion of the interest rate mode of the bonds, to select one or more remarketing agents and/or
commercial paper dealers and enter into, amend, extend or replace mode agreements, dealer
agreements, credit enhancements, liquidity facilities, and related documents, as applicable; providing for
the form, terms and covenants of the bonds issued under this ordinance; and provided for other matters
relating thereto.

Sponsors: Dembowski

The enacted number is 19955.
Andy Micklow, Council Staff, briefed the Council and answered questions.

Carol Basile, Public Finance Officer, Finance and Business Operations Division, made
remarks.

Rob Shelley, Managing Director, Piper Sandler, briefed the Council and answered
questions.

Stacey Lewis, Bond Counsel, Pacifica, briefed the Council and answered questions.

Courtney Black, Chief Financial Officer, Wastewater Treatment Division, briefed the
Council and answered questions.

Councilmember Balducci requested a one week delay.

Dwight Dively, Director, Office of Performance, Strategy and Budget, briefed the
Council and answered questions.

Councilmember Balducci withdrew the request for a one week delay.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. A motion was made by
Councilmember Dembowski that this Ordinance be Passed. The motion carried
by the following vote:

King County Page 5

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 13


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25661

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

Yes: 9- Balducci, Barén, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von
Reichbauer, and Zahilay

9. Proposed Substitute Ordinance No. 2025-0159.2

AN ORDINANCE making a net supplemental appropriation of $107,283,000 to various general fund
agencies, a net supplemental appropriation of $155,243,000 to various non-general fund agencies and a
net supplemental appropriation of $253,447,701 from various capital fund budgets; and amending the
2025 Annual Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19861, Sections 6, 6, 16, 16, 18, 20, 20, 29, 32, 33, 35, 41,
42,42, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 54, 55, 64, 71, 71, 79, 79, 80, 83, 83 90, 90, 91, 91, 94, 97, 98,
103, 104, 107, 108, 109, 109, 110, 114, 114, 115, 115, 121, 121, 123, and 130, as amended, and
Attachment A, as amended, and adding new section to Ordinance 19861.

Sponsors: Dembowski

The enacted number is 19956.

April Sanders, Council Staff, briefed the Council and answered questions.
Councilmember Dembowski moved Amendment 1. The motion carried.
Councilmember Balducci moved Amendment 2. The motion carried.
Councilmember Dembowski moved Amendment 3. The motion carried.
Councilmember Balducci moved Amendment 4. The motion carried.

Councilmember Balducci made an oral amendment, on Page 3, Line 54, after "file by",
delete "December 1, 2025", and insert "March 16, 2026". The motion carried.

Councilmember Dembowski moved Title Amendment T1. The motion carried.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. A motion was made by
Councilmember Dembowski that this Ordinance be Passed as Amended. The
motion carried by the following vote:

Yes: 9- Balducci, Bardn, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von
Reichbauer, and Zahilay

King County Page 6

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 14


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25708

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

Motions, from Standing Committees and Regional
Committees and Motions related to Collective
Bargaining, for Council Action

Consent Items 10-11

10. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0107

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Neal Black, who works in council district six, to the
King County Housing Authority board of commissioners.

Sponsors: Balducci

The enacted number is 16846.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. This matter passed on the Consent
Agenda.

11. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0157

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Eric Ballentine, who resides in council district five,
to the King County veterans advisory board.

Sponsors: Quinn

The enacted number is 16847.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. This matter passed on the Consent
Agenda.

Passed On The Consent Agenda

A motion was made by Councilmember Perry that the Consent Agenda be
passed. The motion carried by the following vote:

Yes: 9- Balducci, Bardn, Dembowski, Dunn, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von
Reichbauer, and Zahilay

King County Page 7

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 15


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25564
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25703

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

Health, Housing, and Human Services

12. Proposed Substitute Motion No. 2025-0173.2

A MOTION regarding the council's commitment to welcoming and actively supporting immigrants and
refugees, and requesting a report evaluating the county's progress towards that commitment.

Sponsors: Mosqueda, Dembowski, Barén, Quinn and Balducci

The enacted number is 16848.

A Public Hearing was held and closed. A motion was made by
Councilmember Mosqueda that this Motion be Passed. The motion carried by
the following vote:

Yes: 8- Balducci, Barén, Dembowski, Mosqueda, Perry, Quinn, von Reichbauer,
and Zahilay

No: 1- Dunn

First Reading and Referral of Motions

13. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0150

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Jesse Anderson, who works in council district
eight, to the Puget Sound Emergency Radio Network operator board of directors, as King County's
primary representative.

Sponsors: Mosqueda

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government
Accountability and Oversight Committee.

14. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0151

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of lan Huri, who works in council district eight, to the
Puget Sound Emergency Radio Network operator board of directors, as an alternate for the King County

representative.
Sponsors: Mosqueda
This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Government
Accountability and Oversight Committee.
15. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0191

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Jacob Joens-Poulton, who resides in council
district four, to the King County human and civil rights commission.

Sponsors: Baron

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

King County Page 8

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 16


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25769
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25693
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25694
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25796

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

16. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0192

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Aneeka Ferrell, who resides in council district five,
to the King County human and civil rights commission, representing a member who has experience with
investigations and enforcement of either human or civil rights or both.

Sponsors: Quinn

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

17. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0195

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Bishop Steven Sawyer, who resides in council
district eight, to the King County human and civil rights commission.

Sponsors: Mosqueda

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

18. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0203

A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of Vanessa Sanchez-Mexicano, who resides in
council district eight, to the King County human and civil rights commission.

Sponsors: Mosqueda

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

19. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0206

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of an independent monitoring report on the confinement of juveniles in
county detention facilities as required by the 2025 Annual Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19861, Section
54, Proviso P3.

Sponsors: Bardn

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

King County Page 9

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 17


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25797
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25800
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25813
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25819

Metropolitan King County Council Meeting Minutes July 15, 2025

20. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0207

A MOTION acknowledging receipt of a report on the status of safety improvements at adult detention
facilities as required by the 2025 Annual Budget Ordinance, Ordinance 19861, Section 54, Proviso P5.

Sponsors: Baron

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Law and Justice
Committee.

21. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0210

A MOTION approving the extension of the executive's appointment of Stephen Heard as acting director of
the King County department of information technology.

Sponsors: Balducci

This matter was Introduced and Referred to the Committee of the Whole

22. Proposed Motion No. 2025-0213

A MOTION appointing a qualified person to the position of King County hearing examiner.

Sponsors: Zahilay

This matter had its first reading and was referred to the Employment and
Administration Committee.

23. Reports on Special and Outside Committees

No reports were provided.

Other Business

No Other Business was presented.

Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 3:38 p.m.

Approved this day of

Clerk's Signature

King County Page 10

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 18


https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25821
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25830
https://kingcounty.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=25838

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

1200 King County Courthouse

2 KING COUNTY 516 Third Avenue
m Seattle, WA 98104
. Signature Report
King County 9 P
Ordinance
Proposed No. 2025-0164.1 Sponsors Quinn

AN ORDINANCE relating to existing regional

transportation boards, including the SeaShore

Transportation Forum, the Eastside Transportation

Partnership, and the South County Area Transportation

Board; authorizing the executive to enter into agreements

for their continuation and committing to King County staff

support through 2028.
STATEMENT OF FACTS
1. King County and the cities in King County have a long history of
multijurisdictional transportation planning and have found that benefits
can be achieved by multijurisdictional coordination, including a
cooperative approach to planning, financing, and construction of needed
transportation improvements.
2. Existing transportation planning forums, consisting of the SeaShore
Transportation Forum, the Eastside Transportation Partnership, and the
South County Area Transportation Board have served as important forums
for information sharing, consensus building, and coordination to develop
recommendations for transportation policies, projects, and programs for

King County and the region.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 19



20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

Ordinance

3. Each of those forums has formed effective partnerships to meet the
growing need for transportation services and facilities throughout the
County.

4. Each of those forums is expected to continue to provide valuable
recommendations on numerous policy, planning, and implementation
decisions.

5. The agreements:

a. Commit to staff support for their continuation through 2028;

b. Confirm the forums' responsibility to provide advice to King County
on Metro transit department planning, development, and implementation
of products and services; and

c. Acknowledge the role of the SeaShore Transportation Forum, the
Eastside Transportation Partnership, and the South County Area
Transportation Board in providing advice to Sound Transit, the Puget
Sound Regional Council, the Washington state Department of
Transportation, the State Legislature, federal delegations, and other
transportation bodies.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF KING COUNTY:

SECTION 1. The executive is hereby authorized to execute agreements,

substantially in the form of Attachments A, B, and C to this ordinance, for the SeaShore

Transportation Forum, the Eastside Transportation Partnership, and the South County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

20



41

42

Ordinance

Area Transportation Board, and to take all other actions necessary to implement the terms

of those agreements.

KING COUNTY COUNCIL
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Girmay Zahilay, Chair
ATTEST:

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council

APPROVED this day of ,

Shannon Braddock, County Executive

Attachments: A. SeaShore Transportation Forum Agreement, B. Eastside Transportation Partnership
Agreement, C. South County Area Transportation Board Agreement

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

21



SeaShore Transportation Forum Agreement

Parties to Agreement
City of Lake Forest Park
City of Seattle
City of Shoreline
King County

Transmitted to parties for approval and signature on

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and among the CITY OF LAKE FOREST PARK,
hereafter called “Lake Forest Park™; the CITY OF SEATTLE, hereafter called “Seattle”; the CITY OF
SHORELINE, hereafter called “Shoreline”; and KING COUNTY, a legal subdivision of the State of
Washington, hereafter called “King County”, as members of the SeaShore Transportation Forum.

WHEREAS, the parties to this agreement recognize that multi-jurisdictional transportation planning and
coordinated transportation plans benefit their citizens; and

WHEREAS, the SeaShore Transportation Forum has served as the central forum for information
sharing, consensus building, and coordination to develop recommendations for transportation policies,
projects and programs for the north King and south Snohomish County area;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

1.0 Purpose of this Agreement
The purpose of this Agreement is to recognize the SeaShore Transportation Forum as the transportation
board for the north King and south Snohomish County area to share information, build consensus, and

provide advice on plans, programs, policies and priorities for countywide, regional, state and federal
transportation decisions.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 22



2.0 Members and Voting
Members shall have full voting rights, limited voting rights or shall be non-voting members, as follows:

2.1 Members with Full Voting Rights: Only jurisdictions which are signatories to this agreement
shall have full voting rights on all of the following issues before the SeaShore Transportation Forum,
unless otherwise noted, including:
1. Administrative issues, such as additional members and use of dues.
2. Identification of projects for the regional competition, if prescribed by the process approved by
the King County caucus of the Transportation Policy Board.
3. Recommendations to Sound Transit on policies, capital and service plans, and implementation.
4. Recommendations to King County on Metro Transit planning, development, and implementation
of products and services.
Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
6. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs and projects such as Transportation
2040 updates and regional funding policies, strategies, or programs.
7. Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and commissions established by
the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets, priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.
8. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.
9. Letters of support for transportation projects.

9]

2.2 Members with Limited Voting Rights: The SeaShore Transportation Forum may add members
with limited voting rights on the issues such as those listed below by unanimous vote of the parties to
this agreement in attendance at a regular meeting.
1. Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
2. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs, and projects such as Transportation
2040 updates and regional funding policies, strategies or programs.
3. Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and commissions established by
the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets, priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.
4. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.

2.2a Such members and voting rights, if any, shall be listed in operating procedures to be adopted by
the SeaShore Transportation Forum.

2.3 Non-Voting Members: The SeaShore Transportation Forum may add non-voting members by
unanimous vote of the parties to this agreement in attendance at a regular meeting. The SeaShore
Transportation Forum may remove non-voting members by a unanimous vote of the parties to the
agreement at a regular meeting.

2.3a Such members shall be included in operating procedures to be adopted by the SeaShore
Transportation Forum.

2
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 23



3.0 Representation and Conduct

3.1 Representation of city and county members shall be as follows:

Full Voting Members Number of
Representatives/Votes
City of Lake Forest Park 2
City of Seattle 2
City of Shoreline 2
King County 3
Limited Voting Members Number of
Representatives/Votes

Snohomish County 1
Mountlake Terrace 1
Edmonds 1

3.2 Elected officials shall be appointed to the SeaShore Transportation Forum by their cities and

counties for a one-year term. King County representation shall be a maximum of two Councilmembers
representing districts in Seattle and North King County and the King County Executive.

33 Each city or county participating member may appoint an alternate for a one-year term.
Designated alternates may vote in place of designated voting representatives in the absence of the
designated representative.

4.0 Operating Procedures

4.1  The SeaShore Transportation Forum shall adopt operating procedures to specify limited voting
members and non-voting members, if any, dues for limited and non-voting members, if any, and
operational issues such as election of officers, formation of subcommittees and rules of order. A chair(s)
and vice-chair(s) or co-chairs shall be elected per the operating procedures and shall be responsible for
setting meeting agenda, running meetings, and any other activities identified in the operating procedures.

5.0 Lead Agency

5.1 King County will be the Lead Agency for receipt and disbursement of funds collected through
annual dues, and general administrative and program support for the SeaShore Transportation Forum
(Forum). King County assumes wage and benefit costs of its staff performing Lead Agency
responsibilities to the extent that King County appropriates such funds. The Lead Agency, in its sole
discretion, shall determine the level of staffing available based upon funding.

5.2 Lead Agency responsibilities may be limited to: maintaining the Forum membership rosters and
distribution lists; arranging for Forum meetings, including scheduling, agendas and rooms; collecting,
administering and disbursing Forum dues; providing Forum meeting support to the chair(s) and vice
chair(s) or co-chairs; attending Forum meetings; and preparing Forum meeting summaries.

6.0 Financing and Cost Sharing Guidelines

6.1  Annual Review of Financing: The SeaShore Transportation Forum shall determine by June 30
of each year whether annual dues of $100 per voting representative will be required of the Seashore
Transportation Forum member jurisdictions for the following year. Additionally, King County will

3
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 24



provide the SeaShore Transportation Forum a status update on funds collected and funds remaining by
June 30 of each year.

6.2  Yearly Dues: The Lead Agency may bill annually at the end of each year, and dues are to be paid
within ninety days after receipt of the invoice. Members not in good standing shall lose voting rights
until the required dues are paid. Additional dues above $100, and any dues required by limited or non-
voting members, will be determined by the SeaShore Transportation Forum as prescribed in the
operating procedures. Revenue from dues shall be used for refreshments, room rentals, speaker fees,
special events, public education, or other expenses authorized by the SeaShore Transportation Forum.
The designated Lead Agency shall not be required to pay yearly dues.

6.3 Additional financial contributions: If additional financial contributions beyond an increase in
dues are determined to be necessary, costs shall be shared among all voting members, with an option for
King County to recuse itself from further financial obligations. Recused members may not vote on
determining the additional financial contribution or uses for the additional funds.

6.4 Modification to Agreement Required: If additional funds are determined to be necessary, a
modification to this agreement specifying cost-sharing, purpose, scope of work, administration,
collection and disbursement of funds and other details is required in order to obligate a member
jurisdiction to funding participation.

7.0 Withdrawal of a Party from this Agreement

Each party, for its convenience and without cause or for any reason whatsoever, may withdraw from
participation in this Agreement by providing written notice, sent certified mail, return receipt required,
to the chair(s) of the SeaShore Transportation Forum at least thirty (30) days in advance of the effective
date of the withdrawal. A withdrawing party shall not be entitled to a refund of any payments to the
SeaShore Transportation Forum and shall pay any dues required to be paid under this Agreement for
costs which had been obligated prior to the effective date of the withdrawal. All obligations other than
dues cease upon withdrawal.

Each party’s funding to perform its obligations under the Agreement, beyond the current appropriation
year, is conditional upon appropriation by the party’s governing body of sufficient funds. Should such
an appropriation not be approved for a future year, a party may exercise its right to withdraw from the
Agreement.

8.0 Duration

This Agreement shall take effect upon being duly adopted by the governing bodies of all parties and
executed by the authorized representatives of all parties. This Agreement shall remain in effect until
December 31, 2027, provided that unless terminated earlier in accordance with Section 9.0, this
Agreement shall be automatically extended upon the same terms or conditions for another term
commencing January 1, 2028, and ending no later than December 31, 2029.

9.0 Termination

All parties to this Agreement must agree to terminate this Agreement in order for such termination to be
effective. If all parties desire to terminate this Agreement, they shall execute a Statement of

4
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 25



Termination. Upon termination, no party shall be required to make any additional contributions. Any
remaining funds shall be refunded to the parties to this Agreement according to Section 11.0.

10.0 Real and Personal Property

The acquisition of real property is not anticipated under this Agreement. Any personal property acquired
pursuant to this Agreement shall be held by the Lead Agency. In the event this Agreement expires or is
terminated in accordance with Section 8.0 or 9.0, any personal property other than cash shall remain
with the Lead Agency.

11.0 Return of Funds

At such time as this Agreement expires without being extended or revised, or is terminated in
accordance with Section 9.0, any unexpended and uncommitted funds shall be distributed
proportionately to those parties to this Agreement at the time of termination based on each party’s
percentage share of the total balance at the time of termination.

12.0 Filing

This Agreement shall be filed with the King County Department of Records and Elections.
13.0 Legal Relations
13.1  The parties shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations.

13.2 This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and gives no right to any other
party. No joint venture or partnership is formed as a result of this Agreement. No employees or agents of
one party or any of its contractors or subcontractors shall be deemed, or represent themselves to be,
employees of any other party.

13.3  Each party shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other party and all of its officials,
employees, principals and agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any kind
whatsoever which arise out of, are connected with, or are incident to any negligent acts of the first party,
its contractor, and/or employees, agents, and representatives in performing the first party’s obligations
under this Agreement. The parties agree that their obligations under this paragraph extend to claims
made against one party by the other party’s own employees. For this purpose, the parties, by mutual
negotiation, hereby waive any immunity that, as respects the other party only, would otherwise be
available against such claims under the industrial insurance provisions of RCW Title 51. In the event
either party incurs attorney’s fees, costs or other legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this section,
against the other party, all such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing party.

13.4 The provisions of this Section shall survive and remain applicable to each of the parties
notwithstanding any termination or expiration of this Agreement and notwithstanding a party’s
withdrawal from this Agreement.

14.0 Entirety and Modifications

14.1 This Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations and agreements
between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement between the
parties.

5
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 26



14.2  This Agreement may be modified or extended only by written instrument signed by all the
parties hereto.

15.0 Counterparts

The signature pages of this Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
shall be an original. For purposes of this Agreement, a duly authorized electronic signature constitutes
an original signature.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be signed and delivered by its
duly authorized officer or representative as of the date set forth below its signature.

City of Lake Forest Park City of Shoreline City of Seattle
By: By: By:
Date: Date: Date:
King County
By:
Date:
6

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 27



Eastside Transportation Partnership Agreement

Parties to Agreement
City of Bellevue
City of Bothell
City of Issaquah
City of Kenmore
City of Kirkland
City of Mercer Island
City of Newcastle
City of Redmond
City of Renton
City of Sammamish
City of Woodinville
King County
Small Cities
Town of Beaux Arts Village
City of Clyde Hill
Town of Hunts Point
City of Medina
Town of Yarrow Point
Snoqualmie Valley Cities
City of Carnation
City of Duvall
City of North Bend
City of Snoqualmie

Transmitted to parties for approval and signature

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and among the CITY OF BELLEVUE, hereafter
known as “Bellevue”; the CITY OF BOTHELL, hereafter known as “Bothell”; the CITY OF
ISSAQUAH, hereafter known as “Issaquah”; the CITY OF KENMORE, hereafter known as
“Kenmore”; the CITY OF KIRKLAND, hereafter known as “Kirkland”; THE CITY OF MERCER
ISLAND, hereafter known as “Mercer Island”’; the CITY OF NEWCASTLE, hereafter known as
“Newcastle”; the CITY OF REDMOND, hereafter known as “Redmond”’; the CITY OF RENTON,
hereafter known as “Renton”; the CITY OF SAMMAMISH, hereafter known as “Sammamish”; the
CITY OF WOODINVILLE, hereafter known as “Woodinville”; KING COUNTY, a legal subdivision of
the State of Washington, hereafter called “King County”; the TOWN OF BEAUX ARTS VILLAGE,
hereafter known as “Beaux Arts”; the CITY OF CLYDE HILL, hereafter known as “Clyde Hill”; the
TOWN OF HUNTS POINT, hereafter known as “Hunts Point”’; the CITY OF MEDINA, hereafter
known as “Medina”’; the TOWN OF YARROW POINT, hereafter known as “Yarrow Point”; the CITY
OF CARNATION, hereafter known as “Carnation”; the CITY OF DUVALL, hereafter known as
“Duvall”; the CITY OF NORTH BEND, hereafter known as “North Bend”; the CITY OF
SNOQUALMIE, hereafter known as “Snoqualmie”; as members of the Eastside Transportation
Partnership;

WHEREAS, the parties to this agreement recognize that multi-jurisdictional transportation planning and
coordinated transportation plans benefit their residents; and

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 28



WHEREAS, the Eastside Transportation Partnership has served as the central forum for information
sharing, consensus building, and coordination to develop recommendations for transportation policies,
projects, and programs for the area East of Lake Washington in King County.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

1.0 Purpose of this Agreement

The purpose of this Agreement is to recognize the Eastside Transportation Partnership as the
transportation board for the area East of Lake Washington in King County to share information, build
consensus, and provide advice on plans, programs, policies, and priorities for countywide, regional,
state, and federal transportation decisions.

2.0 Members and Voting
Members shall have full voting rights, limited voting rights, or shall be non-voting members, as follows:

2.1 Members with Full Voting Rights: Only jurisdictions which are signatories to this agreement
shall have full voting rights on all the following issues before the Eastside Transportation Partnership,
unless otherwise noted, including:
1. Administrative issues, such as additional members and use of dues.
2. Identification of projects for the regional competition, if prescribed by the process approved by
the King County caucus of the Puget Sound Regional Council Transportation Policy Board.
3. Recommendations to Sound Transit on policies, capital and service plans, and implementation.
4. Recommendations to King County on Metro Transit planning, development, and implementation
of products and services.
Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
6. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs, and projects such as the Regional
Transportation Plan updates and regional funding policies, strategies, or programs.
7. Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and commissions established by
the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets, priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.
8. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.
9. Letters of support for transportation projects.

N

2.2 Members with Limited Voting Rights: The Eastside Transportation Partnership may add
members with limited voting rights on the issues such as those listed below by unanimous vote of the
parties to the agreement at a regular meeting.
1. Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
2. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs, and projects, such as the Regional
Transportation Plan updates and regional funding policies, strategies, or programs.
3. Recommendations to the State Legislature and committees and commissions established by the
Legislature on transportation policy, budget and priorities and legislative proposals and studies.
4. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.

2.2.a  Such members and voting rights, if any, shall be included in operating procedures to be adopted
by the Eastside Transportation Partnership.

2
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 29



2.3 Non-Voting Members: The Eastside Transportation Partnership may add non-voting members by
unanimous vote of the parties to the agreement at a regular meeting. The Eastside Transportation
Partnership may remove non-voting members by a unanimous vote of the parties to the agreement at a
regular meeting.

2.3.a Such members shall be included in operating procedures to be adopted by the Eastside
Transportation Partnership.

3.0  Representation and Conduct

3.1 Representation of city and county members shall be as follows
Full Voting Members Number of Representatives/Votes
Bellevue 2
Bothell
Issaquah
Kenmore
Kirkland
Mercer Island
Newcastle
Redmond
Renton
Sammamish
Woodinville 2
Small Cities Coalition 2 (shared)
Beaux Arts
Clyde Hill
Hunts Point
Medina
Yarrow Point
Snoqualmie Valley Cities 2 (shared)
Carnation
Duvall
North Bend
Snoqualmie
King County 3
Limited Voting Members Number of Representatives/Votes
Snohomish County 1

N[NNI (NN

3.2 Elected officials shall be appointed to the Eastside Transportation Partnership by their cities and
counties for a one-year term. King County representation shall be a maximum of two Councilmembers
and the King County Executive.

33 Each city or county participating member may appoint an alternate for a one-year term.
Designated alternates may vote in place of designated voting representatives in the absence of the

designated representative.

4.0 Operating Procedures

3
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 30



4.1 The Eastside Transportation Partnership shall adopt operating procedures to specify limited voting
members and non-voting members, if any, dues for limited and non-voting members, if any, and
operational issues such as election of officers, formation of subcommittees and rules of order. A chair(s)
and vice-chair(s) or co-chairs shall be elected per the operating procedures and shall be responsible for
setting meeting agendas, running meetings and any other activities identified in the operating
procedures.

5.0 Lead Agency

5.1 King County will be the Lead Agency for receipt and disbursement of funds collected through
annual dues, and general administrative and program support for the Eastside Transportation
Partnership. King County assumes wage and benefit costs of its staff performing Lead Agency
responsibilities to the extent that King County appropriates such funds. The Lead Agency shall, in its
sole discretion, determine the level of staffing available based upon funding.

5.2 Lead Agency responsibilities may be limited to: maintaining Eastside Transportation Partnership
membership rosters and distribution lists; arranging for Partnership meetings, including scheduling,
agendas, and rooms; collecting, administering, and disbursing Partnership dues; providing Partnership
meeting support to the chair(s) and vice chair(s) or co-chairs; attending Partnership meetings; and
preparing Partnership meeting summaries.

6.0 Financing and Cost Sharing Guidelines

6.1 Annual Review of Financing: The Eastside Transportation Partnership shall determine by June 30
of each year whether annual dues of $100 per voting representative will be required of the Eastside
Transportation Partnership member jurisdictions for the following year. Additionally, King County will
provide the Eastside Transportation Partnership a status update on funds collected and funds remaining
by June 30 of each year.

6.2. Yearly Dues: The Lead Agency may bill annually at the end of each year, and dues are to be paid
within ninety days after receipt of the invoice. Members not in good standing shall lose voting rights
until the required dues are paid. Additional dues above $100, and any dues required by limited or non-
voting members, will be determined by the Eastside Transportation Partnership, and included in the
operating procedures. Revenue from dues shall be used for refreshments, room rentals, speaker fees,
special events, public education, or other expenses authorized by the Eastside Transportation
Partnership. The designated Lead Agency shall not be required to pay yearly dues.

6.3 Additional financial contributions: If additional financial contributions beyond an increase in
dues are determined to be necessary, costs shall be shared among all voting members, with an option for
King County to recuse itself from further financial obligations. Recused members may not vote on
determining the additional financial contribution or uses for the additional funds.

6.4  Modification to Agreement Required: If additional funds are determined to be necessary, a
modification to this agreement specifying cost-sharing, purpose, scope of work, administration,
collection and disbursement of funds and other details is required in order to obligate a member
jurisdiction to funding participation.

7.0  Withdrawal of a Party from this Agreement

4
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 31



Each party, for its convenience and without cause or for any reason whatsoever, may withdraw from
participation in this Agreement by providing written notice, sent certified mail, return receipt required,
to the chair(s) of the Eastside Transportation Partnership at least thirty (30) days in advance of the
effective date of the withdrawal. A withdrawing party shall not be entitled to a refund of any payments
to Eastside Transportation Partnership and shall pay any dues required to be paid under this Agreement
for costs which had been obligated prior to the effective date of the withdrawal. All obligations other
than dues cease upon withdrawal.

Each party’s funding to perform its obligations under the Agreement, beyond the current appropriation
year, is conditional upon appropriation by the party’s governing body. Should such an appropriation not
be approved for a future year, a party may exercise its right to withdraw from the Agreement.

8.0 Duration

This Agreement shall take effect upon being duly adopted by the governing bodies of all parties and
executed by the authorized representatives of all parties. This Agreement shall remain in effect until
December 31, 2027, unless terminated earlier in accordance with Section 9.0. This Agreement shall be
automatically extended upon the same terms or conditions for another term commencing January 1,

2028 and ending no later than December 31, 2029.
9.0 Termination

All parties to this Agreement must agree to terminate this Agreement in order for such termination to be
effective. If all parties desire to terminate this Agreement, they shall execute a Statement of
Termination. Upon termination, no party shall be required to make any additional contributions. Any
remaining funds shall be refunded to the parties to this Agreement according to Section 11.0.

10.0 Real and Personal Property

The acquisition of real property is not anticipated under this Agreement. Any personal property acquired
pursuant to this Agreement shall be held by the Lead Agency. In the event this Agreement expires or is
terminated in accordance with Section 8.0 or 9.0, any personal property other than cash shall remain
with the Lead Agency.

11.0 Return of Funds

At such time as this Agreement expires without being terminated or revised, or is terminated in
accordance with Section 9.0, any unexpended and uncommitted funds shall be distributed
proportionately to those parties to this Agreement at the time of termination based on each party’s
percentage share of the total balance at the time of termination.

12.0 Filing

This Agreement shall be filed with the King County Department of Records and Elections.
13.0 Legal Relations

13.1  The parties shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations.

5
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 32



13.2 This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and gives no right to any other
party. No joint venture or partnership is formed as a result of this Agreement. No employees or agents of
one party or any of its contractors or subcontractors shall be deemed, or represent themselves to be,
employees of any other party.

13.3  Each party shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other parties and their respective
officials, employees, principals and agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any
kind whatsoever which arise out of, are connected with, or are incident to any negligent acts of the first
party, its contractor, and/or employees, agents, and representatives in performing the first party’s
obligations under this Agreement. The parties agree that their obligations under this paragraph extend to
claims made against one party by another party’s own employees. For this purpose, the parties, by
mutual negotiation, hereby waive any immunity that, as respects the other parties only, would otherwise
be available against such claims under the industrial insurance provisions of RCW Title 51. In the event
any party incurs attorney’s fees, costs or other legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this section,
against another party, all such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing party.

13.4 The provisions of this section shall survive and remain applicable to each of the parties
notwithstanding any termination or expiration of this Agreement and notwithstanding a party’s
withdrawal from this Agreement.

14.0 Entirety and Modifications

14.1 This Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations and agreements
between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement between the
parties.

14.2  This Agreement may be modified only by written instrument signed by all the parties hereto.
15.0 Counterparts

The signature pages of this Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
shall be an original.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be signed and delivered by its
duly authorized officer or representative as of the date set forth below its signature. For purposes of this
Agreement, a duly authorized electronic signature constitutes an original signature.

6
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 33



City of Bellevue City of Bothell City of Issaquah
By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

City of Kenmore City of Kirkland City of Mercer Island
By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

City of Newcastle City of Redmond City of Renton

By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

City of Sammamish City of Woodinville King County

By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

Town of Beaux Arts Village City of Clyde Hill Town of Hunts Point
By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

City of Medina Town of Yarrow Point City of Carnation
By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

City of Duvall City of North Bend City of Snoqualmie
By: By: By:

Date: Date: Date:

7

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

July 22, 2025 34



South County Area Transportation Board Agreement
Parties to Agreement

City of Algona

City of Auburn

City of Black Diamond
City of Burien

City of Covington

City of Des Moines
City of Enumclaw

City of Federal Way
City of Kent

City of Maple Valley
City of Milton

City of Normandy Park
City of Pacific

City of SeaTac

City of Tukwila
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe
King County

Transmitted to parties for approval and signature on

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and among the CITY OF ALGONA, hereafter called
“Algona”; the CITY OF AUBURN, hereafter called “Auburn”; the CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND,
hereafter called “Black Diamond”; the CITY OF BURIEN, hereafter called “Burien”; the CITY OF
COVINGTON, hereafter called “Covington”; the CITY OF DES MOINES, hereafter called “Des
Moines”’; the CITY OF ENUMCLAW, hereafter called “Enumclaw”; the CITY OF FEDERAL WAY,
hereafter called “Federal Way”; the CITY OF KENT, hereafter called “Kent”; the CITY OF MAPLE
VALLEY, hereafter called “Maple Valley”; the CITY OF MILTON, hereafter called “Milton”; the
CITY OF NORMANDY PARK, hereafter called “Normandy Park”; the CITY OF PACIFIC, hereafter
called “Pacific; ; the CITY OF SEATAC, hereafter called “SeaTac”; the CITY OF TUKWILA,
hereafter called “Tukwila”; the MUCKLESHOOT INDIAN TRIBE; and KING COUNTY, a legal
subdivision of the State of Washington, hereafter called “King County” as members of the South County
Area Transportation Board.

WHEREAS, the parties to this agreement recognize that multi-jurisdictional transportation planning and
coordinated transportation plans benefit their citizens; and

WHEREAS, the South County Area Transportation Board has served as the central forum for
information sharing, consensus building, and coordination to develop recommendations for
transportation policies, projects and programs for the south King County area;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 35



1.0 Purpose of this Agreement

The purpose of this Agreement is to recognize the South County Area Transportation Board as the
transportation board for the south King County area to share information, build consensus, and provide
advice on plans, programs, policies and priorities for countywide, regional, state, and federal
transportation decisions.

2.0 Members and Voting
Members shall have full voting rights, limited voting rights, or shall be non-voting members, as follows:

2.1 Members with Full Voting Rights: Only jurisdictions which are signatories to this agreement
shall have full voting rights on all of the following issues before the South County Area Transportation
Board, unless otherwise noted, including:
1. Administrative issues, such as additional members and use of dues.
2. Identification of projects for the regional competition, if prescribed by the process approved by
the King County caucus of the Transportation Policy Board.
3. Recommendations to Sound Transit on policies, capital and service plans, and implementation.
4. Recommendations to King County on Metro Transit planning, development, and implementation
of products and services.
Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
6. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs, and projects such as Transportation
2040 updates and regional funding policies, strategies or programs.
7. Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and commissions established by
the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets, priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.
8. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.
9. Letters of support for transportation projects.

9]

2.2 Members with Limited Voting Rights: The South County Area Transportation Board may add
members with limited voting rights on the issues such as those listed below by unanimous vote of the
parties to this agreement in attendance at a regular meeting.
1. Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs, and projects.
2. Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs and projects such as Transportation
2040 updates and regional funding policies, strategies or programs.
3. Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and commissions established by
the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets, priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.
4. Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including reauthorization and
funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.

2.2(a) Such members and voting rights, if any, shall be listed in operating procedures to be adopted by
the South County Area Transportation Board.

2.3 Non-Voting Members: The South County Area Transportation Board may add non-voting
members by unanimous vote of the parties to this agreement in attendance at a regular meeting. The
South County Area Transportation Board may remove non-voting members by a unanimous vote of the
parties to the agreement at a regular meeting.

2.3(a) Such members shall be included in operating procedures to be adopted by the South County Area
Transportation Board.

2
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 36



3.0  Representation and Conduct

3.1 Representation of city and county members shall be as follows:

Full Voting Members Number of
Representatives/Votes
City of Algona 1

City of Auburn

City of Black Diamond
City of Burien

City of Covington

City of Des Moines

City of Enumclaw

City of Federal Way

City of Kent

City of Maple Valley
City of Milton

City of Normandy Park
City of Pacific

City of SeaTac

City of Tukwila
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe
King County

(S N Y e e I I I I N I Y T

3.2 Elected officials shall be appointed to the South County Area Transportation Board by their
cities and counties for a one-year term. King County representation shall be a maximum of two
Councilmembers and the King County Executive.

33 Each city or county participating member may appoint an alternate for a one-year term.
Designated alternates may vote in place of designated voting representatives in the absence of the
designated representative.

4.0 Operating Procedures

4.1 The South County Area Transportation Board shall adopt operating procedures
to specify limited voting members and non-voting members, if any, dues for limited and non-voting
members, if any, and operational issues such as election of officers, formation of subcommittees and
rules of order. A chair and vice-chair or co-chairs shall be elected per the operating procedures and shall
be responsible for setting meeting agenda, running meetings and any other activities identified in the
operating procedures.

5.0 Lead Agency

5.1 King County will be the Lead Agency for receipt and disbursement of funds collected through
annual dues, and general administrative and program support for the South County Area Transportation
Board. King County assumes wage and benefit costs of its staff performing Lead Agency
responsibilities to the extent that King County appropriates such funds. The Lead Agency, in its sole
discretion, shall determine the level of staffing available based upon funding.

3
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 37



5.2 Lead Agency responsibilities may be limited to: maintaining the South County Area
Transportation Board membership rosters and distribution lists; arranging for Board meetings, including
scheduling, agendas and rooms; collecting, administering and disbursing Board dues; providing Board
meeting support to the chair and vice chair or co-chairs; attending Board meetings; and preparing Board
meeting summaries.

6.0 Financing and Cost Sharing Guidelines

6.1 Annual Review of Financing: The South County Area Transportation Board shall determine by
June 30 of each year whether annual dues of $100.00 per voting representatives will be required of the
South County Area Transportation Board member jurisdictions for the following year. Additionally,
King County will provide the South County Area Transportation Board a status update on funds
collected and funds remaining by June 30 of each year.

6.2  Yearly Dues: The Lead Agency may bill annually at the end of each year, and dues are to be paid
within ninety days after receipt of the invoice. Members not in good standing shall lose voting rights
until the required dues are paid. Additional dues above $100.00, and any dues required by limited or
non-voting members, will be determined by the South County Area Transportation Board as prescribed
in the operating procedures. Revenue from dues shall be used for refreshments, room rentals, speaker
fees, special events, public education, or other expenses authorized by the South County Area
Transportation Board. The designated Lead Agency shall not be required to pay yearly dues.

6.3 Additional financial contributions: If additional financial contributions beyond an increase in
dues are determined to be necessary, costs shall be shared among all voting members, with an option for
King County to recuse itself from further financial obligations. Recused members may not vote on
determining the additional financial contribution or uses for the additional funds.

6.4 Modification to Agreement Required: If additional funds are determined to be necessary, a
modification to this agreement specifying cost-sharing, purpose, scope of work, administration,
collection and disbursement of funds and other details is required in order to obligate a member
jurisdiction to funding participation.

7.0  Withdrawal of a Party from this Agreement

Each party, for its convenience and without cause or for any reason whatsoever, may withdraw from
participation in this Agreement by providing written notice, sent certified mail, return receipt required,
to the chair of the South County Area Transportation Board at least thirty (30) days in advance of the
effective date of the withdrawal. A withdrawing party shall not be entitled to a refund of any payments
to the South County Area Transportation Board and shall pay any dues required to be paid under this
Agreement for costs which had been obligated prior to the effective date of the withdrawal. All
obligations other than dues cease upon withdrawal.

Each party’s funding to perform its obligations under the Agreement, beyond the current appropriation
year, is conditional upon appropriation by the party’s governing body of sufficient funds. Should such

an appropriation not be approved for a future year, a party may exercise its right to withdraw from the

Agreement.

8.0 Duration

4
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 38



This Agreement shall take effect upon being duly adopted by the governing bodies of all parties and
executed by the authorized representatives of all parties. This Agreement shall remain in effect until
December 31, 2027, provided that unless terminated earlier in accordance with Section 9.0, this
Agreement shall be automatically extended upon the same terms or conditions for another term
commencing January 1, 2028, and ending no later than December 31, 2029.

9.0 Termination

All parties to this Agreement must agree to terminate this Agreement in order for such termination to be
effective. If all parties desire to terminate this Agreement, they shall execute a Statement of
Termination. Upon termination, no party shall be required to make any additional contributions. Any
remaining funds shall be refunded to the parties to this Agreement according to Section 11.0.

10.0 Real and Personal Property

The acquisition of real property is not anticipated under this Agreement. Any personal property acquired
pursuant to this Agreement shall be held by the Lead Agency. In the event this Agreement expires or is
terminated in accordance with Section 8.0 or 9.0, any personal property other than cash shall remain
with the Lead Agency.

11.0 Return of Funds

At such time as this Agreement expires without being extended or revised, or is terminated in
accordance with Section 9.0, any unexpended and uncommitted funds shall be distributed
proportionately to those parties to this Agreement at the time of termination based on each party’s
percentage share of the total balance at the time of termination.

12.0 Filing

This Agreement shall be filed with the King County Department of Records and Elections.
13.0 Legal Relations
13.1  The parties shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations.

13.2 This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and gives no right to any other
party. No joint venture or partnership is formed as a result of this Agreement. No employees or agents of
one party or any of its contractors or subcontractors shall be deemed, or represent themselves to be,
employees of any other party.

13.3  Each party shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other party and all of its officials,
employees, principals and agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and liability of any kind
whatsoever which arise out of, are connected with, or are incident to any negligent acts of the first party,
its contractor, and/or employees, agents, and representatives in performing the first party’s obligations
under this Agreement. The parties agree that their obligations under this paragraph extend to claims
made against one party by the other party’s own employees. For this purpose, the parties, by mutual
negotiation, hereby waive any immunity that, as respects the other party only, would otherwise be
available against such claims under the industrial insurance provisions of RCW Title 51. In the event

5
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 39



either party incurs attorney’s fees, costs or other legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this section,

against the other party, all such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing party.

13.4  The provisions of this Section shall survive and remain applicable to each of the parties
notwithstanding any termination or expiration of this Agreement and notwithstanding a party’s

withdrawal from this Agreement.

14.0 Entirety and Modifications

14.1 This Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations and agreements

between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement between the

parties.

14.2  This Agreement may be modified or extended only by written instrument signed by all the

parties hereto.

15.0 Counterparts

The signature pages of this Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
shall be an original. For purposes of this Agreement, a duly authorized electronic signature constitutes

an original signature.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be signed and delivered by its
duly authorized officer or representative as of the date set forth below its signature.

City of Algona
By:

Date:

City of Burien
By:

Date:

City of Enumclaw
By:

Date:

City of Maple Valley
By:

Date:

City of Pacific
By:

Date:

Muckleshoot Indian Tribe
By:

Date:

City of Auburn
By:

Date:

City of Covington
By:

Date:

City of Federal Way
By:

Date:

City of Milton
By:

Date:

City of SeaTac
By:

Date:

King County
By:

Date:

6

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

City of Black Diamond
By:

Date:

City of Des Moines
By:

Date:

City of Kent
By:

Date:

City of Normandy Park
By:

Date:

City of Tukwila
By:

Date:

July 22, 2025 40



7
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

July 22, 2025

41



ki
King County

Metropolitan King County Council
Transportation, Economy & Environment Committee

STAFF REPORT

Agenda Item: 4 Name: Mary Bourguignon
Proposed No.: | 2025-0164 Date: July 15, 2025
SUBJECT

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0164 would authorize the Executive to enter into agreements
with the SeaShore Transportation Forum (SeaShore), Eastside Transportation
Partnership (ETP), and South County Area Transportation Board (SCATBd), committing
to their continuation and King County staff support through December 31, 2027.

SUMMARY

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0164 would approve revised interlocal agreements for the
three area transportation forums that were established in the 1990s to provide input to
the Metro Transit Department, Sound Transit, Washington State Department of
Transportation (WSDOT), Puget Sound Regional Council (PSRC), and other
transportation providers. The proposed agreements are largely the same as those that
were approved in 2022 via Ordinance 19471 for the period from 2021 through 2024.

BACKGROUND

ETP was officially formed in 1991, SCATBd in 1992, and SeaShore in 1995. Each group
shares information about local and regional transportation issues at monthly meetings
and provides input to Metro, Sound Transit, WSDOT, PSRC, and other transportation
agencies. Members pay dues of $100 per year per voting member. As designated lead
agency, the County provides staff support and is exempt from paying dues. The County
Executive and two Councilmembers may serve on each Board, with the designated
member able to designate an alternate who can vote in the member’s absence.

In the past, Metro bus service was allocated by subarea. As initially constituted, the
ETP, SeaShore, and SCATBd agreements represented the subareas and provided the
County with geographic-focused input on Metro policy. Following the County’s transition
from Metro subareas to a service framework with specific priorities for service
investment,! the agreements were revised in 2013 to refer in general terms to the area
of the County each Board covers and to avoid the term subarea.

' For more information, see the Strategic Plan for Public Transportation and King County Metro Service
Guidelines (Ordinance 19367).

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 42




ANALYSIS

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0164 would renew through the end of 2027 the agreements
with the three transportation forums: SeaShore (Attachment A), ETP (Attachment B),
and SCATBd (Attachment C). Please see Attachment 4 to this staff report for maps of
the geographic areas covered by the three transportation forums. The proposed
agreements include several changes in membership:

e Two Snohomish County cities (Mountlake Terrace and Edmonds) would become
limited voting members of SeaShore
e Renton, which had been a member of both SCATBd and ETP, will henceforth be
a member only of ETP
Table 1 shows the members of each forum and their number of voting representatives.

Table 1. Transportation Board Membership and Number of Votes

SeaShore ETP SCATBd
Full Voting Members: Full Voting Members: Full Voting Members:
Lake Forest Park: 2 Bellevue: 2 Algona: 1
Seattle: 2 Bothell: 2 Auburn: 1
Shoreline: 2 Issaquah: 2 Black Diamond: 1
King County: 32 Kenmore: 2 Burien: 1
Kirkland: 2 Covington: 1
Limited Voting Members: Mercer Island: 2 Des Moines: 1
Snohomish County: 1 Newcastle: 2 Enumclaw: 1
Mountlake Terrace: 1 Redmond: 2 Federal Way: 1
Edmonds: 1 Renton: 2 Kent: 1
Sammamish: 2 Maple Valley: 1
Woodinville: 2 Milton: 1
Small Cities: 23 Normandy Park: 1
Snoqualmie Valley Cities: 2* Pacific: 1
King County: 3° SeaTac: 1
Tukwila: 1
Limited Voting Members: Muckleshoot Indian Tribe: 1
Snohomish County: 1 King County: 3°

The designated representatives from King County, the King County cities, and the
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe in the case of SCATBd, are members with full voting rights.
These members can vote on:

2 King County members of SeaShore are County Executive plus two Councilmembers representing
districts in Seattle and North King County.

3 ETP Small Cities share two representatives: Beaux Arts, Clyde Hill, Hunts Point, Medina, Yarrow Point
4 ETP Snoqualmie Valley Cities share two representatives: Carnation, Duvall, North Bend, Snoqualmie
5 King County members of ETP are County Executive plus two Councilmembers.

6 King County members of SCATBd are County Executive plus two Councilmembers.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 43



e Administrative issues, such as approval of an operating agreement, additional
members and use of dues.

e I|dentification of projects for the regional competition, if prescribed by the process
approved by the King County caucus of the Transportation Policy Board.

¢ Recommendations to Sound Transit on policies, capital and service plans, and
implementation.

e Recommendations to King County on Metro Transit planning, development and
implementation of products and services.

e Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs and projects.

e Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs, and projects such
as Transportation 20407 updates and regional funding policies, strategies or
programs.

e Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and
commissions established by the Legislature on transportation policy, budgets,
priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.

e Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including
reauthorization and funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.

e Letters of support for transportation projects.

By unanimous vote, the members with full voting rights can approve members with
limited voting rights. These members may participate on:

e Recommendations to WSDOT on policies, programs and projects.

e Recommendations to the PSRC on plans, policies, programs and projects, such
as Transportation 2040 updates and regional funding policies, strategies, or
programs.

e Recommendations to the State Legislature and state committees and
commissions established by the Legislature on transportation policy, budget,
priorities, legislative proposals, and studies.

e Recommendations to the federal delegation on federal legislation including
reauthorization and funding priorities and other transportation-related programs.

The Metro Transit Department continues to serve as the designated lead agency for
each forum. King County is not required to pay dues but covers the costs of staff
support, subject to appropriations. If King County finds itself unable to support the staff
costs and other parties do not want to modify the respective agreement, King County
would have the option of withdrawing its membership.

Per the fiscal note, dues payments are used for facility rental, refreshments, and other
meeting expenses, and for services that support the boards’ activities, such as public
education and supplies. King County staffing costs are included in the Metro budget.®

The revenues come from dues of $100 per year per voting member. Dues were not
collected during the pandemic. SeaShore and SCATBd would resume paying dues
under the proposed agreements, with $1,200 collected per year from SeaShore and

7 Transportation 2040 was updated with the 2022-2050 Regional Transportation Plan by a vote of the
PSRC General Assembly on May 26, 2022. The agreements still refer to Transportation 2040.
8 Ordinance 19861

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 44



$6,000 per year from SCATBd. ETP would not pay dues during the term of this
agreement, as it has a credit balance from previous paid dues.

The three area transportation boards provide forums for the County, cities, and other
agencies to discuss transportation issues and build consensus. The proposed
agreements, which are largely unchanged from the agreements that have been in effect
since 2013, appear to accurately describe the boards’ responsibilities with respect to
Metro policies and services. Recommendations made by the boards are not binding and

the County has the option to withdraw from each forum at its own discretion.

LINKS

Eastside Transportation Partnership:
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-

groups/transportation-boards/eastside.aspx

SeaShore Transportation Forum:
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-

groups/transportation-boards/seashore.aspx

South County Area Transportation Board:
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-
groups/transportation-boards/south-county.aspx

ATTACHMENTS

rObM=

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0164 and attachments A, B, C
Transmittal Letter

Fiscal Note

Maps of Transportation Forum Geographic Areas

July 22, 2025

45


https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/eastside.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/eastside.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/seashore.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/seashore.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/south-county.aspx
https://kingcounty.gov/depts/transportation/metro/about/advisory-groups/transportation-boards/south-county.aspx

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

1200 King County Courthouse
2 KING COUNTY 516 Thind Avenae
m Seattle, WA 98104
. Signature Report
King County 9 P

Ordinance

Proposed No. 2025-0169.1 Sponsors Zahilay and Dembowski
AN ORDINANCE imposing an additional sales and use tax
of one-tenth of one percent, as authorized in Section 201,
Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025 for criminal justice
purposes; providing for the use of the sales and use tax
proceeds for eligible expenditures; and adding a new
section to K.C.C. chapter 4A.500.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF KING COUNTY:

SECTION 1. Findings:

A. An adequately funded public safety system is necessary to maintain safe and
livable communities.

B. Under Washington state law, counties provide many regional and local
services advancing community health and public safety through the criminal justice
system.

C. The projected budget deficit within the county's current expense fund
threatens the county's ability to provide these services.

D. The county's current expense fund currently anticipates reductions of up to
one hundred and fifty million dollars in the 2026-2027 biennium, with further reductions
in future biennial budgets, absent new revenues.

E. Through Section 201, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025, the

Washington state legislature has allowed a qualified city or county to authorize, by

1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 46



21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

Ordinance

resolution or ordinance, a new sales and use tax of one-tenth of a percent for criminal
justice purposes.

F. Under Section 201, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025, the ordinance
authorizing the sales and use tax must include a finding that the county has met the
requirements to receive a grant from the Local Law Enforcement Grant Program created
through Section 101, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025.

G. The county, through its law enforcement agency, the King County sheriff's
office, meets the requirements to receive a grant from the Local Law Enforcement Grant
Program created through Section 101, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025, having:

1. Issued and implemented policies and practices consistent with RCW
43.17.425 and 10.93.160, and the office of the attorney general's keep Washington
working act guide, model policies, and training recommendations for state and local law
enforcement agencies;

2. Participated in commission training as required by RCW 43.101.455 and
36.28A.445;

3. Issued and implemented policies and practices regarding use of force and de-
escalation tactics consistent with RCW 10.120.030 and the office of the attorney general's
model policies, and all other commission and attorney general model policies regarding
use of force for law enforcement including, but not limited to, duty to intervene and
training and use of canine teams;

4. Implemented use of force data collection and reporting consistent with
chapters 10.118 and 10.120 RCW when the program is operational, as confirmed by a

notice from the attorney general's office to all police chiefs and sheriffs;

2

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

47



44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

Ordinance

5. Issued and implemented policies and practices consistent with chapters 7.105
and 9.41 RCW and the commission model policies and training addressing firearm
relinquishment pursuant to court orders;

6. A twenty-five percent officer completion rate with the commission's forty-
hour crisis intervention team training;

7. One hundred percent officer compliance rate for those officers required to
complete trauma-informed, gender-based violence interviewing, investigation, response,
and case review training developed or approved by the commission pursuant to RCW
43.101.272 and 43.101.276, and if requested by the commission, participated in agency
case reviews;

8. Received funding from a sales and use tax authorized pursuant to RCW
82.14.340;

9. A sheriff who is certified by the criminal justice training commission, and
who has not been convicted of a felony anywhere in the United States or under foreign
law, or been convicted of a gross misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, dishonesty,
fraud, or corruption; and

10. Issued and implemented policies and practices that prohibit volunteers who
assist with agency work from enforcing criminal laws, other than for assistance with
special event traffic and parking, including engaging in pursuits, detention, arrests, the
use of force, or the use of deadly force, carrying or the use of firearms or other weapons,
or the use of dogs to track people or animals other than for purposes of search and rescue;

and that set forth the required supervision of volunteers, including that they must be

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 48



66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

71

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

Ordinance

clearly identifiable by the public as distinguishable from peace officers and any
identifying insignia must be officially issued by the agency and used only when on duty.

H. The county, through its law enforcement agency, the King County sheriff's
office, has provided the criminal justice training commission with a detailed staffing plan
specifying:

1. The total number of commissioned officers currently employed by the
agency;

2. The total number of specially commissioned officers currently employed by
the agency;

3. The total number of co-response teams established within the county and
what staffing are included in each co-response team;

4. The total number of administrative staff currently employed by the agency;

5. The number of officers on flexible work schedules;

6. The average 911 response rate of the county over the twelve-month period
immediately preceding the month in which the county is submitting documentation to the
criminal justice training commission; and

7. The average case closure rate of the county over the twelve-month period
immediately preceding the month in which the county is submitting documentation to the
criminal justice training commission.

NEW SECTION. SECTION 2. There is hereby added to K.C.C. chapter 4A.500

a new section to read as follows:
A. To provide funding for criminal justice purposes as authorized by Section 201,

Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025, an additional one-tenth of one percent sales and

4

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 49



&9

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

110

111

Ordinance

use tax is hereby levied, fixed, and imposed on all taxable events within the county as
defined in chapter 82.08, 82.12, or 82.14 RCW beginning on January 1, 2026, except as
provided in subsection B. of this section. The tax shall be imposed upon and collected
from those persons from whom sales tax or use tax is collected in accordance with
chapter 82.08 or 82.12 RCW, and shall be collected at the rate of one-tenth of one percent
of the selling price, in the case of a sales tax, or value of the article used, in the case of a
use tax. The additional sales and use tax shall be in addition to all other existing sales and
use taxes currently imposed by the county.

B. The tax imposed in subsection A of this section shall not apply to sales of
lodging to the extent that the total sales tax rate imposed on such sales of lodging would
exceed the greater of:

1. Twelve percent; or

2. The total sales tax rate that would have applied to the sale of lodging if the
sale were made on December 1, 2000, to the extent required by RCW 82.14.410.

C. For the purposes of this section, the definitions in this subsection apply unless
the context clearly requires otherwise:

1. "Criminal justice purposes" means activities that substantially assist the
criminal justice system, which may include circumstances where ancillary benefit to the
civil justice system and behavioral health system occurs, and which includes:

a. domestic violence services such as those provided by domestic violence
programs, community advocates, and legal advocates, as defined by RCW 70.123.020;
b. staffing adequate public defenders to provide appropriate defense for

individuals;

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 50



112

113

114

115

116

117

118

119

120

121

122

123

124

125

126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

Ordinance

c. diversion programs;

d. reentry work for inmates;

e. local government programs that have a reasonable relationship to reducing
the numbers of people interacting with the criminal justice system including, but not
limited to, reducing homelessness or improving behavioral health;

f. community placements for juvenile offenders; and

g. community outreach and assistance programs, alternative response
programs, and mental health crisis response including, but not limited to, the recovery
navigator program.

2. "Proceeds" means the principal amount of moneys raised by the sales and use
tax authorized by this section and any interest earnings on the principal.

D. The proceeds from the tax imposed in subsection A. of this section shall be
distributed to the King County current expense fund, and shall be used in a manner
consistent with Section 201, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025 to support criminal
justice purposes.

E. To the extent required by Section 201, Chapter 350, Laws of Washington
2025, the county executive shall, within one calendar year of imposition of the tax and
annually thereafter, make a report to the Washington state association of counties on how
the moneys received have been expended.

SECTION 3. Effective date. This ordinance takes effect on October 1, 2025,
except section 2 of this ordinance, which takes effect on January 1, 2026.

SECTION 4. Authority supplemental. The authority granted in this ordinance

is supplemental to all other powers of the county, and nothing in this ordinance shall be

6

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 51



135

136

137

138

139

Ordinance

construed as limiting or restricting any powers or authority conferred upon the county by
law.

SECTION 5. Severability. If any provision of this ordinance or its application to
any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of the ordinance or the

application of the provision to other persons or circumstances is not affected.

KING COUNTY COUNCIL
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Girmay Zahilay, Chair
ATTEST:

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council

APPROVED this day of ,

Shannon Braddock, County Executive

Attachments: None

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

52



ki
King County

Metropolitan King County Council
Budget and Fiscal Management Committee

STAFF REPORT

Nick Bowman
Agenda Item: 7 Name: Melissa Bailey
Proposed No.: | 2025-0169 Date: July 9, 2025
SUBJECT

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0169 would authorize the imposition of a one-tenth of one
percent sales and use tax for criminal justice purposes as authorized in Section 201,
Chapter 350, Laws of Washington 2025.

SUMMARY

In April 2025, the Washington State Legislature approved ESHB 2015 allowing
qualifying cities and counties to impose an additional 0.1% sales and use tax for
criminal justice purposes.’ Criminal justice purposes are defined as activities that
substantially assist the criminal justice system, which may include circumstances where
ancillary benefit to the civil justice and behavioral health systems occurs.

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0169 would impose an additional 0.1% sales and use tax to
support criminal justice programs and services, effective January 1, 2026. According to
the Executive, a countywide 0.1% sales tax is currently forecasted to generate
approximately $95 million per year. The estimated impact to a median income
household would be $40 annually.

If approved, all tax proceeds would be directed to the county General Fund and will be
appropriated as part of the biennial budget process. According to the Executive, as
nearly 75% of the General Fund is dedicated to public safety and the criminal legal
system, the proposed revenue would be sufficient to offset the projected $150 million
General Fund deficit for the 2026-2027 biennium, avoiding deep cuts to county services
and programs which would otherwise be necessary.

BACKGROUND

King County’s Projected General Fund Deficit. With the adoption of the 2025 Annual
Budget, the county General Fund was projected to run a deficit of $150 million for the
2026-2027 biennium.? The projected shortfall is the result of State law which generally

T ESHB 2015
22025 Adopted Budget Book

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 53



https://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2025-26/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/House/2015-S.SL.pdf?q=20250609103646
https://cdn.kingcounty.gov/-/media/king-county/depts/council/budget/2025-adopted-budget-book.pdf?rev=15f3ddcf104349948fbc36a12f05f10f&hash=E5CB21E4C98851EB45FC44EA3251906F

limits property tax increases to 1% annually, plus revenue from new construction.® This
1% limit causes revenue to grow at a lower rate than the cost of providing services. The
gap between revenue and costs is known as the “structural gap.”

According to the Executive, when inflation was low, as it was for many years, the county
budgeted within the 1% growth limit by finding efficiencies, making many small
reductions in services, and finding small new revenue sources. However, the high
inflation in recent years, which averaged nearly 7% annually between 2021-2023, has
driven up costs for salaries, benefits, supplies, utilities, and construction, exacerbating
the structural gap.

In February of this year, several leaders of county agencies and departments funded
primarily through the General Fund gave a presentation to the Budget and Fiscal
Management Committee detailing the projected deficit's impact to agency staff and
operations. Some of the stated impacts include:

e The Sheriffs Office would eliminate about 80 deputies serving unincorporated
King County and would reduce staff investigating crimes. Responses to all but
the most serious crimes would be significantly delayed or would never occur;

e The Prosecutor's Office would eliminate dozens of attorneys, meaning some
crimes could no longer be prosecuted. Staff providing victim support and other
services would be reduced;

e The Department of Community and Human Services likely would have to cut all
General Funded services, including services for victims of domestic violence and
sexual assault, civil legal aid, and diversion programs for youth in the criminal
legal system; and

e The Department of Local Services would eliminate about half of the existing code
enforcement staff, meaning many code violations would not be investigated. The
County’s participatory budgeting program, which involves residents in selecting
projects to benefit their neighborhoods, could be eliminated.

House Bill 2015. In April of this year, the Washington State Legislature adopted ESHB
2015 allowing qualifying cities and counties to impose an additional 0.1% sales and use
tax for criminal justice purposes before June 30, 2028. The key aspects of the
legislation are described in detail below.

Criminal Justice Purposes. Criminal justice purposes are defined as activities that
substantially assist the criminal justice system, which may include circumstances where
ancillary benefit to the civil justice and behavioral health systems occurs, and which
includes:
e domestic violence services such as those provided by domestic violence
programs, community advocates, and legal advocates;
o staffing adequate public defenders to provide appropriate defense for individuals;
e diversion programs;
e reentry work for inmates;
e |ocal government programs that have reasonable relationship to reducing the
numbers of people interacting with the criminal justice system including, but not
limited to, reducing homelessness or improving behavioral health;

3 RCW Chapter 84.55

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 54



community placements for juveniles; and

community outreach and assistance programs, alternative response programs,
and mental health crisis response including, but not limited to, the recovery
navigator program.

Local Law Enforcement Grant Criteria. A city or county may authorize the tax contingent

upon meeting the requirements to receive funding from the Local Law Enforcement
Grant program created under the legislation. The grant criteria require that the city or
county have:

Issued and implemented policies consistent with the Keep Washington Working
Act* and the Office of the Attorney General's (AGO) Keep Washington Working
Act guide, model policies, and training recommendations for state and local law
enforcement agencies;

Participated in required Criminal Justice Training Commission (CJTC) training
relating to violence de-escalation and duty to render aid;°

Issued and implemented policies and practices regarding use of force and de-
escalation tactics consistent with RCW 10.120.030 and with all CJTC and AGO
model policies for law enforcement including, but not limited to, duty to intervene
and canine;

Implemented use of force data collection and reporting consistent with RCW
chapters 10.118 and 10.120 when the program is operational,

Issued and implemented policies and practices related to laws addressing
firearm relinquishment pursuant to court orders and domestic violence 911
response requirements®;

A 25% officer compliance rate with the CJTC’s 40-hour crisis intervention team
training;

A 100% officer compliance rate for those officers required to complete trauma-
informed, gender-based violence interviewing, investigation, response, and case
review training developed or approved by the CJTC pursuant to RCW
43.101.272 and 43.101.276, and if requested by the commission, participated in
agency case reviews;

Received funding from a sales and use tax authorized pursuant to the RCW
82.14.340 or 82.14.450;

A chief of police, marshal, or sheriff who is certified by the CJTC and who has not
been convicted of a felony or convicted of a gross misdemeanor involving moral
turpitude, dishonesty, fraud, or corruption; and

Issued and implemented policies and practices that prohibit volunteers who
assist with agency work from enforcing criminal laws, other than for assistance
with special event traffic and parking, including engaging in pursuits, detention,
arrests, the use of force, or the use of deadly force, carrying or the use of
firearms or other weapons, or the use of dogs to track people or animals other
than for purposes of search and rescue; and that set forth the required
supervision of volunteers, including that they must be clearly identifiable by the

4 RCW 43.17.425 and 10.93.160
5 RCW 43.101.455 and 36.28A.445
6 Chapters 7.105 and 9.41 RCW

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 55



public as distinguishable from peace officers and any identifying insignia must be
officially issued by the agency and used only when on duty.

Additional Qualifying Grant Requirements. To qualify for the grant, a city or county must
also provide the CJTC with a detailed staffing plan specifying the:
e Total number of commissioned officers currently employed by the agency;
e Total number of specially commissioned officers currently employed by the
agency;
e Total number of co-response teams established within the agency and what
staffing are included in each co-response team;
e Total number of administrative staff currently employed;
e Number of officers on flexible work schedules;
e Average 911 response rate of the agency over the previous 12-month period;
and
e Average case closure rate of the agency over the previous 12-month period.

A city or county must submit documentation to the CJTC demonstrating compliance with
grant requirements before authorizing the tax. If the CJTC, in consultation with the
AGO, is unable to verify the submittal within 45 calendar days, the CJTC must notify the
city or county of any deficiencies. After this initial 45-day period, a city or county may
authorize the tax conditioned upon either receiving validation or submission of
supplemental documentation rectifying any deficiencies to the CJTC.

The CJTC must review this supplemental documentation and notify the city or county of
any outstanding deficiencies within 45 days of receipt of the supplemental
documentation. If the city or county has not rectified all deficiencies within 180 calendar
days of its initial submittal of documentation as verified by the CJTC, the State
Treasurer must withhold $100,000 of the tax collected per month until the CTJC has
verified that the city or county comes into compliance.

Timing and Reporting. A city or county imposing the tax authorized under ESHB 2015
must, within one calendar year and annually thereafter, report to either the Association
of Washington Cities (AWC) or the Washington State Association of Counties (WSAC)
on their use of the tax revenues.

ESHB 2015 was signed by the Governor on May 19", 2025, and will become effective
on July 27t 2025.

Existing County Criminal Justice Sales Tax. Since the 1990s, State law’ has allowed
counties to impose a 0.1% sales and use tax for criminal justice purposes.? Cities do not
have the authority to impose this tax, but the revenues must be shared with the cities
within the county on a per capita basis. The county receives 10% of the total proceeds,
then a share based on the population of the county’s unincorporated area. The
remainder is distributed to cities based on their population.

7RCW 82.14.340
8 “Criminal justice purposes” under RCW 82.14.340 has a similar, but narrower, definition than that of
ESHB 2015.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 56



King County first imposed this tax in 1994 and has collected its share of the annual
revenue ever since.® The county’s revenue share for 2025 is estimated to be
approximately $18.7 million out of a total of $93.4 million."°

ANALYSIS

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0169 would impose an additional 0.1% sales and use tax for
criminal justice purposes as authorized under ESHB 2015. The 0.1% sales tax would be
imposed countywide and would be in addition to the current criminal justice sales tax
levied by the county under RCW 82.14.340.""

Compliance with ESHB 2015. Section 1 of the proposed ordinance states in a series
of findings that the county, through the Sheriff's Office (KCSO), meets the requirements
necessary to impose the 0.1% sales tax authorized under ESHB 2015."2

Section 2 of the proposed ordinance directs the proceeds from the proposed 0.1% sales
tax to the county General Fund to support criminal justice purposes consistent with state
law. According to the Executive, specific appropriation of the tax proceeds will be
determined during the biennial budget process.

Section 2 of the proposed ordinance also commits the Executive, within one calendar
year of imposition of the tax and annually thereafter, to report to the Washington state
association of counties on how tax proceeds have been expended as required by ESHB
2015.

Timeline. According to the Executive, the KCSO has been compiling the necessary
documentation for submittal to the CJTC no later than July 27, 2025, when ESHB 2015
becomes effective.

The CJTC is responsible for providing verification or notification of deficiencies within 45
days of the county’s submittal. The county can impose the sales tax after this initial 45-
day period provided the county responds with supplemental documentation rectifying
any deficiencies if necessary. By submitting the initial documentation by July 27, the
county should receive notice from the CJTC on or before September 10, 2025.

Section 3 of the proposed ordinance establishes an effective date of October 1, 2025.
Should the Executive submit the initial documentation by July 27 as stated, the
proposed ordinance would become effective several weeks after the initial 45-day
review period. According to the Executive, the October 1 effective date would also allow
the county to notify the Department of Revenue by October 15, for the 0.1% sales tax to
be implemented on January 1, 2026.'3

® Ordinance 11103

10 Per the March 2025 OEFA Forecast

M KCC 4A.500.030

2 ESHB Section 201(1)(a)

3 A local sales/use tax change may take effect (a) no sooner than 75 days after DOR receives notice of
the change and (b) only on the 15t day of January, April, or July, per RCW 82.14.055.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 o7


https://kingcounty.gov/en/independents/governance-and-leadership/economic-financial-analysis

Fiscal impact. Based on the adopted March 2025 Office of Economic and Financial
Analysis (OEFA) forecast, the 0.1% sales tax imposed under the proposed ordinance is
anticipated to raise approximately $95 million per year in the first year of collections.
Unlike the criminal justice sales tax authorized under RCW 82.14.340, the proposed
sales tax does not require revenue sharing with other local jurisdictions within King
County. Therefore, all proceeds generated under proposed tax would be collected
solely by the county and directed to the county General Fund.

According to the Executive, as nearly 75% of the General Fund is dedicated to public
safety and the criminal legal system, the proposed tax would generate sufficient funding
to offset the County’s previously projected $150 million biennial General Fund deficit,
avoiding deep cuts to county services and programs.

Retail sales taxes currently average 9.7% in King County.' Attachment 4 to this staff
report lists the total sales taxes currently collected by each jurisdiction within King
County, as tabulated by the Washington Department of Revenue (DOR) for collections
between April 1 and June 30, 2025. Attachment 4 also delineates the components that
make up King County’s sales tax rate.

The Office of Performance, Strategy, and Budget (PSB) estimates that an increase in
the sales tax by 0.1% would have an annual impact of $40 on the median income
household. This estimate is based on a median household income of $122,000 and a
sales tax ratio of 32.9%, meaning that the median household spends a total of $40,138
each year on goods subject to the sales tax, resulting in approximately $3,908 in sales
taxes owed. An increase of 0.1% to the sales tax would add $40 on average to that
total. 1

It should be noted that the July OEFA forecast will include updated impacts on taxable
sales, consumer spending, and inflation. This forecast will be the first to include
estimated impacts of the newly adopted state law'® which broadens the sales tax base
to include some services not previously included. Many of these services (such as,
information technology support, temporary staffing, and digital advertising services) are
concentrated within King County and therefore expected to have a disproportionate
effect on the local sales tax base, which could potentially result in increased sales tax
collections.

INVITED
Dwight Dively, Director, Office of Performance, Strategy, and Budget

ATTACHMENTS

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0169

Transmittal Letter

Fiscal Note

Local Sales and Use Taxes, Department of Revenue, April 1-June 30, 2025

rObM=

4 Local Sales & Use Tax Rates and Changes, Department of Revenue, Effective April 1-June 30, 2025
5 PSB notes that this total will vary due to the variation among jurisdictions in sales tax rates.
6 ESSB 5814

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 58


https://dor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2025-02/Q225_LSU_flyer.pdf

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

1200 King County Courthouse

2 KING COUNTY 516 Third Avenue
m Seattle, WA 98104
. Signature Report
King County 9 P
Ordinance
Proposed No. 2025-0176.2 Sponsors Quinn

AN ORDINANCE authorizing the King County executive

to enter into an agreement with respect to the purchase of

the landfill gas processing plant located at the Cedar Hills

regional landfill.
STATEMENT OF FACTS:
1. The Cedar Hills regional landfill ("the landfill") produces landfill gas, a
valuable green energy resource created by the anaerobic decomposition of
organic wastes, containing methane, carbon dioxide, and trace
concentrations of other compounds that may be utilized as a marketable
energy product.
2. In 2003, Ordinance 14723 authorized the King County executive to
enter into agreements with Bio Energy (Washington), LLC ("Bio
Energy"), for the sale and conversion into energy of landfill gas generated
by the landfill ("the original project agreements"). In accordance with the
original project agreements, Bio Energy developed, built, and owns a
landfill gas processing plant located on property at the landfill leased to
Bio Energy by the county ("the plant").
3. In 2007, Ordinance 15872 authorized the King County executive to

execute an Amended and Restated Project Development and Gas Sales

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 59



20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

Ordinance

Agreement and an Amended and Restated Plant Site Lease with Bio
Energy.

4. Bio Energy maintained and operated the plant from October 2010 until
August 2023, when Bio Energy shut down its operation of the plant.

5. In April 2023, Bio Energy filed a lawsuit against King County, in
United States District Court for the Western District of Washington, Case
No. 2:23-cv-00542-LK ("the litigation"), alleging breach of contract and
other causes of action. King County disputes Bio Energy's claims and filed
multiple counterclaims against Bio Energy in the litigation.

6. In March 2025, King County and Bio Energy participated in a
mediation with United States Magistrate Judge S. Kate Vaughn and
reached a tentative settlement agreement to fully resolve the litigation.

7. The terms of the settlement agreement required the county to negotiate
a proposed Asset Purchase Agreement for the county's purchase of the
plant and Purchased Assets, as defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement,
and to present to the council this ordinance for authorization to sign the
Asset Purchase Agreement. The execution of the Asset Purchase
Agreement will result in the county's acquisition of the plant, the
termination of the plant site lease, and the resolution of the litigation. It
will also provide for significant environmental and financial benefit to the

county.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF KING COUNTY:

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 60



42

43

44

45

Ordinance

SECTION 1. Findings: The King County council hereby finds that the purchase

of the landfill gas processing plant and all associated assets necessary for its operation is

in the best interest of the public.

SECTION 2. The King County executive or the executive's designee is hereby

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

July 22, 2025

61



Ordinance

46  authorized to execute the Asset Purchase Agreement substantially in the form of

47  Attachment A to this ordinance.

KING COUNTY COUNCIL
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Girmay Zahilay, Chair
ATTEST:

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council

APPROVED this day of ,

Shannon Braddock, County Executive

Attachments: A. Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25), dated July 14, 2025

4

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

62



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
by and between
KING COUNTY
as Purchaser

and

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC
as Seller

[e], 2025

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 63



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS ...ttt et e e e e e e e e ettt eeeeeeaae st eeeeeseseaesaaeeeeessesesareaaeeeesssananns 2
1.1 | B 2SS 0¥ 15T ) o TS 2

1.2 B3 11S g o) <] 1 o) o SRR 7
ARTICLE 2 PURCHASE AND SALE ...ttt e e e et e e e e e eeeeesaeeeeessesesesaneeeesssenann 7
2.1 ) B o] 4TIt B AN £ T 7

2.2 ) 2 (e L6 (T B AN £ T 8

2.3 ASSUMEA LIADIIIEIES ...evvviiiiiieiieeeeee ettt et e e e e s e e e e e e e e e s e e snaaaeeeeeas 9

2.4 EXCIUAEA LIADIIITIES «..vveeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt e e e e et e e e e e s e e e et reeeeeseeseraaeeeeens 9
ARTICLE 3 PURCHASE PRICE AND CLOSING .....ccooootttteeote et eeeaeeeeeeaeeeseeraneeeas 10
3.1 PUICRASE PIICE ..ottt e e e sttt e e e s e e st a et e e e e s esenaaaaeeeeas 10

3.2 CLOSINE ... eeiteeieeeite ettt et et et stt e s te ettt e b e e se e teessaesseessseanseanseesseesaesssessseanseenseessaesseesssenns 10

33 ClOSING DElIVETADIES ......cviiiiiiieiiiciie ettt ettt e eveeve et te e st e s reerbeeabeeveesreesraesenaees 10

34 Conditions Precedent to Closing — PUIChASET .........cccucevviiiiiiiieiieiiecie e 11

3.5 Conditions Precedent to Closing — Seller .........covvieveiieiiiecieieieriecie e 12

3.6 WIhROLAING ..ottt st e s tae s v e eabeesbeesba e bsessbessaeesseenseas 12
ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER ....cccovviiiieiieeeeceeeeeeeeee e 12
4.1 Organization, QUAalifiCatiON..........c.eecveeriieriieriierieeie ettt ere e eseesteesrnesenesareens 12

4.2 AUthOTIZAtioN; VAlIAitY ...cc.eevieiieiiieiieieseree ettt sttt esnneenseensees 12

4.3 INO CONTTICES ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e s e e e s e s e e eeeeesesasesasesesesasesesaeanes 12

4.4 Consents and APPIOVALS ....cc.eecvieiieiiiiieseeiee et ere et e e e resbeebeesbeebeesteessnesrseesreens 13

4.5 PUICHASEA ASSEES. . eeeeeiiiieeeieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e e e e et a et e e e e sessaaaaareeeeessssnnneaaeeeas 13

4.6 Intellecttal PrOPEILY......cccveeiiiiieiieit ettt ettt st ettt e seeeseaeseneenseens 13
ARTICLE 5 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER ......covvviiiiiiieeeieeeeeee. 13
5.1 Organization, QUAalifiCatioN..........c.eecuierierieiie ettt ettt ete et reeee et eseeeseaesnseenseens 13

5.2 AUthOTIZation; Validity .......cccveeiiieriieriieiieeie ettt e e e eseeenes 13

5.3 INO COMITICES ettt e e et e e e e e e e ee e et eeeeeeesaeneaeeeeeessasassneneeeeeessanannns 14

5.4 Consents and APPIOVALS .......cccveivieriieiiieiieiiesteereere et et et esteeseaeeseesseesseesseesanesssesssesnns 14
ARTICLE 6 SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION.......coiiiiiitieiiiie ettt ettt st sae e 14
6.1 SUTVIVAL ettt e e e e e e et e e e e eeee e e eeeeeseeeeaseaaeeeesssesessraareeeesssaaannn 14

6.2 Indemnification DY SEILET........ccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciect et ve e tr e sr e e beebeereens 14

6.3 Indemnification by PUIChASET .........ccceeviiiiiiiieiieiieecee et 14

6.4 INOLICE OF CLAIITIS .ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e eeeeeaeeeeeeeeseeesaeeeeeeseseesrnnaees 15

6.5 | BT Tot A O F=3 1 o LR 15

6.6 Third Party Claims ProCEAUIES .........ccccviriiiiiieiieiieriesee ettt e e see e 15

6.7 Characterization of Indemnity Payments.............ccoeevierienienieniinieeieeeeee e 16

6.8 EXCIUSIVE REMEAY ....eovieiiieiiieie ettt sttt e e st e enseensaensaens 16
ARTICLE 7 TAX MATTERS ...ttt et e e e e e eee et eeeeeeseaeeaeeeeessesasesaaaeeeeessenanns 16
7.1 TTANSTET TAXES coeeieieeieeieee ettt ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e s s et aaeeeeeeseesasneaaeereessessnneaaeens 16

7.2 | R L0 T Lo K25 G T 16

7.3 (10 70] o153 110 1 HO SRR PR 17

7.4 TaX DOCUMENTALION. ....eeiiiiiieieieeieee ettt ee e e e eeeeee et e ee e e e e s eeaeeeeeeesessennaaareeeessessnnnaaareeeeens 17

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 64



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

7.5 Allocation of Purchase Price Among Asset Categories for Tax Purposes...........cccoeueenee..

ARTICLE 8 MISCELLANEOQOUS ...ttt ettt ettt sttt te st et ae et e e e st ensesseeneesesseensanneas
8.1 FUIther ASSUTANCES ....c..oouiiiiiiiiieie ettt sttt ettt
8.2 ENIre AGIEEMENT. ... eiiuiiiiiiiiieie ettt sttt et e sb e sbe e st e st et e et e beenbee
8.3 Amendment and WaIVET .........cccueririeiiieieie ettt et nee s eaeeees
8.4 Third Party BenefiCIaries ........cccoeeeriiiieieriiiee ettt
8.5 ASSIZIIMICIL .....eiiiieeiiieeiee ettt eetee et e esbeeetteeseaeeesbeeesseessseeessseesssesesseesssasassseessseeessseessseeans
8.6 INOLICES ..ttt ettt ettt e b e e b e bt e e et e et ea bt e bt e bt e sbeesaeesabe e bt e bt e bt e sneeeaeas
8.7 Governing Law; JUTISAICTION; .....c.eevierieiieiieeie et eiteste et e e senesnseesseenne
8.8 Specific PETfOrmance..........oooiirieririeieieeteeeeeeee ettt
8.9 4 0153 1 E RSP URRURROt
810 SEVEIADIIILY .eeuvieiieieieeit ettt ettt sttt e et e et e beesteesat e et e et e e s e e nseesaaeenneenseenreenns
. IT  COUNLEIPATLS....eeieutiieiiieeiiee ettt eetee ettt ettt e et e ettt e st e e e bteesateesbeeebteesabeesseeesateesabeeennseesnseeens
8.12  Delivery by Electronic TranSmiSSION. .........c.eecveeruiereerierierieeieesieesieesseesnessesseesseenseenses

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS

Exhibit A Settlement Agreement

Exhibit B Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit C Form of Bill of Sale

Exhibit D Form of Transition Services Agreement

Exhibit E Form of License Agreement

Schedule 2.1(b) Personal Property

Schedule 2.1(c) Transferred Contracts

Schedule 2.1(d) Transferred Permits

Schedule 2.1(¢e) Transferred Intellectual Property

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

65



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of [@], 2025 (the
“Effective Date”), by and between Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Seller”), and King County, a Washington municipal corporation (“Purchaser” and, together with Seller,
the “Parties,” and each, a “Party”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Scller and Purchaser entered into a Settlement Agreement and Releases, dated March
19, 2025, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A (the “Settlement Agreement”), whereby the Seller
agreed, among other things, to sell the Purchased Assets, and the Purchaser agreed, among other things, to
purchase the Purchased Assets, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Purchaser has deposited an
earnest money payment of $3,000,000 into the Court Registry for the United States District Court for the
Western District of Washington, which amount is subject to distribution in accordance with the terms of
the Settlement Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Purchaser has undertaken a due
diligence investigation of the Plant, its operations, and certain other matters, as described more fully in the
Settlement Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i) Seller and Purchaser have
entered into the Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement dated April 30, 2025 (the “Co-Generator
Agreement”); (ii) Seller has operated the Plant consistent with normal commercial practice for the
Demonstration Period; and (iii) Purchaser has sampled and evaluated Product Gas production volume and
quality, including testing the Product Gas to determine whether it contains arsenic or any other constituents
that could potentially prevent its injection into the Transfer Line, or otherwise impact the sale of such
Product Gas, all as described more fully in the Settlement Agreement; and

WHEREAS, Purchaser has obtained approval from the King County Council to execute this
Agreement through approval of an Appropriations Ordinance or otherwise; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Seller has suspended all pending
requests under the Washington Public Records Act, Title 42, Revised Code of Washington, and agreed not
to file any new requests thereunder, and will withdraw all pending requests at the Closing; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this
Agreement, and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged
by the Parties, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms have the meanings
indicated below, which definitions shall control and take precedence, for purposes of interpreting this

Agreement, over any like term used in the Settlement Agreement:

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with, such Person. As used in this definition, the term “control,”

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 66



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

9% ¢

“controlling,” “controlled by” or “under common control with” shall mean the possession, through the
ownership of voting securities, voting interests, by contract, or otherwise, of the right to direct or cause the
direction of management or policies of the Person. “Control” also includes the following: (a) direct or
indirect ownership of 50% or more of the voting interests, securities, or equity of a Person, (b) the direct or
indirect ability to elect 50% or more of the board of directors or other governing body of the Person, or (c)
with respect to a partnership, limited liability company, or other unincorporated association, the direct or
indirect right to a share of 50% or more of its net assets or net income of such entity.

“Agreement” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph.

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to the Parties, any applicable statute, common law, treaty,
rule, code, ordinance, protocol, regulation, governmental approval, interpretation, certificate or order of any
Governmental Authority, or any judgment, decision, decree, injunction, order or the like of any court,
arbitrator or other Governmental Authority currently in effect.

“Appropriations Ordinance” means an ordinance or ordinances adopted by the King County
Council authorizing Purchaser to execute and deliver this Agreement and perform the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and appropriating the funds
necessary to pay the Purchase Price and the Settlement Amount, and otherwise fulfill the terms of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

“Assignment Agreement” means an assignment and assumption agreement, in the form attached
to this Agreement as Exhibit B.

“Assumed Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
“Bill of Sale” means a bill of sale, in the form attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C.

“Business Day” means a day of the year that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks
are not open for business in Seattle, Washington.

“Claim” means any claim, charge, complaint, demand, action, litigation, suit, arbitration,
mediation, investigation by a Governmental Authority, or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative, judicial or quasi-judicial, in each case by or before a Governmental Authority.

“Closing” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2.
“Closing Date” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2.
“Closing Deadline” means August 29, 2025, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.

“Collection Facilities” means the network of recovery wells and connecting pipes together with
attendant valves, pumps, monitoring devices, knock-out vessels, vacuum pumps, blowers and compressors,
and other extraction related equipment installed for the purpose of extracting and recovering Landfill Gas
at the landfill, as more specifically described in Exhibit B to the PDA; provided that “Collection Facilities”
shall expressly exclude the Expansion Collection Facilities; provided further, that “Collection Facilities”
shall exclude the area known as landfill cell no. 1 or the main hill.

“Contract” means any contract, license, sublicense, lease, easement, mortgage, indenture,
agreement or instrument which relates to the ownership and operation of the Plant, or any binding
commitment to enter into any of the foregoing (in each case, whether written or oral) to which Seller is a
party or by which any of the assets comprising the Plant are bound, but excluding Permits.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 67



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

“Damages” has the meaning specified in Section 6.2.
“Demonstration Period” has the meaning specified in the Settlement Agreement.

“Due Diligence Period” has the meaning specified in the Settlement Agreement, and absent further
agreement of the Parties, ends on July 4, 2025.

“Easement Area” has the meaning specified in Section 2.2 of the Lease.
“Effective Date” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph.
“Equipment” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(b).

“Excluded Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“Excluded Knowhow” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(h).
“Excluded Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Excluded Taxes” means (i) all Taxes of, imposed on or owed by Seller or any of its Affiliates for
any period, (ii) all Taxes relating or attributable to the Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities for any
period, (iii) all Taxes (including Periodic Taxes for which Seller is responsible pursuant to Section 7.2)
relating or attributable to the Purchased Assets, the Plant, or the Assumed Liabilities for any taxable period
ending on or prior to the Closing Date and, with respect to any Straddle Period, for the portion of such
taxable period ending on and including the Closing Date, and (iv) Seller Transfer Taxes that are the
responsibility of Seller pursuant to Section 7.1.

“Expansion Collection Facilities” means the network of recovery wells and connecting pipes
together with attendant valves, pumps, monitoring devices, knock-out vessels, vacuum pumps, blowers and
compressors, and other extraction related equipment installed for the purpose of extracting and recovering
Landfill Gas from one or more Landfill Expansion Cells.

“Governmental Authority” means any domestic, foreign, federal, state, county, regional,
provincial or local government, any political subdivision thereof or any other governmental, quasi-
governmental, judicial, public or statutory instrumentality, authority, body, agency, department, bureau or

entity, or any arbitrator, in each case with the authority to bind a Party, recognizing that King County is
excluded as a “Governmental Authority” for purposes of this Agreement.

“Guild” means Guild Associates, Inc. of Dublin, Ohio.

“Guild Settlement Agreement” means that certain confidential settlement agreement entered into
between Guild and Seller in May 2017.

“Indemnified Party” means a Purchaser Indemnified Party or a Seller Indemnified Party, as
applicable.

“Indemnitor” has the meaning specified in Section 6.4.
“Inventory” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(a).

“Landfill” means the existing landfill (including the Collection Facilities) commonly known as the
Cedar Hills Regional Landfill and which is owned and operated by Purchaser and located on the Landfill

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 68



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Site. The term “Landfill” also includes each Landfill Expansion Cell and all Landfill Expansion Collection
Facilities installed with respect to any Landfill Expansion Cell.

“Landfill Expansion Cell” means any portion of the Landfill that was opened for the acceptance
of waste after February 29, 2008.

“Landfill Gas” means (a) methane, carbon dioxide and other gases produced by the anaerobic
decomposition of waste material within the Landfill, and (b) any and all other materials, including entrained
liquids, recovered in association with such methane, carbon dioxide and other gases, including all of the
foregoing items set forth in clauses (a) and (b) that are generated in the Landfill and collected by the
Collection Facilities or the Expansion Collection Facilities; provided that “Landfill Gas” shall expressly
exclude any landfill gas generated in the landfill from the area known as cell no. 1.

“Landfill Site” means the real property consisting of an approximately 920-acre site located in
Maple Valley, King County, Washington, as such real property is further described in Exhibit A to the PDA
(which shall exclude the Plant Site).

“Lease” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).

“Liability” means any liability (whether known or unknown, whether absolute or contingent,
whether liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become due), obligation or indebtedness,
including any liability for Taxes.

“License Agreement” means the license agreement from Ingenco Holdings, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, to Purchaser covering the Palumbo Patent substantially in the form attached to
this Agreement as Exhibit E.

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, easement, security interest, charge, claim, option, conditional
sale or other title retention agreement, lien or other encumbrance or right of any Third Party or Affiliate of
a Party.

“Litigation” means the pending litigation between the Parties in the United States District Court
for the Western District of Washington, Case No. 2:23-¢v-00542-LK as further described in the Settlement
Agreement.

“Organizational Documents” means, as to any Person other than a natural person, the charter,
certificate or articles of incorporation, certificate of formation, bylaws, and other organizational documents
of such Person, including, with respect to a limited liability company, any limited liability company
agreement or similar document.

“Palumbo Patent” means U.S. Patent No. 7,731,779.

“Party” and “Parties” have the meanings specified in the introductory paragraph; provided,
however, that (a) references to “either Party” mean Seller or Purchaser, as applicable, (b) in relation to
Seller, references to “the other Party” mean Purchaser, and (c) in relation to Purchaser, references to “the
other Party” mean Seller.

“PDA” means the Amended and Restated Project Development and Gas Sales Agreement, dated
February 29, 2008, between the Purchaser and Seller.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 69



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

“Periodic Taxes” means property and similar ad valorem Taxes imposed on a periodic basis with
respect to the Purchased Assets and the Plant; provided, however, that Periodic Taxes shall not include any
Taxes based on income or receipts, or imposed in connection with the sale or other transfer of property,
including for the avoidance of doubt, Seller Transfer Taxes and Purchaser Transfer Taxes.

“Permits” means all licenses, certificates, authorizations, consents, permits, approvals and other
similar authorizations of, from, or by a Governmental Authority (excluding King County) necessary for the
ownership and operation of the Plant.

“Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, corporation, limited liability company,
partnership, limited partnership, joint stock company, trust, other legal entity, joint venture, association,
unincorporated organization, or Governmental Authority.

“Plant” means the landfill gas processing facility currently owned by Seller located on the Plant
Site, including (i) engineering and design documents, all gas processing or energy producing equipment
(including electric generating equipment) and auxiliary equipment, fuel storage and handling facilities and
equipment, a switchyard, interconnection facilities and electric transmission line; (ii) all pipelines,
compressors, and the flare located on the Plant Site; (iii) any of the foregoing items or equipment owned
by Seller (or an Affiliate of Seller) located on the Plant Site or within the Easement which may be required
from time to time to deliver or convey Landfill Gas or other fuel to the Plant or processed gas or electricity
to, or from, the Plant, excluding the Plant Transmission Line and Plant Electric Transmission Line (which
are owned by Puget Sound Energy); and (iv) all other improvements currently owned by Seller (or an
Affiliate of the Seller) related solely to the landfill gas processing facility and located on the Plant Site or
within the Easement Areas, as more particularly described in the Lease.

“Plant Electric Transmission Line” means the electric feeder line and related interconnection
facilities owned by Puget Sound Energy, Inc. used to move electricity into, and out, of the Plant Site.

“Plant Site” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1 of the Lease.

“Plant Transmission Line” or “Transfer Line” means the gas transmission line and related
interconnection facilities built on the Easement Area as described in the Lease, which line is capable of
delivering Product Gas to the Product Gas Delivery Point.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on, or before, the Closing Date.

“Product Gas” means the gas produced by the Plant that is pipeline quality and suitable for
injection into the interstate natural gas pipeline owned by Williams Company or, its successor.

“Product Gas Delivery Point” means the location at which the Product Gas is delivered from the
Plant into the interstate natural gas pipeline owned by Williams Companies, or its successor, or into any
other third party’s applicable transmission or distribution system or gas pipeline.

“Purchase Price” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1.

“Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

“Purchaser” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph.

“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” has the meaning specified in Section 6.2.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 70



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

“Purchaser Transfer Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 7.1.

“Representatives” means, in relation to either Party, each Affiliate of such Party, and its and their
respective owners, managers, directors, officers, employees, and agents.

“Schedules” means the schedules attached to this Agreement.

“Seller” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph.
“Seller Indemnified Parties” has the meaning specified in Section 6.3.
“Seller Transfer Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 7.1.

“Settlement Amount” means the $5,000,000 payment to be made by Purchaser to Seller to settle
the Litigation.

“Straddle Period” means any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing
Date.

“Tangible Personal Property” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(b).

“Tax” or “Taxes” means all U.S. federal, state, local, municipal or non-U.S. income, profits, Tax
Return capital, gross receipts, windfall profits, occupational, severance, property, production, sales, use,
license, excise, franchise, employment, unemployment insurance, social security, disability, workers’
compensation, withholding, transfer, payroll, goods and services, real and personal property, ad valorem,
occupancy, stamp, transfer, capital stock, registration, value-added or minimum tax, or any other tax,
custom, duty, governmental fee, or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, whether or not
disputed, together with any interest or any penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any
Governmental Authority.

“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, form, report, claim informational return (including
all Forms 1099) or statement required to be filed with any Governmental Authority with respect to Taxes,
including any schedule or attachment thereto or amendment thereof.

“Tax Status Letter” means the letter which may be requested by a taxpayer or a third party from
the Washington State Department of Revenue regarding the tax status of a Person, including whether such
Person has outstanding tax obligations.

“Taxing Authority” means, with respect to any Tax or Tax Return, the Governmental Authority
that imposes such Tax or requires a Person to file such Tax Return and the agency (if any) charged with the
collection of such Tax or the administration of such Tax Return, in each case, for such Governmental
Authority.

“Third Party” means any Person that is neither a Party, nor an Affiliate of a Party.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning specified in Section 6.4.

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Settlement Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the
Assignment Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the License Agreement, and the other

agreements, instruments, and documents required to be delivered in connection with this Agreement or at
the Closing.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 71



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

“Transferred Contracts” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(¢).
“Transferred Intellectual Property” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(e).
“Transferred Knowhow” has the meaning specified in Schedule 2.1(e).
“Transferred Permits” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(d).

“Transition Services Agreement” means the transition services agreement, in the form attached
to this Agreement as Exhibit D.

1.2 Interpretation. The Parties have jointly participated in the negotiation and drafting of this
Agreement. In the event of an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall
be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumptions or burdens of proof shall arise favoring
either Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. The rules of usage for
this Agreement are as follows: (a) “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by
“without limitation” whether or not they are in fact followed by such words or words of like import; (b)
“shall” and “will” mean “must” and shall and will have equal force and effect and express an obligation;
(c) “writing,” “written” and comparable terms refer to printing, writing, typing, and other means of
reproducing in a visible form, including electronic written form; (d) “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder,”
“herewith,” and comparable terms refer, unless otherwise expressly indicated, to this Agreement and not to
any particular article, Section or other subdivision or attachment of this Agreement; (e) section and
subsection headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only, shall not
be deemed to be a part of this Agreement for any purpose, and shall not in any way define or affect the
meaning, construction or scope of any of the provisions of this Agreement; (f) each defined term used in
this Agreement shall have a comparable meaning when used in its plural or singular form; and (g) unless
the context otherwise requires, references herein (i) to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules mean the
Articles and Sections of and the Exhibits and Schedules attached to this Agreement, (ii) to an agreement,
instrument or document means such agreement, instrument or document as amended, supplemented and
modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof, and (iii) to an Applicable Law
means such Applicable Law as amended from time to time and includes any successor legislation thereto
and regulations promulgated thereunder.

ARTICLE 2
PURCHASE AND SALE

2.1 Purchased Assets. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Seller will sell,
transfer, assign, convey, and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser will purchase and acquire from Seller, free
and clear of all Liens, the assets, properties, rights, titles, and interests of every kind or nature owned, leased,
licensed or otherwise held by Seller, to the extent related to the ownership or operation of the Plant,
including all of the following assets, but excluding the Excluded Assets (the “Purchased Assets”):

(a) all inventories of fuels, supplies, materials and spares located on the Plant Site as
of the Business Day immediately before the end of the Due Diligence Period, less any of the foregoing used
for maintenance of the Plant from such date to the Closing Date, as reasonably documented by Seller (the
“Inventory”);

(b) the machinery, equipment, vehicles, furniture and other personal property located
on the Plant Site as of the Business Day immediately before the end of the Due Diligence Period, including
the items of personal property listed on Schedule 2.1(b), and all warranty rights relating thereto (the
“Equipment” and together with the Inventory, the “Tangible Personal Property”);

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 72



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(c) the Contracts listed on Schedule 2.1(¢c) (the “Transferred Contracts”);

(d) the Permits, to the extent assignable by Seller to Purchaser, listed on Schedule
2.1(d) (the “Transferred Permits”);

(e) the intellectual property described in Schedule 2.1(e) (the “Transferred
Intellectual Property”); and

) the books and records of Seller relating to the ownership, operation and
maintenance of the Plant, other than such books and records that are Excluded Assets.

2.2 Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the following
assets, properties, rights, titles and interests of Seller are expressly excluded from the purchase and sale
contemplated hereby (the “Excluded Assets”) and, as such, are not included in the Purchased Assets:

(a) any cash, cash equivalents, certificates of deposit, bank deposits, commercial
paper, securities, rights to payment, accounts receivable, rights to refunds, credits, offsets, in-kind or
exchange arrangements, income, sales, payroll or other tax receivables, and any similar rights arising from
or relating to the ownership or operation of the Plant with respect to any period of time prior to the Closing;

(b) all claims, causes of action, rights of recovery, rights of set-off, rights to refunds
and similar rights of any kind in favor of Seller arising from or relating to the Litigation and the ownership
or operation of the Plant with respect to any period of time prior to the Closing, including any refund of
Taxes paid prior to the Closing (including refunds of Taxes received after the Closing), except for any of
the foregoing that relate to Assumed Liabilities;

(c) any refund, credit penalty payment, adjustment or reconciliation related to real
property taxes, personal property taxes or other Taxes paid prior to the Closing Date in respect of the
Purchased Assets or relating to the ownership or operation of the Plant, whether such refund, adjustment or
reconciliation is received as a payment or as a credit against future Taxes payable;

(d) the rights under any insurance policy arising out of and relating to events or periods
prior to the Closing or which is not related to the ownership or operation of the Plant, except to the extent
such policy insures for events or occurrences that are included in the Assumed Liabilities;

(e) the following records of Seller: (i) federal tax returns; (ii) business plans; (iii)
financial statements; (iv) communications with, and among, auditors and lawyers regarding Seller’s
financial statements and other issues; (v) accounting policies; (vi) Seller minutes, resolutions, and
communications with, and among, members and employees of Seller and its Affiliates; (vii) personnel files
and records of Seller’s current and former employees, including any information related to the termination,
suspension, or disciplinary actions taken with respect to such employees; and (viii) records relating to
changes in Seller ownership and/or that of its Affiliates;

() the rights of Seller under (i) this Agreement, (ii) the Confidentiality and Non-
Disclosure Agreement, (iii) the Transition Services Agreement, (iv) the Settlement Agreement, and (v) the
Co-Generator Agreement.

(2) any rights of Seller pursuant to the Guild Settlement Agreement; and

(h) any intangible know-how of Seller, its officers, employees, and consultants related
to the ownership and operation of the Plant that is not (i) disclosed by Seller to Purchaser, (ii) discerned or

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 73



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

learned by Purchaser from Seller, its officers, employees, and consultants during the course of Seller’s
negotiation and performance of this Agreement or the Transition Services Agreement, or (iii)
communicated to Purchaser by current or former employees of Seller (the “Excluded Knowhow”).

2.3 Assumed Liabilities. At the Closing, Purchaser shall assume and shall agree to pay, defend,
discharge, and perform as and when due the following specific Liabilities of Seller, except to the extent that
any of the following constitute Excluded Liabilities (collectively, but excluding the Excluded Liabilities,
the “Assumed Liabilities”):

(a) all Liabilities of Seller under the Transferred Contracts and the Transferred
Permits, in each case in accordance with the terms thereof, except to the extent that such Liabilities, but for
a breach or default by Seller, would have been paid, performed or otherwise discharged on or prior to the
Closing Date or to the extent the same arise out of any such breach or default or out of any event which
after the giving of notice would constitute a default by Seller.

24 Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Purchaser is
not assuming and shall have no responsibility for, under this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document, any Liability that is not specifically identified as an Assumed Liability under Section 2.3, and
Seller shall retain, and shall be responsible for paying, performing, and discharging when due, any
Liabilities of Seller as of the Closing other than the Assumed Liabilities (the “Excluded Liabilities™),
including:

(a) any Liabilities of Seller in respect of any Excluded Assets or other assets of Seller
that are not Purchased Assets;

(b) any Liabilities of Seller resulting from the Guild Settlement Agreement;
(c) all Excluded Taxes;

(d) any Liabilities of Seller (i) arising from the violation, breach or default by Seller,
on or prior to the Closing Date, of any Transferred Contract or Transferred Permit or (ii) in respect of any
other Contract, Permit or other arrangement or instrument entered into by Seller;

(e) any fines and penalties imposed on the Plant or Seller by any Governmental
Authority resulting from any act or omission by Seller or its Affiliates that occurred on or prior to the
Closing Date;

® any Liability of Seller arising as a result of its execution and delivery of this
Agreement or any other Transaction Document, the performance of its obligations hereunder or thereunder,
or the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Seller hereby acknowledges and agrees that, except for the Assumed Liabilities, Purchaser is not assuming,
and will not be liable for, any Liabilities of Seller, whether relating to Seller’s ownership or operation of
the Plant or otherwise, and Seller shall remain exclusively liable for all Excluded Liabilities.

ARTICLE 3
PURCHASE PRICE AND CLOSING

3.1 Purchase Price. At the Closing, Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid to Seller, by wire
transfer in immediately available funds (pursuant to wire transfer instructions provided in advance by Seller

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 74



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

to Purchaser in writing), an aggregate purchase price for the Purchased Assets of $70,000,000 (the
“Purchase Price”).

3.2 Closing. The closing of the purchase and sale contemplated by this Agreement (the
“Closing”) shall take place on or before the Closing Deadline. The closing may take place remotely by the
exchange of documents and signatures (or their electronic counterparts) or may take place in person at such
location as is mutually agreeable to the Parties, or in such other manner as Seller and Purchaser may
mutually agree upon in writing. The date on which the Closing actually occurs is referred to herein as the
“Closing Date”.

33 Closing Deliverables.

(a) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Purchaser the following:

(1) the Bill of Sale, duly executed by Seller;

(ii) the Assignment Agreement, duly executed by Seller;

(iii)  the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Seller;

(iv) the License Agreement, duly executed by Ingenco Holdings, LLC;

v) evidence that the Seller and its Affiliates have withdrawn all open or
pending requests to King County under the Washington Public Records Act, Title 42, Revised Code
of Washington;

(vi) evidence that the Seller has transferred all Transferred Contracts and
Transferred Permits to the Purchaser, effective as of the Closing;

(vii)  a certificate of the Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Seller certifying as
to the resolutions of the managers and the member of Seller, which authorize the execution,
delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents;

(viii)  an affidavit of non-foreign status of Seller that complies with Section 1445
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; and

(ix) copies of all consents, approvals, waivers and authorizations referred to
in Schedule 3.4(a)(ix);

(b) At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver to Seller the following:
(1) the Purchase Price by wire transfer, in immediately available funds;
(i1) the Settlement Amount, by wire transfer, in immediately available funds;
(iii))  the Assignment Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser;
(iv) the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser;

v) the License Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser; and

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 75



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(vi) the original of the $500,000 letter of credit furnished by Seller as security
for Seller’s compliance with the terms of the PDA, or evidence satisfactory to Seller, acting
reasonably, that such letter of credit is null and void.

34 Conditions Precedent to Closing — Purchaser. The obligation of Purchaser to consummate
the Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Purchaser, in its sole discretion) of the following
conditions:

(a) The Amended and Restated Plant Site Lease dated as of February 29, 2008,
between Seller and Purchaser (the “Lease”) shall have been terminated, effective as of Closing;

(b) The PDA shall have been terminated, effective as of Closing;

(c) Seller shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with
all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to
be performed or complied with by it prior to, or on, the Closing Date;

(d) Purchaser shall have entered into an agreement, in a form acceptable to Purchaser
in its sole discretion, with Puget Sound Energy that will give Purchaser access to the Transfer
Line/Northwest Pipeline for delivery of pipeline quality gas;

(e) The King County Council shall have adopted the Appropriations Ordinance; and
® No action, suit, claim or proceeding shall have been commenced against Purchaser
or Seller that would prevent the Closing, and no injunction or order of any Governmental Authority shall

be in effect that restrains or prohibits the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

3.5 Conditions Precedent to Closing — Seller. The obligation of Seller to consummate the
Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Seller, in its sole discretion), of the following conditions:

(a) The Lease shall have been terminated, effective as of Closing;
(b) The PDA shall have been terminated, effective as of Closing;

(©) Purchaser shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with
all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to
be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date; and

(d) No action, suit, claim or proceeding shall have been commenced against Purchaser
or Seller that would prevent the Closing, and no injunction or order of any Governmental Authority shall
be in effect that restrains or prohibits the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Seller represents and warrants to Purchaser as of the Effective Date as follows:
4.1 Organization, Qualification. Seller is a limited liability company duly organized, validly

existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly licensed, or qualified to
do business, and in good standing, in the State of Washington.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 76



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

4.2 Authorization; Validity. Seller has all requisite legal capacity and full power and authority
to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party and
to perform its obligations and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party. The execution, delivery, and performance by Seller
of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party and the consummation
by Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which
Seller is a party have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of Seller. This Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party have been duly executed and delivered by Seller
and, assuming the due authorization, execution, and delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to which Seller and Purchaser are parties, constitutes the legal, valid, and binding
obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with their terms, except as enforceability may
be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws now or in the future
in effect relating to creditors rights generally, and general equitable principles (whether considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law).

43 No Conflicts. The execution, delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which the Seller is a party, and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated thereby, do not and will not: (a) violate or conflict with any provision of the Organizational
Documents of Seller; (b) violate or conflict with any provision of any Applicable Law applicable to Seller
or the Purchased Assets; (c¢) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on the Purchased Assets.

4.4 Consents and Approvals. No registration or filing with, notice to, consent or approval of or
other action by, any Governmental Authority or any other Person is, or will be necessary for the execution,
delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

4.5 Purchased Assets. Seller is the sole owner of, and has good and valid title to, the Purchased
Assets, free and clear of all Liens.

4.6 Intellectual Property. To the Seller’s knowledge, the Palumbo Patent confers sufficient
intellectual property rights to run the Plant, without the risk of bona fide third-party patent infringement
claims.

ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser represents and warrants to Seller as of the Effective Date as follows:

5.1 Organization, Qualification. The Purchaser is a municipal corporation validly existing
under the laws of the State of Washington.

5.2 Authorization; Validity. Purchaser has all requisite legal capacity and full power and
authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Purchaser
is a party and to perform its obligations and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party. The execution, delivery, and
performance by Purchaser of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a
party and the consummation by Purchaser of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party have been duly authorized by all requisite action on
the part of Purchaser. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party
have been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and, assuming the due authorization, execution and
delivery by Seller of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party,

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 77



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in
accordance with their terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws now or in the future in effect relating to creditors rights
generally, and general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

53 No Conflicts. The execution, delivery, and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents to which the Purchaser is a party, and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated thereby, do not and will not (a) violate or conflict with any provision of the
Organizational Documents of Purchaser; (b) violate or conflict with any provision of any Applicable Law
applicable to Purchaser; or (¢) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under (with or without
notice or lapse of time, or both), result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate,
terminate, modify or cancel, or require any notice under any Contract, Lien or other arrangement to which
Purchaser is a party.

5.4 Consents and Approvals. Except for any such consents, approvals, or other actions that
have been obtained by Purchaser on or before the Closing Date, no registration or filing with, or consent or
approval of or other action by, any Governmental Authority or any other Person is necessary for the valid
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Purchaser.

ARTICLE 6
SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION

6.1 Survival. The representations and warranties given or made by a Party in this Agreement
or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Closing and continue in full
force and effect for six months from the Closing Date. No Party shall have any obligation or liability with
respect to any such representation or warranty after the end of the applicable survival period except for
claims of which the Party has been notified pursuant to this Article 6 prior to the end of the applicable
survival period. Each and every covenant contained in this Agreement (other than the covenants which by
their terms are to be performed by a Party following Closing (collectively, the “Surviving Covenants”))
shall terminate effective at the Closing; and neither of Seller or Purchaser shall have any Liability
whatsoever with respect to any such covenant thereafter. The Surviving Covenants will survive the Closing
Date until fully performed or observed in accordance with their respective terms.

6.2 Indemnification by Seller. Subject to the other provisions of this Article 6, and consistent
with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, from and after the Closing, Seller shall indemnify, defend and
hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates and Representatives (the “Purchaser Indemnified Parties”)
from and against all Claims, orders, assessments, losses, damages, penalties, fines, liabilities, amounts paid
in settlement, costs, fees, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) (collectively, “Damages’)
incurred by one or more Purchaser Indemnified Parties, to the extent caused by (a) the breach or inaccuracy
of any representation or warranty made or given by Seller in this Agreement, or in any certificate delivered
by Seller in connection with this Agreement, and (b) the breach by Seller of any covenant or agreement
made by Seller in this Agreement. To avoid any ambiguity or doubt, except for the representations and
warranties contained in Article 4, Seller is offering no warranties, express or implied, regarding the
condition of the Purchased Assets or the Plant, the suitability of the Plant for its intended purpose, its
merchantability, or other customary warranties offered by the sellers of new equipment.

6.3 Indemnification by Purchaser. Subject to the other provisions of this Article 6, from and
after the Closing, Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and
Representatives (the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) from and against all Damages asserted against,
imposed upon or incurred by one or more Seller Indemnified Parties, to the extent caused by, relating to,
arising out of or resulting from: (a) the breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made or

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 78



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

given by Purchaser in this Agreement or in any certificate delivered by Purchaser in connection with this
Agreement, or (b) the breach by Purchaser of any covenant or agreement made by Purchaser in this
Agreement.

6.4 Notice of Claims. An Indemnified Party shall promptly give notice to the indemnifying
Party (an “Indemnitor”) of any claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 6.2 or Section 6.3 (each, a
“Claim Notice”). Such Claim Notice shall specify whether the Claim arises as a result of a claim by a Third
Party against the Indemnified Party (a “Third Party Claim”), and shall also specify with reasonable
particularity (to the extent that the information is available) (a) the factual basis for the Claim, and (b) the
amount of the Claim, or, if an amount is not then determinable, an approximate and reasonable estimate of
the likely amount of the Claim. The failure to promptly provide such Claim Notice will not relieve the
Indemnitor of any obligation to indemnify the Indemnified Party, except to the extent that such failure
actually and materially prejudices the Indemnitor.

6.5 Direct Claims. With respect to any Claim by an Indemnified Party that is not a Third Party
Claim (a “Direct Claim”), the Indemnitor shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of the Claim Notice
to respond in writing to the Indemnified Party. During such thirty (30) day period, the Indemnified Party
shall allow the Indemnitor and its professional advisors to reasonably investigate the matter or circumstance
alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect
of the Direct Claim, and the Indemnified Party shall reasonably assist the Indemnitor’s investigation (at the
Indemnitor’s sole cost and expense) by giving such information and assistance as the Indemnitor’s or any
of its professional advisors may reasonably request. If the Indemnitor does not so respond within such thirty
(30) day period, then the Indemnitor shall be deemed to have rejected such Direct Claim, in which case the
Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available thereto on the terms and subject
to the provisions of this Agreement. Within fifteen (15) Business Days of the final determination of the
merits and amount of such Direct Claim, the Indemnitor’s shall pay the amount of such Direct Claim as
determined hereunder.

6.6 Third Party Claims Procedures. With respect to any Third Party Claim:

(a) The Indemnitor shall have the right, at its own expense, to participate in the
negotiation, settlement or defense of such Third Party Claim and, if the Indemnitor irrevocably confirms in
writing its obligation to indemnify the Indemnified Party for all Damages arising out of such Third Party
Claim, to assume control of the negotiation, settlement or defense of such Third Party Claim; provided,
however, that the Indemnitor shall not settle or compromise any Third Party Claim except with the prior
written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed) unless such settlement or compromise (i) involves only the payment of money, the full amount
of which is paid by the Indemnitor, (ii) includes a full and binding unconditional release of the Indemnified
Party, and (iii) does not include an admission of guilt or liability on the part of the Indemnified Party or
impose upon the Indemnified Party, or any of its Affiliates, any other liability, obligation or restriction.

(b) If the Indemnitor elects to assume such control, the Indemnitor shall keep the
Indemnified Party advised with respect to the Third Party Claim (including supplying copies of all relevant
documentation promptly as it becomes available), and the Indemnified Party (i) shall cooperate with the
Indemnitor, provided that all reasonable costs and expenses of such cooperation shall be borne by the
Indemnitor, (ii) shall have the right to disagree on reasonable grounds with the selection and retention of
counsel by Indemnitor, in which case counsel satisfactory to the Indemnitor and the Indemnified Party shall
be retained by the Indemnitor, and (iii) shall have the right to employ separate counsel and/or participate in
the defense of the Third Party Claim, but the fees and expenses of such counsel will not be included as part
of any Damages incurred by the Indemnified Party unless (A) such Indemnified Party has received an
opinion of counsel, reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitor, to the effect that the interests of the

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 79



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Indemnified Party and the Indemnitor with respect to the Third Party Claim are sufficiently adverse to
prohibit the representation by the same counsel of both parties under applicable ethical rules, or (B) the
employment of such counsel at the expense of the Indemnitor has been specifically authorized by the
Indemnitor. If the Indemnitor has assumed the defense of a Claim, then, while such Indemnitor is defending
such Claim, the Indemnified Party will not (and will cause its controlled Affiliates not to) admit any
Liability with respect to, settle, compromise or discharge any such Claim without the prior written consent
of the Indemnitor (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned).

(©) If the Indemnitor fails to assume control of a Third Party Claim in accordance with
this Section 6.6 in a timely manner or fails to diligently defend any such Third Party Claim in a timely
manner, the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to assume such control and to settle or compromise such
Third Party Claim, and the Indemnitor, at its sole expense, shall cooperate with the Indemnitor in relation
to such Third Party Claim. If the Indemnified Party assumes control of the defense of a Third Party Claim,
then it shall not consent to the entry of a judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect
to such claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnitor (which consent will not be unreasonably
withheld, delayed or conditioned).

6.7 Characterization of Indemnity Payments. Any payments made pursuant to this Article 6
shall constitute an adjustment of the Purchase Price for Tax purposes (and shall not be separately includable
as income of the recipient for Tax purposes) and shall be treated as such by Purchaser and Seller on their
Tax Returns to the extent permitted by Applicable Law.

6.8 Covenant not to Sue. The Parties acknowledge that the Seller is transferring to the
Purchaser all the Transferred Knowhow but is not transferring the Excluded Knowhow. The Seller
covenants that at no time will it, its successors or its assigns, directly or indirectly, commence, maintain, or
prosecute any Claim against Purchaser or any of its past or present directors, officers, employees,
successors, assigns, customers, manufacturers, distributors, licensees, or other transferees related to the
Transferred Knowhow. The Purchaser covenants that at no time will it, its successors or its assigns, directly
or indirectly, commence, maintain, or prosecute any Claim against Seller or any of its past or present
directors, officers, employees, successors, assigns, customers, manufacturers, distributors, licensees, or
other transferees related to the Excluded Knowhow or the Purchaser’s reliance on the Transferred
Knowhow.

6.9 Exclusive Remedy. From and after the Closing, the sole and exclusive remedy with respect
to any and all Claims arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article 6; provided, however,
that nothing in this Section 6.9 shall limit a Party’s right to seek and obtain any specific performance or
equitable relief for breach of any covenant set forth in this Agreement or a Party’s rights in the case of fraud
or willful misconduct.

ARTICLE 7
TAX MATTERS

7.1 Transfer Taxes. Purchaser shall pay all sales and use Taxes (including any penalties,
interest and additions to such Taxes) levied on the purchaser of assets under Applicable Law (collectively
“Purchaser “Transfer Taxes”). Other than the Purchaser Transfer Taxes, Seller shall pay all Taxes
(including any penalties, interest and additions to Tax) incurred as a result of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement under Applicable Law, including documentary, stamp, value added, registration, real
property transfer and other similar Taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other fees and
charges (collectively, the “Seller Transfer Taxes”). Each Party shall be responsible for preparing and
filing its respective Tax Returns or other applicable documents in connection therewith, to the extent

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 80



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

permitted by Applicable Law. Each Party shall cooperate with the other in the preparation and filing of all
Tax Returns or other applicable documents for or with respect to Transfer Taxes. The Parties shall cooperate
in good faith to minimize the amount of any Transfer Taxes.

7.2 Periodic Taxes. Seller shall be responsible for and shall pay all Periodic Taxes related or
attributable to (i) any Pre-Closing Tax Period and (ii) with respect to any Straddle Period, the product of
the entire amount of the Periodic Taxes for such Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of calendar days in such Straddle Period ending on (and including) the Closing Date
and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire Straddle Period. To the extent not filed on
or prior to the Closing Date, all Tax Returns relating to Periodic Taxes for Straddle Periods shall be filed
by Seller. Seller shall provide an accounting of any Straddle Period Periodic Taxes owed by the Seller to
Purchaser, or by Purchaser to Seller, as the case may be, and Seller shall pay to Purchaser, or Purchaser
shall pay to the Seller, as appropriate, (in immediately available funds) the total amount of Taxes due and
payable in respect of Straddle Periods reflected in each such accounting within 45 days after the accounting
is provided. Any Straddle Period returns prepared shall be completed in accordance with the past customs
and practices of Seller, except as otherwise required by Applicable Law, and Seller shall provide a draft of
any such return no later than ten (10) days prior to the due date of any such tax return filing.

7.3 Cooperation. The Parties shall reasonably cooperate, and shall cause their respective
Affiliates, officers, employees, agents, auditors and Representatives to reasonably cooperate, in preparing
and filing all Tax Returns, and in resolving all disputes and audits with respect to Taxes with any
Governmental Authority. Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the other Party’s request)
the provision of records and information reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation, or other
proceeding and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional
information and explanation of any material provided thereunder. The Parties agree (i) to retain all books
and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to Plant relating to any taxable period beginning on or
before the Closing Date until expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by Purchaser
or Seller, as the case may be, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all
record retention agreements entered into with any Taxing Authority, and (ii) to give the other Party
reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and records and, if
the other Party so requests, Purchaser or Seller, as the case may be, shall allow the other Party to take
possession of such books and records.

7.4 Tax Documentation. Prior to the Closing, at the request of Purchaser, Seller shall obtain
and provide to Purchaser a Tax Status Letter or other specified letter from the Washington State Department
of Revenue that is reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser.

7.5 Allocation of Purchase Price Among Asset Categories for Tax Purposes. The Parties shall
allocate the Purchase Price (and all other capitalized costs) among the Purchased Assets in accordance with
Schedule 7.5, which has been prepared in accordance with Section 1060 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (and any similar provisions of state or local law, as appropriate). Each of Seller and
Purchaser shall timely file, execute, prepare, and deliver any such documents or forms and other
information as are required to be filed by it in connection with such allocation.

ARTICLE 8
MISCELLANEOUS

8.1 Guild Confidential Information. Purchaser shall make good faith efforts to keep
confidential the information contained in the operating manuals and other materials designated as
“proprietary” or “confidential” by Guild. If Purchaser retains a third party to operate or maintain the Plant
or its equipment, the use by such third party of the operating manuals and other materials designated as

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 81



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

“proprietary” or “confidential” by Guild shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 8.1 as long as the
third party operator agrees, in a separate confidentiality agreement with Purchaser, to use its good faith
efforts to keep confidential the information contained in the operating manuals and other materials
designated as “proprietary” or “confidential” by Guild. Purchaser will provide copies of any such
agreements to Guild upon request. Purchaser covenants with Seller that it will enforce such agreements,
or allow Guild to do so, in accordance with Section 8.5. These covenants shall survive the Closing, and
shall remain in effect until such time, if ever, as Purchaser reaches an agreement with Guild regarding
ongoing protection of such Guild Confidential Information.

8.2 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each Party shall take, or cause to be taken,
such further actions, and shall execute, deliver, and file, or cause to be executed, delivered, and filed such
further documents and instruments, as the other Party may reasonably request in order to effectuate more
fully the purposes, intent, terms, and conditions of this Agreement.

8.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules) and other
Transaction Documents constitute the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the matters
contemplated in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and supersede all prior oral and
written agreements with respect to the matters contemplated in this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents. Each of the Exhibits and Schedules is an integral part of this Agreement and is made a part of
this Agreement by reference as if set forth in this Agreement in its entirety. In the event of any inconsistency
between the statements in the body of this Agreement, the Exhibits and Schedules hereto, and the other
Transaction Documents, the statements in the body of this Agreement shall control.

8.4 Amendment and Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be waived, modified
or amended except by written instrument executed by the Party against which such waiver,
modification or amendment is sought to be enforced. Neither the waiver by any Party of a breach of or a
default under any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor the failure of any Party, on one or more
occasions, to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement or to exercise any right or privilege
under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of a similar
nature, or as a waiver of any of such provisions, rights or privileges under this Agreement.

8.5 Third Party Beneficiaries. It is the explicit intention of the Parties that the
covenants, undertakings, and agreements set forth in this Agreement shall be solely for the benefit of,
and shall be enforceable only by, the Parties and, with respect to Article 6, any Indemnified Party, or
their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, that Section 8.1 shall be solely for the
benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, Guild, and not Seller.

8.6 Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, but neither this Agreement nor any of
the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned by either Party without the
prior written consent of the other Party, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of such
Party.

8.7 Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto shall be
in writing will be delivered personally, mailed by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return
receipt requested) or sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation of receipt) as follows:

If to Seller:

Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC

1110 Woodlands Road
Charlottesville, Virginia

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 82



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Attn: Charles J. Packard
Email: cpackard@INGENCOHOLDINGS.COM

with copy to, but not to meet notice requirements:

The Law Offices of Robert Rauch
25141 Star View Road

Mt. Vernon, Washington 98237
Attn: Robert Rauch

Email: Bob@rjrauch.com

If to Purchaser:

King County Department of Natural Resources & Parks
Solid Waste Division Director’s Office

201 S. Jackson Street, Suite 6400

Seattle, WA 98104

Attention: Christopher Stubbs, Deputy Director

Email: chstubbs@kingcounty.gov

with copy to, but not to meet notice requirements:

King County Civil Division - Prosecuting Attorney's Office
201 S. Jackson Street, Suite 6400

Seattle, WA 98104

Attention: Rich Anderson

Email: richanderson@kingcounty.gov

and

K&L Gates LLP

925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2900
Seattle, Washington 98104

Attention: Kari Vanderstoep

Email: Kari.vanderstoep@klgates.com

Each Party shall have the right to change the place to which notices shall be sent or delivered or to
specify additional addresses to which copies of notices may be sent, in either case by similar notice sent or
delivered in like manner to the other Party. Without limiting any other means by which a Party may be able
to prove that a notice has been received by the other Party, all notices and communications shall be deemed
to have been duly given: (a) at the time delivered by hand, if personally delivered; (b) on the fourth Business
Day after the day of mailing; (c) when received, if sent by electronic mail, if received prior to 5:00 p.m.,
recipient’s time, on a Business Day, or on the next Business Day, if received later than 5:00 p.m., recipient’s
time, or on a day that is not a Business Day; and (d) on the next Business Day after timely delivery to the
courier, if sent by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery.

8.8 Governing Law; Jurisdiction;

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 83


mailto:Brian.Evans@res-group.com
mailto:legalnotices@res-group.com
mailto:legalnotices@res-group.com
mailto:chstubbs@kingcounty.gov
mailto:legalnotices@res-group.com
mailto:richanderson@kingcounty.gov
mailto:legalnotices@res-group.com
mailto:Kari.vanderstoep@klgates.com

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
internal laws of the State of Washington without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or
rule (whether of the State of Washington or any other jurisdiction). Any legal suit, action, proceeding, or
dispute arising out of or related to this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, or the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents may be instituted in the federal court
of the United States of America located in the city of Seattle, and each Party irrevocably submits to the
exclusive jurisdiction of such court in any such suit, action, proceeding, or dispute.

8.9 Specific Performance. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any
provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and that
the Parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms of this Agreement, in addition to any other
remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

8.10 Expenses. Each Party shall pay its own expenses incident to this Agreement and
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the fees and expenses of legal counsel and
other consultants and advisers in connection with this Agreement and any agreement, document or
instrument required to be delivered under this Agreement.

8.11  Severability. If any part of any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement,
document or writing given pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement shall be invalid or
unenforceable under Applicable Law, said part shall be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or
unenforceability only, without in any way affecting the remaining parts of said provision or the remaining
provisions of this Agreement or such document.

8.12  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, by manual or
electronic signature, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together
constitute one and the same instrument and may be delivered by electronic means, which shall constitute
valid and effective delivery of this Agreement.

8.13  Delivery by Electronic Transmission. This Agreement and any agreement or instrument
entered into in connection with this Agreement, and any amendments or waivers hereto or thereto, to the
extent signed and delivered by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file, shall be treated in all manner
and respects as an original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same binding legal
effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. Neither Party hereto or to any
such agreement or instrument shall raise the use of e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file to deliver a
signature to this Agreement or any amendment or consent hereto or thereto or the fact that any signature or
agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data
file as a defense to the formation of a contract and each Party waives any such defense.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank. Signature pages follow.]

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 84



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Party has caused this Agreement to be duly and validly signed on
its behalf as of the date first set forth above.

SELLER:

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC

By:
Name: Charles J. Packard
Title: Chief Executive Officer

PURCHASER:

KING COUNTY

By:

Name: John Taylor

Title: Director, King County Department of Natural Resources
and Parks

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 85



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit A
Settlement Agreement

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 86



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASES

THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASES (“Agreement”) is made
and entered into by and between Plaintiff, Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC (“BEW” or
“Plaintiff) on the one hand; and Defendant King County, Washington (“King County” or
“Defendant”) on the other hand, and is effective the date it is executed by both parties
(“Effective Date”). The Plaintiff and Defendant may be referred to below individually as
a “Party,” and collectively as “the Parties.”

I. RECITALS

1.1 The Parties are currently involved in disputed litigation in the United States District
Court for the Western District of Washington (the “Court”), Case No. 2:23-cv-00542-LK
(the “Litigation”).

1.2 The Litigation arose, in part, from the Amended and Restated Project Development
and Gas Sales Agreement between the Parties dated February 29, 2008 (“PDA”).

1.3 BEW filed its complaint in the Litigation on April 7, 2023, its first amended
complaint on August 23, 2023, its second amended complaint on May 13, 2024, and its
third amended complaint on June 17, 2024.

1.4  King County filed its answer and affirmative defenses on May 3, 2023. King
County then filed its amended answer, affirmative defenses, and counterclaims on May 22,
2023; its second amended answer, affirmative defenses, and amended counterclaims on
August 24, 2023; its third amended answer, affirmative defenses, and second amended
counterclaims on September 6, 2023; its third amended answer, affirmative defenses, and
third amended counterclaims on May 9, 2024; and its fourth amended answer and fourth
amended counterclaims on July 8, 2024.

1.5 On March 4, 2025, the Parties agreed to material settlement terms with the
assistance of U.S. Magistrate Judge S. Kate Vaughan, which material settlement terms
were put on the record by Judge Vaughan and are the basis for the Settlement Agreement
set out below.

1.6 The Parties have entered into this Agreement to fully resolve all actual or potential
disputes between them related to the PDA and all actual or potential disputes between them
related to the Washington Public Records Act (“PRA™), whether the dispute could have
been included in the Litigation or otherwise, to avoid the expense, inconvenience, and
uncertainty of further action with respect to the Litigation, to achieve a full and complete
settlement of the Litigation, and to release each other from all claims and potential claims
as described in Paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of this Agreement.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 87



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by both Parties, the Parties mutually
promise and agree as follows:

II. DEFINITIONS

In the definitions that follow (and any throughout this Agreement), correlative
variations (e.g., tense or plural variants) apply with equal force and mean the same in
context as the enumerated terms that follow. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in
this Agreement shall have the meanings set out in PDA Schedule 1.1.

2.1 “Affiliate,” with respect to an Entity, means any Entity that now, or in the past, or
in the future directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is under common Control
with, or by such Entity.

2.2 “Control” of an Entity means the possession, directly or indirectly, through the
ownership of voting securities, voting interests, by contract, or otherwise, of the right to
direct or cause the direction of management or policies of that Entity. “Control” also
includes the following: (a) direct or indirect ownership of 50% or more of the voting
interests, securities, or equity of an Entity, (b) the direct or indirect ability to elect 50% or
more of the board of directors or other governing body for the Entity, or (c) in relation to a
partnership, limited liability company, or other unincorporated association, the direct or
indirect right to a share of 50% or more of its net assets or net income.

2.3 “Effective Date” has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble.

2.4  “Entity” includes an individual, as well as any organization, or organizational unit
(including, for example, a natural person, a corporation, association, partnership, business
trust, business unit, joint venture, limited liability company, proprietorship, or
unincorporated association).

2.5 “King County” means King County, a Washington municipal corporation, each of
its predecessors, successors, and permitted assigns.

2.6 “Litigation” means the Litigation, as defined in the Recitals above.
2.7 “Party” and “Parties” have the meaning ascribed to them in the preamble.

2.8  “PDA” means the Amended and Restated Project Development and Gas Sales
Agreement, as defined in the Recitals above.

29  “BEW” means Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, and its Affiliates, predecessors, successors, and assigns, and each Entity that
previously Controlled any such aforementioned Entity.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 2

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 88



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

2.10  “Plant” has the same definition as described in the PDA, Schedule 1.1, including
any new or replacement equipment installed by BEW since the execution of the PDA on
the Plant Site, but excluding the Plant Transmission Line which was previously conveyed
to Puget Sound Energy.

2.11 “Site ID” refers to both state and federal regulatory identification numbers as
provided in 40 C.F.R. §262.18 and WAC 173-303-060(1), which perform similar
functions. The Washington Hazardous Waste Management Act (“HWMA”) implements
the requirements of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”). The federal
regulations refer to generator ID numbers as an “EPA Identification number.” 40 C.F.R.
§262.18. Washington’s regulations refer to the same number as an “EPA/state
identification number.” WAC 173-303-060(1).

2.12  “Transfer Line” means the approximately “4-mile long high-pressure gas pipeline
from the Plant to the interconnection point on the Northwest Pipeline that was conveyed
by BEW to Puget Sound Energy in 2009. It is also referred to as the “Plant Transmission
Line” in the PDA.

III.  PLANT SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT, PLANT OPERATIONS,
AND DISMISSAL OF THE LITIGATION

3.1 BEW’s Offer to Sell the Plant to King County.

3.1.1 BEW offers to sell the Plant to King County for $70 million (‘“Purchase
Price”), on an “as is, where is,” basis, which Purchase Price includes all associated assets
and technologies. The Purchase Price also includes a non-exclusive, plant specific,
perpetual, irrevocable, transferable license on a permanent, royalty free basis for use of the
“Palumbo patent” (U.S. Patent No. 7,731,779) at the Plant, free of any third-party liens and
financial encumbrances. The License to use of the Palumbo patent shall extend to any
modifications, upgrades, or redevelopment efforts by King County during its ownership or
operation of the Plant, including without limitation any future assignment by King County
of such use rights to a third-party operator or owner of the Plant.

3.1.2 Purchase terms shall be all cash; closing by no later than August 29, 2025
(“Closing Date”). BEW’s representations and warranties will be limited to (i) good title to
the Plant, (i1) receipt of necessary authority from Ingenco Holdings to sell the Plant, (iii) a
representation that, to BEW’s knowledge, the Palumbo Patent confers sufficient
intellectual property rights to run the Plant, and (iv) the absence of any third-party
approvals required for the sale.

3.1.3 No indemnities will be offered by BEW, other than those related to a
violation of the foregoing representations and warranties. There will be no hold back of a
portion of the Purchase Price to support any indemnity obligations of BEW. If desired,
King County may purchase representations and warranties insurance, at its cost.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 3

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 89



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

3.2 BEW Shall Use Reasonable Commercial Efforts to Assist King County in
Executing an Agreement with Puget Sound Energy.

3.2.1 BEW shall use reasonable commercial efforts to assist King County in
executing an agreement with Puget Sound Energy (“PSE”) that will give King County
access to the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline (“PSE Pipeline Agreement”) for delivery
of pipeline quality gas upon King County becoming the Plant owner. Within five (5) days
of the execution of this Agreement, BEW shall provide King County with copies of all
agreements between BEW and PSE, Northwest Pipeline GP (“NWP”), and/or any of
NWP’s successors and assigns (including but not limited to the Gas Quality Monitoring
and Testing Agreement dated October 9, 2008 among BEW, PSE, and NWP). Any costs
of obtaining access to, and for use of, the Transfer Line shall be borne by King County.

3.3 Updated Non-Disclosure Agreement and Due Diligence Period

3.3.1 Subject to the terms of an updated Non-Disclosure Agreement between the
Parties, the initial draft of which will be presented by BEW to King County within three
(3) days of execution of this Agreement, King County will commence a period of two (2)
months of Due Diligence, starting no later than thirty (30) days after the execution of this
Settlement Agreement (“Due Diligence Period”). County shall give BEW written notice
of the commencement of the Due Diligence Period. Within five (5) days of the start of the
Due Diligence Period, BEW will provide King County with a complete description of any
and all material improvements, new equipment, replacements, or upgrades to the Plant
since it was originally constructed in 2009.

3.3.2 During the Due Diligence Period, County shall have the right to (i) review
information regarding the Plant and Plant operations, including the cost of operations, (ii)
review all financial records associated with Plant operations and gas sales, (iii) determine
whether the Palumbo Patent provides sufficient intellectual property for the County to
operate the Plant, and (iv) have access to the Plant to conduct engineering reviews at
reasonable times. During the Due Diligence Period, BEW shall make available the Plant
Manager, Plant Engineer, and other relevant BEW employees for due diligence questions,
as well as provide access to any documents and records related to Plant operations, and
provide responses to any questions related to such documents and records. BEW and
Ingenco agree to cooperate with King County’s reasonable due diligence efforts.

3.3.3 In addition, within the first thirty (30) days of the Due Diligence Period,
BEW will operate the Plant, consistent with normal commercial practice, for a minimum
of seven (7) consecutive days continuously, subject to King County complying with its
obligations under Exhibit 1 to this Agreement (“Demonstration Period”). The Parties will
mutually agree on the restart of the Plant and the commencement of the Demonstration
Period, with the expectation that it will commence early to mid- May 2025. Prior to the
start of the Demonstration Period, BEW will restart Plant operations for a sufficient period
of time prior to the Demonstration Period to enable King County to compile a waste profile

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 4

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 90



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

of the Plant Condensate so that King County may arrange for the lawful disposal of such
Plant Condensate, whether produced during the period when BEW restarts the Plant, or
during the Demonstration Period. Prior to the start of Plant operations, King County and
BEW will assess whether the Product Gas generated during the Plant operation for the
purposes of compiling a waste profile of the Plant Condensate can be flared by BEW. King
County and BEW will work cooperatively in good faith to make the required arrangements
with PSE for BEW to deliver the corresponding amount of Product Gas that is not flared
to the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline produced during the Due Diligence Period. For the
avoidance of any doubt, any agreement for BEW’s access to the Transfer Line/Northwest
Pipeline during the Demonstration Period, if required by PSE, will be called the “Due
Diligence Period Pipeline Access Agreement.”

3.3.4 During the Demonstration Period, King County will have the opportunity
to sample and evaluate Product Gas production volume and quality, including testing the
Product Gas to determine whether it contains arsenic or any other constituents that could
potentially prevent its injection into the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline, or otherwise
impact the sale of such Product Gas.

3.3.5 King County will assume full responsibility for, and pay all normal and
customary plant operating expenses related to the County’s requested operation of the Plant
by BEW during the Due Diligence Period, including disposal of any dangerous waste
contained in the Plant Condensate produced during such Due Diligence Period. BEW and
King County will work together to determine a mutually acceptable date that BEW will
restart the Plant.

3.3.6 Prior to the restart of the Plant, King County will enter into an interim and
temporary co-generator agreement with BEW under which King County will use its Site
ID to accept liability for, and establish financial responsibility for the disposal of any
dangerous waste generated during the Due Diligence Period, including indemnification of
BEW by King County for any liability associated with the generation, regulatory
obligations for handling, and the disposal of dangerous waste produced at the Plant during
the Due Diligence Period (“Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement”). A draft of
such Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement shall be provided to BEW by the
County within fifteen (15) days of execution of this Agreement. The Interim and
Temporary Co-Generator Agreement will survive even in the event that the purchase of the
Plant under the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement described below (“P&S Agreement”)
does not close, and this Settlement Agreement is terminated.

3.3.7 King County acknowledges that BEW is subject to an order from the Puget
Sound Clean Air Agency (“PSCAA”) that requires stack testing of the 18 Detroit Diesel
Series 60 engine generator sets installed by BEW to convert “tail gas” from Plant
operations into electricity. That testing is required by Notice of Construction 12185, the
air permit issued by PSCAA to BEW covering installation and operation of such engine
generator sets, and must be completed within thirty (30) days of restart of the Plant. BEW
will use its best efforts to obtain from PSCAA a waiver of such testing requirements until

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 5

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 91



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

such time as the Plant is restarted by the County following closing on the purchase of the
Plant.

3.3.8 In the event BEW cannot obtain the foregoing waiver from PSCAA, BEW
will use reasonable efforts to schedule and complete the stack testing during the
Demonstration Period, recognizing that there is no guarantee that BEW will be able to do
so, given the need to involve a qualified third-party contractor, and the strict requirements
of the test protocol. BEW will assume responsibility for the cost of the stack testing,
subject to the County’s continued compliance with its obligations under Exhibit 1. BEW
anticipates that the stack testing will take approximately one week to complete. Failure of
BEW to obtain a waiver from PSCAA, or failure to timely complete stack testing, does not
limit or otherwise excuse BEW from its obligation under this Agreement to complete the
Demonstration Period.

3.3.9 Should BEW elect to undertake the stack testing, but be unable to complete
such stack testing during the Demonstration Period, BEW may, at its cost, extend Plant
operations beyond the Demonstration Period until the stack testing requirements are
completed. County shall continue to be responsible for the disposal of Plant Condensate
generated during the extended Plant operating period (as long as it does not extend beyond
the Due Diligence Period), per the terms of the Interim and Temporary Co-Generator
Agreement.

3.3.10 BEW will keep the County advised of its efforts to schedule the stack testing
required by the air permit. If BEW is unable to schedule the stack testing within the
deadlines established in this Agreement for the initial Plant restart, Demonstration Period,
and Due Diligence Period, understanding that the stack testing must occur within thirty
(30) days of the initial Plant restart, King County and BEW will work together in good
faith to amend the deadlines in this Agreement for the Demonstration Period, Due
Diligence Period, Closing Date, and any other impacted deadlines, to ensure that BEW
operates the Plant as required by this Agreement during the Demonstration Period prior to
the close of Due Diligence. The Parties acknowledge and agree that BEW has the right not
to restart the Plant until it is comfortable that the stack testing can be performed by a
qualified contractor within thirty (30) days of Plant restart or as required by PSCAA.

34 The Parties Will Negotiate the Terms of the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement
and Sign the Agreement.

3.4.1 Within fifteen (15) days of execution of this Agreement by the Parties, King
County will provide BEW a draft of the proposed P&S Agreement, and BEW will provide
King County the proposed License Agreement.

3.4.2 King County and BEW will use their best efforts to reach agreement on the
terms of the proposed P&S Agreement within forty-five (45) days of submission of the
draft agreement by King County to BEW. Following confirmation by email from Charles
Packard, C.E.O. of BEW, and John Taylor, Director of the County Department of Natural

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 6

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 92



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Resources and Parks (“DNRP”), that they agree to the terms of the proposed P&S
Agreement, the King County Executive will then present, as soon as practicable, to the
King County Council, and recommend adoption of, an ordinance or ordinances providing
authorization to sign the proposed P&S Agreement and requesting a supplemental
appropriation for the funds necessary to fulfill the terms of this Agreement and the P&S
Agreement (together, the “Appropriation Ordinance”).

3.4.3 The Appropriation Ordinance will include a $5 million payment to BEW to
settle the Litigation. The $5 million payment does not establish that either Party was a
Prevailing Party for the purposes of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1988, and shall not serve as
justification for BEW to recover attorneys’ fees in association with its Section 1983 claim.
To avoid any doubt, BEW expressly waives all rights to seek any attorneys’ fees under 42
U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1988, or under any other source or authority that provides for
attorneys’ fees. The foregoing waiver shall not survive the County’s failure to close on the
P&S Agreement and complete the purchase of the Plant, and BEW expressly reserves such
rights should the Litigation resume. The $5 million payment will be transferred to BEW at
the time of the closing on the P&S Agreement. If the transaction does not close for any
reason, BEW will not be entitled to the $5 million payment, and the Litigation shall
promptly proceed to trial, as determined by the Court.

3.4.4 The obligation of the County to purchase the Plant is expressly conditioned
upon approval by the King County Council of the proposed P&S Agreement and the
appropriation of the Purchase Price by the King County Council. King County shall use its
best efforts, to present the proposed P&S Agreement, and to introduce, for Council
approval, the Appropriation Ordinance for the Purchase Price, as defined in Section 3.4.2
above.

3.4.5 Within fifteen (15) days after the execution of this Settlement Agreement,
King County shall place a $3 million earnest money payment (“Earnest Money Payment”)
in escrow with an escrow company mutually acceptable to the Parties, pursuant to the terms
of a mutually acceptable escrow agreement (“Escrow Agreement”). King County will
provide the draft of the proposed Escrow Agreement and the name of the proposed escrow
agent to BEW within five (5) days of execution of this Settlement Agreement. BEW shall
respond to King County within three (3) days of receipt of the proposed Escrow
Agreement.

3.4.6 If the Parties are unable to agree on the proposed escrow agent and/or the
terms of the Escrow Agreement, the County shall pay the $3 million Earnest Money
Payment into the Court Registry within fifteen (15) days after execution of this Settlement
Agreement, and the distribution of the Earnest Money Payment shall be governed by the
terms of this Agreement. To the extent that Court orders are required to implement the
foregoing, the County and BEW will work together in good faith to obtain such orders
from Judge Vaughan on a timely basis, per the guidance previously provided by Judge
Vaughan.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 7

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 93



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

3.4.7 Distribution of the Earnest Money Payment shall be as follows:

3.4.7.1 King County shall be entitled to recover its Earnest Money Payment
if (1) the Parties fail to agree on the terms of the proposed P&S Agreement; (ii) the Parties
fail to agree on the terms of the Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement; (iii)
King County terminates the transaction within the Due Diligence Period, including and
without limitation, based on its assessment of Plant operations during the Demonstration
Period; (iv) King County terminates the transaction because BEW is unable to operate the
Plant for seven (7) consecutive days continuously during the Demonstration Period for
reasons other than the County’s failure to comply with its obligations under Exhibit 1; or
(v) King County terminates the transaction because it has been unable to execute the PSE
Pipeline Agreement for access to the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline.

3.4.7.2 BEW shall be entitled to payment of the Earnest Money Payment
only if: (1) King County does not terminate the transaction for the previously stated reasons
in Paragraph 3.4.7.1, and (i1) the King County Council does not approve the Appropriation
Ordinance by the Closing Date.

3.4.8 The terms of this Agreement (other than the provisions of Sections 3.3.6,
3.4.5, 3.4.6 and 3.4.7) shall have no force or effect, and the Litigation shall promptly
proceed to trial as determined by the Court, if any one of the following conditions is met:
(1) the Parties fail to agree on the terms of the proposed P&S Agreement, (ii) the Parties
fail to agree on the terms of the Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement, (iii) the
King County Council does not enact the Appropriation Ordinance by the Closing Date, (iv)
King County terminates the transaction during the Due Diligence Period, including and
without limitation, based on its assessment of Plant operations during the Demonstration
Period, (v) King County terminates because BEW is unable to operate the Plant for seven
(7) consecutive days continuously during the Demonstration Period for reasons other than
the County’s failure to comply with its obligations set out in Exhibit 1, or (vi) King County
terminates the transaction because it is unable to execute the PSE Pipeline Agreement for
access to the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline.

3.4.9 Conditions Precedent to Closing under the P&S Agreement are: (i) BEW shall
terminate the PDA and Lease agreements with King County, (i1) King County executes the
PSE Pipeline Agreement for access to the Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline as the Plant
owner, (ii1) all permits, approvals, entitlements, or licenses possessed by BEW that are
needed to operate the Plant are assigned or transferred by BEW to King County, (iv) the
Parties execute a License Agreement for the Palumbo patent, (v) BEW withdraws all open
or pending PRA Requests to King County, and (vi) County returns the original of the
$500,000 letter of credit furnished by BEW as security for BEW’s compliance with the
terms of the PDA, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 2 hereto, or in the event that the
original cannot be located, the County will enter into an agreement establishing that the
letter of credit is null and void.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 8

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 94



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

3.5 Plant Operation Assistance.

3.5.1 BEW shall provide King County with operating assistance for up to sixty
(60) days after the closing of the purchase and restart of the Plant, subject to King County
reimbursing BEW for all normal and customary costs of its operating personnel who are
assisting King County. BEW will continue to exist during this 60-day period to provide
such operating assistance and will use reasonable efforts to keep its Plant Manager, Plant
Engineer, and key operating personnel employed by BEW during the time period from
signing of this Settlement Agreement through such 60-day period following closing of the
purchase, or until such time that the Plant Manager, Plant Engineer, and/or other key
operating personnel are hired by King County. King County agrees not to offer any BEW
employees or consultants employment until the confirmation by email of Charles Packard,
C.E.O. of BEW, and John Taylor, Director of DNRP, as to agreement on the terms of the
proposed P&S Agreement.

3.6 Suspension and Dismissal of Pending Actions. The Parties agree to dismiss all
claims in the Litigation as follows:

3.6.1 The current Litigation will be stayed upon execution of this Settlement
Agreement, until the earlier to occur of the following events (i) the Parties fail to agree on
the terms of the proposed P&S Agreement, (ii) the Parties fail to agree on the terms of the
Interim and Temporary Co-Generator Agreement, (iii) the King County Council does not
enact the Appropriation Ordinance by the Closing Date, (iv) King County terminates the
transaction during the Due Diligence Period, including and without limitation, based on its
assessment of Plant operations during the Demonstration Period, (v) King County
terminates because BEW is unable to operate the Plant for seven (7) consecutive days
continuously during the Demonstration Period for reasons other than the County’s failure
to comply with its obligations under Exhibit 1, or (vi) King County terminates the
transaction because it is unable to execute the PSE Pipeline Agreement for access to the
Transfer Line/Northwest Pipeline. Upon the occurrence of any of these events, the
Litigation will resume pursuant to the contingent case schedule ordered by the Court.
County will give BEW prompt written notice of the alleged failure of any of the foregoing
conditions.

3.6.2 Final dismissal of the Litigation with prejudice will occur upon closing
under the P&S Agreement by King County and payment by King County to BEW of $5
million in settlement of the Litigation. With no additional payments by the Parties, BEW,
Ingenco, and King County will release each other from all claims, consistent with the
Releases in Paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 below. The Parties shall reserve and retain their full
legal rights against each other, pending final dismissal of the Litigation.

3.6.3 Within five (5) business days following the completion of requirements in
Paragraphs 3.1-3.6.2 above, BEW shall provide to King County a draft stipulated order of
dismissal of the Litigation, dismissing all claims and counterclaims in the Litigation, with
prejudice and without costs and attorneys’ fees. Within two (2) business days of receipt,

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 9

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 95



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

King County will review and execute, or provide a revised draft stipulated order of
dismissal of the Litigation to BEW. BEW agrees to file the executed dismissal stipulation
within one business day after both Parties have executed same.

3.6.4 Each Party represents and warrants to the other that it has commenced no
actions, claims or complaints against the other Party, other than those specified in this
Agreement.

3.6.5 Each Party covenants that it will use its best efforts, and negotiate in good
faith with each other, and any required third parties, to satisfy its respective obligations
hereunder.

IV.  RELEASES, WITHDRAWALS, AND TERMINATION

4.1 Release of BEW/Ingenco. Upon closing on the P&S Agreement described in
Section III, and with no additional payment by the Parties, King County, on behalf of itself
and its representatives, successors, and assigns, hereby voluntarily and irrevocably releases
BEW/Ingenco and its predecessors, executors, administrators, officers, directors, members,
employees, attorneys, insurers, and agents (but only to the extent such agents are
representing, have represented or will represent directly or indirectly BEW/Ingenco) from
any and all claims, actions, causes of action, obligations, demands, rights to
reimbursement, public or private injunctive relief, disgorgement, restitution, costs,
attorneys’ fees, or expenses of any nature, and any other rights or liabilities, whether based
upon any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance, or regulation, or upon any contract,
common law source, or any other source, whether matured or unmatured, contingent or
non-contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, known or unknown, asserted or unasserted,
which King County may now have, or may ever have, that arise out of, or are in any way
connected with, the facts, allegations, and/or causes of action stated in (i) BEW’s Third
Amended Complaint, (i) King County’s Fourth Amended Answer and Fourth Amended
Counterclaims, and (iii) the PDA. The release contained in this paragraph is intended to be
broad and expressly includes all claims arising from or related to the formation and
execution of this Agreement, including claims alleging this Settlement Agreement was
induced by misrepresentation of any kind. To be clear, however, this release does not apply
to any claims relating to the performance of this Agreement, including those obligations
set forth above in Section III.

4.2 Release of King County. Upon closing on the P&S Agreement described in Section
11, and with no additional payment by the Parties, BEW/Ingenco, on behalf of itself and
its representatives, successors, and assigns, hereby voluntarily and irrevocably releases
King County and its predecessors, executors, administrators, officers, directors, members,
employees, attorneys, insurers, and agents (but only to the extent such agents are
representing, have represented or will represent directly or indirectly King County) from
any and all claims, actions, causes of action, obligations, demands, rights to
reimbursement, public or private injunctive relief, disgorgement, restitution, costs,
attorneys’ fees, or expenses of any nature, and any other rights or liabilities, whether based

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 10

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 96



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

upon any federal, state, or local law (including Washington’s PRA), statute, ordinance, or
regulation, or upon any contract, common law source, or any other source, whether matured
or unmatured, contingent or non-contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, known or
unknown, asserted or unasserted, which BEW/Ingenco may now have, or may ever have,
that arise out of, or are in any way connected with, the facts, allegations, and/or causes of
action stated in (i) BEW’s Third Amended Complaint, (ii) King County’s Fourth Amended
Answer and Fourth Amended Counterclaims, (iii) the PDA, and (iv) the PRA. The release
contained in this paragraph is intended to be broad and expressly includes all claims arising
from or related to the formation and execution of this Agreement, including claims alleging
this Settlement Agreement was induced by misrepresentation of any kind. To be clear,
however, this release does not apply to any claims relating to the performance of this
Agreement, including those obligations set forth above in Section III.

4.3  No Admission of Liability. It is agreed and understood that the considerations
herein provided are given in compromise and settlement of claims asserted against King
County and BEW, and the Parties continue to deny liability. All claims remain disputed
as to liability and damages, and neither the entry into, nor the performance of, this
Agreement shall be determined to constitute any admission by the Parties. The Parties
agree that neither Party shall be a Prevailing Party for the purposes of any attorneys’ fees,
including under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and § 1988 or any other source or authority which
provides for the Prevailing Party to recover attorneys’ fees.

44  Withdrawal and Suspension of Public Records Act (“PRA”) Requests. Upon
execution of the Settlement Agreement, BEW shall suspend all pending PRA requests to
the County, and not file any new PRA requests, until the earlier of (i) resumption of the
Litigation per the terms of this Agreement, or (i1) the closing of the Plant purchase under
the P&S Agreement, whereupon all pending BEW requests under the PRA shall be
withdrawn. Upon closing of the Plant purchase under the P&S Agreement, BEW and
Ingenco shall release King County from any and all claims under the PRA as described in
Paragraph 4.2.

4.5 Termination of the PDA and Lease. The PDA and the Lease shall terminate upon
the closing of the purchase of the Plant by King County.

V. COVENANTS NOT TO SUE

5.1 King County, on the one hand, and BEW, on the other, covenant and agree not to
sue, threaten to sue, demand, or voluntarily cooperate with, instruct, encourage, aid, or
consent to a third party suing or threatening to sue, or otherwise to seek to enforce any
obligation that any Party has to the other, except as set forth and permitted under this
Agreement. Each of the Parties further agrees not to indemnify, fund, support, or in any
other way assist or facilitate a third party in the prosecution or defense of any litigation or
claim against or by a Party.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 11

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 97



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

VI. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

6.1 Representations and Warranties by King County. King County represents and
warrants that:

6.1.1 It has the full power, right, and authority to execute and deliver the
Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement according to its terms;

6.1.2 The execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions required by the Agreement will not violate or conflict with any charter,
provision, or bylaw it may have;

6.1.3 It has taken all required official actions to approve and adopt this
Agreement;

6.1.4 The person executing this Agreement on behalf of King County is duly
authorized and empowered to do so;

6.1.5 No claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter released herein, and no
portion of any such claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter, has been assigned or
otherwise transferred by King County to any other Entity, either directly, indirectly, or by
subrogation or operation of law;

6.1.6 King County has been represented by competent and independent counsel
of its own choice throughout all negotiations preceding the execution of this Agreement,
and has executed this Agreement upon the advice of said competent and independent
counsel regarding the meaning and legal effect of this Agreement, and regarding the
advisability of agreeing to the terms and conditions herein, and fully understands the same;
and

6.1.7 King County has not filed any claims against BEW other than the claims in
the Litigation.

6.2  Representations and Warranties by BEW. BEW represents and warrants that:

6.2.1 It has the full power, right, and authority to execute and deliver the
Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement according to its terms;

6.2.2 The execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions required by the Agreement will not violate or conflict with any charter,
provision, or bylaw BEW may have;

6.2.3 It has taken all required company actions to approve and adopt this
Agreement;

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 12

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 98



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

6.2.4 The person executing the Agreement on behalf of BEW is duly authorized
and empowered to do so;

6.2.5 No claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter released herein, and no
portion of any such claim, demand, cause of action, or other matter, has been assigned or
otherwise transferred by BEW to any other Entity, either directly, indirectly, or by
subrogation or operation of law;

6.2.6 BEW has been represented by competent and independent counsel of its
own choice throughout all negotiations preceding the execution of this Agreement, and has
executed this Agreement upon the advice of said competent and independent counsel
regarding the meaning and legal effect of this Agreement, and regarding the advisability of
agreeing to the terms and conditions herein, and fully understands the same; and

6.2.7 BEW has not filed any litigation against King County other than the claims
in the Litigation.

6.3 Mutual Representations and Warranties. Other than the representations expressly
set out in this Agreement, the Parties represent and warrant to each other that they have not
relied upon any representation, statement, or omission made at any time by the other Party,
or any information or documents provided at any time by the other Party, in entering into
this Agreement. The Parties recognize that they may discover information in the future
relating to the Litigation, the PDA, or any aspect of the Parties’ relationships that could
change their willingness to enter into this Agreement upon the terms contained herein. The
Parties nevertheless recognize that the consideration and terms in this Agreement are based
upon the understanding that each Party is providing releases, representations and covenants
under the terms of this Agreement, including releases of any and all claims based upon
fraudulent inducement of this Agreement and claims based upon information that was not
known to a Party at the time of this Agreement. The Parties recognize that this Agreement
releases claims that a Party may not know of, or suspect to exist, in its favor at the time of
this Agreement, which if known to the Party would or could materially affect that Party’s
desire to enter into this Agreement upon the terms contained herein. The Parties
nevertheless have decided to proceed to enter into this Agreement on the terms contained
herein. THE PARTIES FURTHER ALLOCATE THE RISK OF ANY MISTAKES BY
EITHER PARTY IN ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT TO THE PARTY WHO
LATER CLAIMS IT WAS MISTAKEN.

VII. ASSIGNABILITY, SUCCESSORS, AND ASSIGNS

7.1 No Transfer. Neither Party may transfer, grant, or assign any rights or delegate any
duties under this Agreement to any third party without the prior written consent of the other
Party, and any such attempted assignment without such consent shall be null and void.

7.2 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit
of, and be enforceable by, the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 13

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 99



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

VIII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

8.1 Breach of Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement does not affect
their respective rights to seek any relief to which they may be entitled as a result of any
breach of this Agreement by the other Party, subject to the terms and conditions herein.
The Parties also agree that any disputes under this Agreement that cannot be resolved by
the Parties will be referred to U.S. Magistrate Judge S. Kate Vaughan for final resolution,
consistent with Judge Vaughan’s prior guidance to the Parties.

8.2 Applicable Law. The Parties agree that this Agreement and its terms and conditions
shall be subject to, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Washington,
without respect to conflict of laws provisions.

8.3  Exclusive Jurisdiction. The Parties expressly acknowledge and agree that (i) their
respective releases contained in Paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of this Agreement and (ii) their
consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts of King County,
Washington, are material provisions of this Agreement. The Parties further expressly
acknowledge and agree that the pursuit of any action, claim or demand subject to the
releases contained in Paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of this Agreement, in any jurisdiction,
including an action or claim alleging that this Agreement was fraudulently induced, would
cause the other Party irreparable harm, and that the defending party would have no
adequate remedy at law. If a Party pursues any action or claim subject to the releases
contained in Paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of this Agreement, in any jurisdiction, including an
action or claim alleging that this Agreement was fraudulently induced, the Parties hereby
consent to the entry of an injunction by the state or federal courts of King County,
Washington, prohibiting such Party from prosecuting such action or claim in any
jurisdiction.

IX. MISCELLANEOUS

9.1  No Relationship Created. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be deemed
to constitute or create a partnership, agency, employer-employee, or joint venture
relationship between any Entities.

9.2 Effective Date and Time. This Agreement is not to be effective or binding on either
of the Parties unless and until it has been executed by, or on behalf of, each Party.

9.3 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, or otherwise in conflict with
law, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect. If any provision of this
Agreement is deemed illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, or otherwise in conflict with law,
it shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to make it legal, valid, or enforceable,
or otherwise in accordance with law, unless such modification would be contrary to, or

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 14

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 100



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

materially inconsistent with, another provision of this Agreement, or the intent of the
Parties.

9.4 Captions. Captions or headings used in this Agreement are for the convenience of
the Parties only, and shall not be considered part of this Agreement, or used to construe the
terms of this Agreement.

9.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior and
contemporaneous written or oral agreements or communications as to such subject matter,
including the material settlement terms described in Paragraph 1.5, all of which are merged
and fully integrated into this Agreement. It shall not be modified except by a written
agreement dated subsequent to the Effective Date, and signed on behalf of the Parties by
their respective duly authorized representatives.

9.6  Counterparts and Facsimile or Electronic Signatures. This Agreement may be
executed in two or more counterparts by the Parties, or in separate counterparts, and each
such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together
constitute but one and the same Agreement. Execution of this Agreement may be
accomplished by signing this Agreement and transmitting the signature page by facsimile
or email to the other Party.

9.7  Costs. Each Party shall bear its own costs, expenses, and attorneys’ fees incurred
in connection with the Litigation, the making of this Agreement, and its performance under
this Agreement.

9.8  No Construction Against Drafter. This Agreement has resulted from negotiations
between the Parties and their respective legal counsel, and each Party acknowledges that it
has had the opportunity to negotiate modifications to the language of this Agreement.
Accordingly, each Party agrees that in any dispute regarding the interpretation or
construction of this Agreement, no statutory, common law, or other presumption shall
operate in favor of, or against either Party hereto, by virtue of its role in drafting or not
drafting the terms and conditions set forth herein.

9.9  No Waiver. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall
constitute a waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver
constitute a continuing waiver unless expressly stated in writing by the Party making the
waiver. No waiver of any provision shall be binding in any event unless executed in writing
by the Party making the waiver.

9.10 Compromise Only. This Agreement is entered into for purposes of settlement and
compromise only. Nothing contained in this Agreement, or done or omitted in connection
with this Agreement, is intended as or shall be construed as an admission of, or by, either
of the Parties, their Affiliates, or any other Entity of any fault, liability, act, omission, or
wrongdoing whatsoever.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 15

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 101



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

9.11 Non-exhaustive Lists. Unless otherwise indicated, instances of “including” and
“includes” (or other variants) are to be given an open-ended and non-exhaustive meaning
(e.g., without limitation).

9.12 Full Understanding; Independent Legal Counsel. EACH PARTY THAT
EXECUTES THIS AGREEMENT REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT IT: HAS
CAREFULLY READ AND FULLY UNDERSTANDS THIS AGREEMENT AND ITS
FINAL AND BINDING EFFECT; HAS BEEN AFFORDED SUFFICIENT TIME AND
OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT WITH ADVISORS OR
ATTORNEYS OF ITS CHOICE; HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO NEGOTIATE
WITH REGARD TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT; IS FULLY COMPETENT
TO MANAGE ITS OWN BUSINESS AFFAIRS AND TO ENTER INTO OR SIGN THIS
AGREEMENT; HAS SIGNED THIS AGREEMENT KNOWINGLY, FREELY AND
VOLUNTARILY; AND THAT THE ONLY PROMISES MADE TO INDUCE IT TO
SIGN THIS AGREEMENT AND RELEASE ARE THOSE STATED HEREIN.

WHEREFORE, the Parties hereby acknowledge their agreement and consent to the terms
and conditions set forth above through their respective signatures below.

King County, a municipal corporation

@:&vj b%u?w

7C94D6BEFACDAAD... DATED: 3/19/2025
By: John Taylor, Director King County Department of
Natural Resources and Parks

Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC

DocuSigned by:

(harles ). Packard DATED: 3/20/2025

41E1A34D86FE4418.

By: Charles J. Packard, C.E.O. of Bio-Energy
(Washington), LLC

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 16

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 102



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit 1
Conditions for the Operation of the BEW Plant during the Due Diligence Period.

After restarting the Plant and allowing Plant operation conditions to stabilize, BEW will,
subject to the County meeting its obligations set out below, operate the Plant
continuously for seven consecutive days (168 hours).

The County will operate at least one booster blower during this period to provide
adequate inlet landfill gas pressure to the Plant, per the terms of the PDA.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Plant has a maximum nitrogen removal
capability. The Parties further acknowledge that excessive oxygen (O2) in the incoming
landfill gas will cause an automatic plant safety shutdown (“trip”). Additionally, the
Parties also acknowledge and agree that there is a maximum amount of landfill gas that
the Plant can process, irrespective of N2 or O2 levels. Finally, the Parties acknowledge
that there are specifications applicable to Product Gas sent to the Northwest Pipeline that
include limitations on oxygen and nitrogen.

For all of the foregoing reasons, prior to the start of the Demonstration Period, BEW will
ramp up Plant operations incrementally (turning off the NFS flares one at a time) in order
to achieve the highest stage of operations that allows BEW to (i) still meet the Product
Gas specifications established by the Northwest Pipeline, and (ii) maintain adequate
safety margins. If that means that the Plant can achieve Stage 5 (i.e. no NFS flares
operating), BEW will seek to maintain that level of operation.

If the highest stage BEW can achieve while still meeting the Product Gas specifications
and plant safety requirements is Stage 4, or lower, BEW will maintain that level of
operations until the contents of the incoming landfill gas improve enough to allow BEW
to move to a higher stage of operation. The foregoing adjustment process shall continue
throughout the Demonstration Period with the objective of maintaining continuous Plant
operation during the period.

If BEW cannot attain Stage 5, or having attained it, must reduce operations to below
Stage 5 due to the foregoing limitations, the Parties will work cooperatively to return to
Stage 5 as quickly as possible during the Demonstration Period. If Plant operations drop
below Stage 3, the Parties will pause the Demonstration Period and resume when BEW is
able to return to Stage 3 or higher. For the avoidance of any doubt, the Demonstration
Period will not start again at hour 1 of the 168 hours. Instead, if the Plant has operated
for 20 hours before dropping below Stage 3, when the Plant returns to Stage 3 operations
again, the Demonstration Period will pick up at hour 20.

BEW will also prepare a written report at the end of the Demonstration Period
summarizing the Plant operations during the period and explaining all of the potential

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 17

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 103



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

reasons known to BEW at that time that it could not maintain Stage 5 operations at any
time during the Demonstration Period, including whether the failure to meet Stage 5 was
due to the Product Gas specifications established by the Northwest Pipeline, malfunctions
of Plant equipment, the quality or quantity of the landfill gas delivered by King County,
or any other reason or combination of reasons. Such report must be delivered to King
County no later than five (5) business days prior to the close of the Due Diligence Period.
BEW makes no representations or warranties as to the suitability of the Plant to operate at
Stage 5.

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 18

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 104



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit 2

Letter of Credit

Settlement Agreement & Releases - 19

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 105



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Global Trade Services

131 South Dearbomn, 5th Floor
Mail Code: IL1-0236
Chicago, IL 60603-5506

JUN 1, 2016
OUR L/C NO.: CTCS-711023

TO: APPLICANT:

KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, BIO ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC
A WASHINGTON MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 2250 DABNEY ROAD

KING ST. CENTER RICHMOND, VA 23230

201 SOUTH JACKSON, SUITE 701
SEATTLE, WA 98104-3855

WE HAVE ESTABLISHED OUR IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IN YOUR FAVOR
AS DETAILED HEREIN SUBJECT TO ISP98

DOCUMENTARY CREDIT NUMBER: CTCS-711023
FURTHER IDENTIFICATION: ISSUE

BENEFICIARY: KING COUNTY WASHINGTON,
A WASHINGTON MUNICIPAL CORPORATION
KING ST. CENTER
201 SOUTH JACKSON, SUITE 701
SEATTLE, WA 98104-3855 '

APPLICANT: BIO ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC
2250 DABNEY ROAD
RICHMOND, VA 23230

DATE AND PLACE OF EXPIRY: APRIL 21, 2017
AT OUR COUNTER

DOCUMENTARY CREDIT AMOUNT: UsD500, 000.00
AVAILABLE WITH: JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

CHICAGO, IL

BY PAYMENT
FUNDS UNDER THIS CREDIT ARE AVAILABLE AGAINST PRESENTATION OF THE
BENEFICIARY'S SIGNED AND DATED STATEMENT REFERENCING OUR LETTER OF CREDIT
NO. CTCS-711023, STATING THE AMOUNT OF THE DEMAND AND READING AS FOLLOWS:
"I (STATE NAME AND TITLE) HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I AM A REPRESENTATIVE OF

154152 Dianne Leonard
Page | of 3

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 106




ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Global Trade Services

131 South Dearbom, 5th Floor
Mail Code: IL1-0236
Chicago, TL 60603-5506

JUN 1, 2016
OUR L/C NO.: CTCS-711023

KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, A WASHINGTON MUNCIPAL CORPORATION ("BENEFICIARY")
AUTHORIZED TO EXECUTE THIS STATEMENT AND THAT THE AMOUNT OF THE
ACCOMPANING DRAFT REPRESENTS FUNDS DUE US AS BIO ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC
("APPLICANT") HAS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN BIO ENERGY
(WASHINGTON) , LLC AND KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, A WASHINGTON MUNCIPAL
CORPORATION. WE HEREBY DEMAND THE AMOUNT OF USD——=———————————— UNDER
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CTCS-711023."

THE EXPIRATION DATE OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT WILL BE AUTOMATICALLY
EXTENDED WITHOUT AMENDMENT FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR FROM THE EXPIRATION
DATE HEREOF, OR ANY FUTURE EXPIRATION DATE, UNLESS AT LEAST NINETY (90)
DAYS PRIOR TO THE THEN CURRENT EXPIRATION DATE, WE SEND NOTICE TO
BENEFICIARY BY OVERNIGHT COURIER AT BENEFICIARY'S ADDRESS SHOWN ABOVE, _
UNLESS A CHANGE OF ADDRESS IS OTHERWISE NOTIFIED BY YOU TO US IN WRITING
BY RECEIPTED MAIL OR COURIER, THAT WE ELECT NOT TO EXTEND THE EXPIRATION
DATE OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT FOR ANY SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD. UPON SUCH
NOTICE TO YOU, YOU MAY DRAW AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO THE THEN CURRENT
EXPIRATION DATE UP TO THE FULL AMOUNT THEN AVALIABLE. HOWEVER IN NO EVENT
WILL THIS LETTER OF CREDIT BE AUTOMATICALLY EXTENDED BEYOND THE FINAL
EXPIRATION DATE OF OCTOBER 30, 2030.

THIS LETTER OF CREDIT MAY BE CANCELLED PRIOR TO EXPIRATION PROVIDED THE
ORIGINAL LETTER OF CREDIT (AND AMENDMENTS, IF ANY) ARE RETURNED TO
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., CHICAGO, IL WITH A STATEMENT SIGNED BY THE
BENEFICIARY STATING THAT THE ATTACHED LETTER OF CREDIT IS NO LONGER
REQUIRED AND IS BEING RETURNED TO THE ISSUING BANK FOR CANCELLATION.

PARTIAL/MULTIPLE DRAWINGS ARE PERMITTED.

WE ENGAGE WITH YOU THAT PRESENTATIONS MADE UNDER AND IN CONFORMITY WITH
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CREDIT WILL BE DULY HONORED ON
PRESENTATION IF PRESENTED ON OR BEFORE THE EXPIRATION AT OUR COUNTERS AT
131 SOUTH DEARBORN, 5TH FLOOR, MAIL CODE IL1-0236, CHICAGO, IL 60603-5506,
ATTN: STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT UNIT.

ALL PAYMENTS DUE HEREUNDER SHALL BE MADE BY WIRE TRANSFER TO THE
BENEFICIARY'S ACCOUNT PER THEIR INSTRUCTIONS. THE ORIGINAL LETTER OF
CREDIT MUST ACCOMPANY THE DOCUMENTS REQUIRED UNDER THIS CREDIT FOR

154152 Dianne Leonard
Page 2 of 3

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 107



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Global Trade Services

131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor
Mail Code: 1L1-0236
Chicago, IL 60603-5506

JUN 1, 2016
OUR L/C NO.: CTCS-711023

ENDORSEMENT. ALL DOCUMENTS PRESENTED MUST BE IN ENGLISH.

THIS LETTER OF CREDIT IS GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY STATED
HEREIN, TO THE INTERNATIONAL STANDBY PRACTICES, ICC PUBLICATION NO. 590
(THE "ISP98"), AND IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK WILL CONTROL, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAWS.

PLEASE ADDRESS ALIL CORRESPONDENCE REGARDING THIS LETTER OF CREDIT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT UNIT, 131 SOUTH DEARBORN, 5TH
FLOOR, MAIL CODE IL1-0236, CHICAGO, IL 60603-5506 INCLUDING THE LETTER OF
CREDIT NUMBER MENTIONED ABOVE. FOR TELEPHONE ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CONTACT
THE STANDBY CLIENT SERVICE UNIT AT 1-800-634-1969, OR 1-813-432-1210, AND
HAVE THIS LETTER OF CREDIT NUMBER AVAILABLE.

\%f ‘,(?(j’étf.,—__; }4 4! }/)’\/\?ﬂ‘ag

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

154152 Dianne l.eonard
Page 30f 3

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 108




ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit B
Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement
See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 109



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Assignment and Assumption Agreement

This Assignment and Assumption Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective as of [e], 2025 (the
“Effective Date”), is by and between Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Seller”), and King County, a Washington municipal corporation (“Buyer”).

WHEREAS, Secller and Buyer have entered into a certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of
Effective Date (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, Seller has agreed to
assign all of its rights, title and interests in, and Buyer has agreed to assume all of Seller’s duties and
obligations under, the Transferred Contracts (as defined in the Purchase Agreement).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and conditions set forth in this
Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. All capitalized terms used in this Agreement but not otherwise defined
herein are given the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

2. Assignment and Assumption. Seller hereby sells, assigns, grants, conveys and transfers to
Buyer all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Transferred Contracts. Buyer hereby accepts
such assignment and assumes all of Seller’s duties and obligations under the Transferred Contracts and
agrees to pay, perform and discharge, as and when due, all of the obligations of Seller under the
Transferred Contracts accruing on and after the Effective Date.

3. Terms of the Purchase Agreement. The terms of the Purchase Agreement, including, but
not limited to, the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and indemnities relating to the
Transferred Contracts are incorporated herein by this reference. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree
that the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and indemnities contained in the Purchase
Agreement shall not be superseded hereby but shall remain in full force and effect to the full extent
provided therein. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms of the Purchase
Agreement and the terms hereof, the terms of the Purchase Agreement shall govern.

4. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
the internal laws of the State of Washington without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law
provision or rule (whether of the State of Washington or any other jurisdiction). Any legal suit, action,
proceeding, or dispute arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement may be instituted in the federal court of the United States of America located in the city of
Seattle, and each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court in any such suit,
action, proceeding, or dispute.

5. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A
signed copy of this Agreement delivered by email or other means of electronic transmission shall be
deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

6. Further Assurances. Each of the parties hereto shall execute and deliver, at the reasonable
request of the other party hereto, such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances
and take such further actions as such other party may reasonably request to carry out the provisions hereof
and give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

509386075.1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 110



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the date first

above written.

509386075.1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC

By
Name: Charles J. Packard
Title: Chief Executive Officer

KING COUNTY

By

Name: John Taylor

Title: Director, King County Department of Natural
Resources and Parks

July 22, 2025 111



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit C
Form of Bill of Sale

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 112



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Bill of Sale

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), does
hereby grant, bargain, transfer, sell, assign, convey and deliver to King County, a Washington municipal
corporation (“Buyer”), all of its right, title, and interest in and to the Tangible Personal Property, as such
term is defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of the date of this Bill of Sale (the “Purchase
Agreement”), by and between Seller and Buyer, to have and to hold the same unto Buyer, its successors
and assigns, forever.

Buyer acknowledges that Seller makes no representation or warranty with respect to the
assets being conveyed hereby except as specifically set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

Seller for itself, its successors and assigns, hereby covenants and agrees that, at any time
and from time to time upon the written request of Buyer, Seller will do, execute, acknowledge, and
deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged, and delivered, all such further acts, deeds,
assignments, transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney, and assurances as may be reasonably required
by Buyer in order to assign, transfer, set over, convey, assure, and confirm unto and vest in Buyer, its
successors and assigns, title to the assets sold, conveyed, and transferred by this Bill of Sale.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller has duly executed this Bill of Sale as of , 2025.

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC

By
Name: Charles J. Packard
Title: Chief Executive Officer

509386076.1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 113



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit D
Form of Transition Services Agreement

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 114



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

TRANSITION SERVICES AGREEMENT

by and between

KING COUNTY

and

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC

[o], 2025

509387951.10

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 115



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ARTICLE T SERVICES ...ttt sttt sttt ettt ettt et e s st ent e seeetenseeseeaeenseeseensenseeneensenes 1
Section 1.01 ProviSion Of SEIVICES. ......covuiiiiiriiiiieiieite ettt sttt sttt e st e e 1
Section 1.02 Standard Of SEIVICE. .....ccuiiuiiieiieieie ettt ettt ettt ae st e neeeesaeeneeaens 3
Section 1.04 ACCESS 10 PIEMISES. ......eeuiiitiiitieitiei ettt et ettt ettt et e e sbeesbeesaeeeaeeeaee e 3
Section 1.04 ACCESS 10 PIOIMISES. .....c.uiiiiiiiiiiiiciiieeiee ettt ettt et eteeeeta e e st esteeesareesbesesaeenssesesseesareeans 3
ARTICLE II COMPENSATION ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et sbe et e b bt e e sae e st ebeeaesneeneene 3
Section 2.01 Responsibility for Wages and FEes. ........ccccoiiviriiiiiiniiiiiinieeceeeseeeeeee e 4
Section 2.02 Terms of Payment and Related Matters. ........ccceveevceeiiiiciieniieiceeereesee e 4
Section 2.03 EXteNSION OF SEIVICES. .....eeruiirtiiriieriiiiiieiite ittt ettt et ettt ettt enbeesbeesbeesaeesare e 4
Section 2.04 Terminated SEIVICES.......c.eeruiirtiiiiiiiiitiete ettt ettt sttt ettt e b e b e e bt e s beesbeesaeeebeesaeesareeane 5
Section 2.05 INVOICE DISPULES. ....veiiiriieiiiieeiieeeieeeieeeeteeeteeeteeestteeebeeestbeesebeeasseeessseesseeessseesssessssseessseeans 5
Section 2.06 No Right 0f SEtOfT. ......cccoviiiiiieicee ettt s 5
SECHION 2.07 TAXES. ..eeuteteeuieteetieieete et te st et et e et e et e e bt et e eteeteeste st esee s e ebeam e e teeseamseeseeneenseeneeneaseeseensesaeensansens 5
ARTICLE I TERMINATION. ...ttt ettt ettt et te e et emeesse e st enee st eneenseeneeneeeees 5
Section 3.01 Termination Of AGIEEMENL. .......cccveriiiiiirieiieieerieereereeeteereebeereeseeseessaessaessseessessseesseenns 5
SeCtion 3.02 BrEACK. ....cc.eiiiiiieieii ettt et a ettt et et saeeneennen 5
SECtION 3.03 INSOLVENCY. ..viiiiiiiiiiieiiie et e ette ettt e et e ette e st e e eteeestbeesssaeestseessseasssseessseesssseassseesssesesssessnseeans 5
Section 3.04 Effect of TermMiNation. ..........cccviiiiieiiiiieiieecciee ettt e ettt eeteeeereesveeesaseesareeesveeesneesareaens 6
Section 3.05 FOTCE IMAJEULE. .......eeecueeiieiieiiesiieriesteete et ete et esteesteesssesssessseenseenseessaesseesssesseesssesssennsennns 6
ARTICLE IV CONFIDENTIALITY .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt see et eae e e e s eneeneesneeneeeees 6
Section 4.01 CONFIAENTIALILY. .....ecviruieiiiieieieet ettt ettt sttt et sbe et et be et e saeeneennens 6
ARTICLE V LIMITATION ON LIABILITY[; INDEMNIFICATION].....ccctteiitieiieeieeeiee et 7
Section 5.01 Limitation on Liability.........ccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiieieesie ettt s 7
Section 5.02 INAeMNITICATION. ....c.iruiiiiitieieiee ettt ettt ettt et e e b s et e saeeneenaen 7
Section 5.03 Indemnification ProCeAUIES ..........cceiuieiiiiiiieiecieee ettt 7
ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEQOUS.......oiteteiiiee ettt ettt ettt ettt e tesetensesseeseaseeneensesseensensenes 7
SECTION 0.01 NOTICES. ..eeueieitietietieitie ettt ettt ettt et e b e b e be e s bt e sae e eate et e et e enbeesbeesaeesanesaneenne 7
SeCtion 6.02 HEAAINES. .....veeeceiieiiieiiieeiee ettt e st e eteesteestaeestaeesseeesseessseeassseessseesssseessseesssessssseesssenans 8
SeCtioN 6.03 SEVETADIIILY. ...eeiuiiiiiiiiitiieciie et ettt et e e teeeetbeesbeeetbeessseeesseessseesssesessseessseeans 9
Section 6.04 ENtire AGIEEMENL. ....cccueeriieriieriieeieeieete et eteeteeteesteesteesstesssesnseanseenseenseeseesseesseesssesssesnsennns 9

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 116



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Section 6.05 SUCCESSOTS ANA ASSINS. ..eevuiiruieriieiieiieieeteerteesttesitesteete e bt ebeebeesseesseesseesseesseeensesnsesaseenne 9
Section 6.06 No Third-Party BenefiCiaries. .........ccccveciirriierierieiie et seae e 9
Section 6.07 Amendment and Modification; WaIVET..........ccccvviiiiuviiiiiirieieciee et 9
Section 6.08 Governing Law; Submission to JUriSAICtiON. ........cccvierrieeiiieiiieeie e eree e 9
SECtiON 6.09 COUNTEIPATLS. ....vvieirieeirieeriieeitieesteeeiteeestteeseteesstreessseessseeessseessseeassseesssessssssessssssssesassseesseeans 9
Section 6.10 Delivery by Electronic TranSmiSSION.........ccccevuireeiererierienentenienieetenie ettt 9

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 117



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

TRANSITION SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Transition Services Agreement (“Agreement”), is entered into as of [@], 2025, by and between
Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), and King County, a
Washington municipal corporation (“Purchaser”). Seller and Purchaser are sometimes hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Parties”, and individually as a “Party”.

Recitals

WHEREAS, Purchaser and Seller have entered into that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated
as of the date of this Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which Seller has agreed to sell
and assign to Purchaser, and Purchaser has agreed to purchase and assume from Seller, substantially all the
assets, and certain specified liabilities, used in the ownership and operation of the Plant (as such term is
defined in the Purchase Agreement), all as more fully described in the Purchase Agreement;

WHEREAS, Seller and Purchaser entered into a Settlement Agreement and Releases, dated March
19, 2025, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A to the Purchase Agreement (the “Settlement
Agreement”), whereby the Seller agreed, among other things, to provide Purchaser with operating
assistance for up to sixty (60) days after the closing of the purchase and restart of the Plant, subject to
Purchaser reimbursing Seller for all normal and customary costs of its operating personnel who are assisting
Purchaser;

WHEREAS, the Purchaser has indicated it may desire and/or need to have its personnel trained in
the operation of the Plant by Seller; and

WHEREAS, Seller has agreed to provide such assistance to Purchaser for a period not to exceed
60 days following the closing of the Purchase Agreement (“Assistance Period”);

WHEREAS, the majority of the experience in operating the Plant lies with the current Seller
personnel;

WHEREAS, Purchaser has indicated that certain personnel currently employed by Seller may be
offered employment with the Purchaser;

WHEREAS, both Parties desire to memorialize the terms under which any such assistance may be
provided by Seller to Purchaser; and

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective
meanings ascribed to such terms in the Purchase Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants hereinafter set
forth, the receipt and adequacy of which are acknowledged by both Parties, Purchaser and Seller hereby
agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
SERVICES

Section 1.01  Provision of Services.

(a) Subject to Purchaser’s fulfillment of its obligations to Seller set out in
subparagraph (b) below, Seller agrees, during the Assistance Period, to provide, or cause its
Affiliates to provide, the services (the “Services”) set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto (as such
exhibit may be amended or supplemented pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the “Services
Exhibit”) to Purchaser for the respective periods and on the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement and in the Services Exhibit. The Services provided by Seller shall be limited to the

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 118



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

specific Services set out in the Services Exhibit, or in such amended Services Exhibit as are
mutually acceptable to the Parties.

(b) During the Assistance Period, Purchaser shall have no fewer than two qualified
employees (or qualified third-party contractor employees) charged with responsibility for operating
the Plant on site at all times that Purchaser intends to operate, or attempts to operate, the Plant. At
least one of the foregoing individuals must have the authority from Purchaser to make operating
decisions for Purchaser. The primary responsibility of these two individuals, while they are on the
Plant-site, shall be the operation of the Plant, and they shall have no other outside tasks assigned to
them by Purchaser that would impact their ability to operate the Plant or require them to leave the
Plant Site.

(©) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if both the
current Seller Plant Manager, Kevin Singer, and the current Seller Plant Engineer, Gerran Smith,
become employees of or contractors (either directly or indirectly as employees of a third-party
contractor engaged by Purchaser to operate the Plant) to Purchaser, at any time, following the
Closing, the Parties agree that no further assistance from Seller will be required from the start of
such employment or service, and any obligation on the part of Seller to provide assistance to
Purchaser shall permanently cease.

(d) If Kevin Singer and Gerran Smith do not become employees of Purchaser, or serve
as contractors to Purchaser (either directly or indirectly as employees of or subcontractors to a third-
party contractor engaged by Purchaser to operate the Plant) following the Closing , Seller will make
the Services available to assist Purchaser with operating the Plant during the Assistance Period,
recognizing that Seller can only provide those Services that its remaining personnel are capable of
providing to Purchaser.

(e) Notwithstanding the contents of the Services Exhibit, Seller agrees to respond in
good faith, and to the extent possible, to any reasonable request by Purchaser for additional services
that are necessary for the operation of the Plant and which are not set out in the Services Exhibit,
at a price to be agreed upon after good faith negotiations between the Parties. Any such additional
services so provided by Seller shall constitute Services under this Agreement and be subject in all
respects to the provisions of this Agreement as if fully set forth on a Services Exhibit as of the date
hereof.

® The Parties hereto acknowledge the transitional nature of the Services.
Accordingly, as promptly as practicable following the execution of this Agreement, Purchaser
agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to make a transition of each Service to its own
internal organization or to obtain alternate third-party sources to provide the Services. To the extent
that Purchaser hires any employees of Seller prior to, or during the term of this Agreement, it shall
be Purchaser’s responsibility to coordinate the services provided by such former BEW employees
with similar or other services being provided by Seller, and Seller assumes no liability for the proper
coordination of Services provided by Seller and those provided by employees of Purchaser, or by
a third party.

(2) Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that it shall be responsible for operating and
maintaining the Plant during the Assistance Period, and that Seller will simply be providing
operating assistance at the direction of Purchaser. Any decisions regarding the operation or
maintenance of the Plant during the Assistance Period shall be the responsibility of Purchaser.
Furthermore, any actual Plant operation or maintenance activity shall be the sole responsibility of
Purchaser.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 119



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(h) Purchaser acknowledges that all existing employees of Seller are not represented
by any labor union nor are they parties to any collective bargaining agreement and that Seller
intends to use these employees to provide the Services.

) Subject to Section 2.03, Section 2.04 and Section 3.05, the obligations of Seller
under this Agreement to provide Services shall terminate at the end of the Assistance Period (the
“End Date”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that Purchaser
may determine that it does not require the Services for the entire period through the End Date.
Purchaser shall give Seller 14 days advance written notice before such determination becomes
effective.

) To the extent that Seller incurs demobilization, severance, or other costs associated
with the early termination of the Services, such costs shall be paid by Purchaser, subject to Seller
providing reasonable documentation of such costs to Purchaser and provided that such costs do not
exceed $10,000. Purchaser further understands and agrees that Seller will not be expected to
continue to retain and pay employees of Seller who previously provided Services to Purchaser once
Purchaser has decided it no longer needs the Services.

Section 1.02  Standard of Service.

(a) Seller represents, warrants, and agrees that the Services shall be provided in good
faith, in accordance with Applicable Law, and, except as specifically provided in the Services
Exhibit, in a manner generally consistent with the historical operation of the Plant and with the
same standard of care as was historically utilized by Seller. Seller agrees to assign sufficient
resources and qualified personnel as are reasonably required to perform the Services in accordance
with the standards set forth in the preceding sentence; however, Purchaser acknowledges and agrees
that Seller cannot require its operating personnel to remain employees of Seller and that any
departures of its operating personnel may affect Seller’s ability to provide the Services hereunder.
Seller shall have no liability to Purchaser for any lapses or deficiencies in the Services it provides
as a result of such departures provided Seller has not breached this Agreement by (i) terminating
its existing personnel without cause during the Assistance Period or by (ii) reducing their current
compensation and benefits. Seller use will use good faith efforts to retain sufficient operating
personnel during the Assistance Period to provide the requested Services, but can provide no
guarantees regarding the results of such retention efforts.

(b) Except as expressly set forth in Section 1.02(a) or in any contract entered into
hereunder, Seller makes no representations and warranties of any kind, implied or express, with
respect to the Services, including, without limitation, no warranties of merchantability or fitness
for a particular purpose, which are specifically disclaimed. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that
this Agreement does not create a fiduciary relationship, partnership, joint venture, or relationship
of trust or agency between the Parties and that all Services are provided by Seller as an independent
contractor. Purchaser also acknowledges that Seller shall not be responsible for any downtime or
loss of production from the Plant during the term of this Agreement except for such loss of
production that arises from the willful misconduct or gross negligence of Seller.

Section 1.03  Access to Premises.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 120



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(a) In order to enable the provision of the Services by Seller, Purchaser agrees that it
shall provide to Seller’s and its Affiliates’ employees and any third-party service providers or
subcontractors who provide Services, at no cost to Seller, access to the facilities, assets, and books
and records of the Plant, in all cases to the extent necessary for Seller to fulfill its obligations under
this Agreement.

(b) Seller agrees that all of its employees, and those of its Affiliates and any third-
party service providers and subcontractors, when on the property of Purchaser or when given access
to any equipment, computer, software, network, or files owned or controlled by Purchaser, shall
conform to the policies and procedures of Purchaser concerning health, safety, and security which
are made known to Seller in advance in writing.

Section 1.04  Seller Covenants. Seller shall not, prior to the End Date, take any corporate action
for its winding up or dissolution. Seller shall use reasonable efforts to keep its Plant Manager, Plant
Engineer, and key operating personnel employed during the Assistance Period until the earlier of the End
Date and such time that the Plant Manager, Plant Engineer, and/or such other key operating personnel are
hired by Purchaser or its Affiliates.

ARTICLE IT
COMPENSATION

Section 2.01  Responsibility for Wages and Fees. For such time as any employees of Seller or
any of its Affiliates are providing the Services to Purchaser under this Agreement, (a) such employees will
remain employees of Seller or such Affiliate, as applicable, and shall not be deemed to be employees of
Purchaser for any purpose, and (b) Seller or such Affiliate, as applicable, shall be solely responsible for the
payment and provision of all wages, bonuses and commissions, employee benefits, including severance and
worker’s compensation, and the withholding and payment of applicable Taxes relating to such employment.

Section 2.02  Terms of Payment and Related Matters.

(a) As consideration for provision of the Services, Purchaser shall pay Seller, on a
weekly basis, the amounts specified in Services Exhibit for those personnel of Seller who provide
any of the Services set out in Services Exhibit. In addition to such amount, in the event that Seller
or any of its Affiliates incurs reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses in the provision
of any Service, including, without limitation, license fees and payments to third-party service
providers or subcontractors, but excluding payments made to employees of Seller or any of its
Affiliates pursuant to Section 2.01 (such included expenses, collectively, “Out-of-Pocket Costs™),
Purchaser shall reimburse Seller for all such Out-of-Pocket Costs in accordance with the invoicing
procedures set forth in Section 2.02(c).

(b) Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Purchaser shall pay to Seller
an amount equal to $10,000 (the “Deposit”), which amount shall be applied to the first Invoice (as
defined below) provided by Seller to Purchaser and then to any subsequent Invoices to the extent
that any amount of the Deposit is remaining after paying the first Invoice. If any amount of the
Deposit remains and has not been applied to an Invoice at the end of the Assistance Period, Seller
shall pay such amount to Purchaser within 3 days of the end of the Assistance Period or the
termination of this Agreement, whichever is earlier.

(©) As more fully provided in the Services Exhibit and subject to the terms and
conditions therein:

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 121



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

) Seller shall provide Purchaser, in accordance with Section 6.01 of this
Agreement, with an invoice, at the end of each week during the Assistance Period, for the
Services rendered that week (“Invoices™), which shall set forth in reasonable detail, with
such supporting documentation as Purchaser may reasonably request with respect to Out-
of-Pocket Costs, and amounts payable under this Agreement; and

(i1) payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be made within thirty days after
the date of receipt of each Invoice by Purchaser from Seller except for any amounts
disputed by Purchaser in good faith in accordance with this Agreement.

(d) It is the intent of the Parties that the compensation set forth in the Services Exhibit
reasonably approximates the cost of providing the Services, including the cost of employee wages
and benefits, without any intent to cause Seller to receive net profit or incur loss, recognizing that
Seller will charge reasonable levels of overhead, consistent with past practices, to cover its cost of
providing the Services. Such overhead costs are incorporated into the hourly rates set out in
Services Exhibit. If at any time Seller believes that the payments contemplated by a specific
Services Exhibit item are materially insufficient to compensate it for the cost of providing the
Services it is obligated to provide hereunder, or Purchaser believes that the payments contemplated
by a specific Services Exhibit item materially overcompensate Seller for such Services, such Party
shall notify the other Party as soon as possible, and the Parties hereto will commence good faith
negotiations toward an agreement in writing as to the appropriate course of action with respect to
pricing of such Services for future periods.

Section 2.03  Potential Extension of Services. The Parties agree that Seller shall not be
obligated to perform any Service after the applicable End Date. If Purchaser desires and Seller agrees, in
the exercise of Seller’s sole discretion, to continue to perform any of the Services after the applicable End
Date, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith any revisions to this Agreement requested by Seller as a
condition to extending the Services after the applicable End Date. Any such request must be made by
Purchaser at least 14 days prior to the applicable End Date.

Section 2.04 Terminated Services. Upon termination or expiration of any or all Services
pursuant to this Agreement, or upon the termination of this Agreement in its entirety, Seller shall have no
further obligation to provide the applicable terminated Services, and Purchaser shall have no obligation to
pay any future compensation or Out-of-Pocket Costs relating to such Services, other than for, or in respect
of, Services already provided in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and received by Purchaser
prior to such termination.

Section 2.05 Invoice Disputes. Purchaser shall notify Seller in writing of any dispute with the
Invoices (along with a reasonably detailed description of the dispute) within five Business Days after
Purchaser’s receipt of the Invoice. If Purchaser does not timely dispute the Invoice, it shall be deemed
accepted by Purchaser as true and correct, and Purchaser shall pay all amounts due under the Invoice within
the period set forth in Section 2.02(c)(i). The Parties shall seek to resolve any disputes expeditiously and in
good faith. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, each Party shall continue performing its obligations
under this Agreement during any such dispute, including, without limitation, payment by Purchaser of all
undisputed amounts due and payable under Section 2.02(c)(i).

Section 2.06 No Right of Setoff. Each of the Parties hereby acknowledges that it shall have no
right under this Agreement to set off any amounts owed (or to become due and owing) to the other Party,
whether under this Agreement, the Purchase Agreement or otherwise, against any other amount owed (or
to become due and owing) to it by the other Party.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 122



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Section 2.07  Taxes. Purchaser shall be responsible for all sales or use Taxes imposed or
assessed as a result of the provision of Services by Seller.

ARTICLE III
TERMINATION

Section 3.01 Termination of Agreement. Subject to Section 3.04, this Agreement shall
terminate in its entirety (i) on the date upon which Seller shall have no continuing obligation to perform
any Services as a result of each of their expiration or termination in accordance with Section 1.01(i) or
Section 3.02 or (ii) in accordance with Section 3.03.

Section 3.02  Breach. Either Party (the “Non-Breaching Party”) may terminate this Agreement
with respect to the Services, in whole but not in part, at any time upon prior written notice to the other Party
(the “Breaching Party”) if the Breaching Party has failed (other than pursuant to Section 3.05) to perform
any of its material obligations under this Agreement relating to such Service, and such failure shall have
continued without cure for a period of fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt by the Breaching Party of a
written notice of such failure from the Non-Breaching Party seeking to terminate such service. For the
avoidance of doubt, non-payment by Purchaser for a Service provided by Seller in accordance with this
Agreement, and not the subject of a good-faith dispute, shall be deemed a breach for purposes of this Section
3.02.

Section 3.03  Insolvency. In the event that either Party hereto shall (i) file a petition in
bankruptcy, (ii) become, or be declared insolvent, or become the subject of any proceedings (not dismissed
within sixty (60) days) related to its liquidation, insolvency, or the appointment of a receiver, (iii) make an
assignment on behalf of all, or substantially all, of its creditors, or (iv) take any corporate action for its
winding up or dissolution, then the other Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by providing
written notice in accordance with Section 6.01.

Section 3.04  Effect of Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement in its entirety
pursuant to Section 3.01, all obligations of the Parties hereto shall terminate, except for the provisions of
Section 2.04, Section 2.06, Section 2.07, ARTICLE IV, ARTICLE V, ARTICLE VI, and this Section 3.04,
which shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.

Section 3.05  Force Majeure. The obligations of Seller under this Agreement with respect to
any Service shall be suspended during the period and to the extent that Seller is prevented or hindered from
providing such Service, or Purchaser is prevented or hindered from receiving such Service, due to any of
the following causes beyond such Party’s reasonable control (such causes, “Force Majeure Events”) (i)
acts of God, (ii) flood, fire, or explosion, (iii) war, invasion, riot, or other civil unrest, (iv) order by a
Governmental Authority or Law, (v) actions, embargoes, or blockades in effect on or after the date of this
Agreement, (vi) action by any Governmental Authority, (vii) national or regional emergency, (viii) strikes,
labor stoppages or slowdowns or other industrial disturbances, (ix) shortage of adequate power or
transportation facilities, (Xx) pandemics, or (xi) any other event which is beyond the reasonable control of
such Party. The Party suffering a Force Majeure Event shall give notice of suspension as soon as reasonably
practicable to the other Party stating the date and extent of such suspension and the cause thereof, and Seller
shall resume the performance of its obligations as soon as reasonably practicable after the removal of the
cause. Neither Purchaser nor Seller shall be liable for the nonperformance or delay in performance of its
respective obligations under this Agreement when such failure is due to a Force Majeure Event. The
applicable End Date for any Service so suspended shall be automatically extended for a period of time equal
to the time lost by reason of the suspension.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 123



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

ARTICLE IV
CONFIDENTIALITY

Section 4.01  Confidentiality.

(a) During the term of this Agreement and thereafter, the Parties hereto shall, and shall
instruct their respective Representatives to, maintain in confidence and not disclose the other
Party’s financial, technical, sales, marketing, development, personnel, and other information,
records, or data, including, without limitation, customer lists, supplier lists, trade secrets, designs,
product formulations, product specifications, or any other proprietary or confidential information,
however recorded or preserved, whether written or oral (any such information, “Confidential
Information”). Each Party hereto shall use the same degree of care, but no less than reasonable
care, to protect the other Party’s Confidential Information as it uses to protect its own Confidential
Information of like nature. Unless otherwise authorized in any other agreement between the Parties,
any Party receiving any Confidential Information of the other Party (the “Receiving Party”) may
use Confidential Information only for the purposes of fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement
(the “Permitted Purpose”). Any Receiving Party may disclose such Confidential Information only
to its Representatives who have a need to know such information for the Permitted Purpose and
who have been advised of the terms of this Section 4.01, and the Receiving Party shall be liable for
any breach of these confidentiality provisions by such Persons. Any Receiving Party may disclose
such Confidential Information to the extent such Confidential Information is required to be
disclosed by an order by a Governmental Authority, in which case the Receiving Party shall
promptly notify, to the extent possible, the disclosing Party (the “Disclosing Party”), and take
reasonable steps to assist in contesting such order by a Governmental Authority or in protecting the
Disclosing Party’s rights prior to disclosure, and in which case the Receiving Party shall only
disclose such Confidential Information that it is advised by its counsel in writing that it is legally
bound to disclose under such order by a Governmental Authority.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Confidential Information” shall not include any
information that the Receiving Party can demonstrate: (i) was publicly known at the time of
disclosure to it, or has become publicly known through no act of the Receiving Party or its
Representatives in breach of this Section 4.01; (ii) was rightfully received from a third party without
a duty of confidentiality; or (iii) was developed by it independently without any reliance on the
Confidential Information.

(©) Upon demand by the Disclosing Party at any time, or upon expiration or
termination of this Agreement with respect to any Service, the Receiving Party agrees promptly to
return or destroy, at the Disclosing Party’s option, all Confidential Information. If such Confidential
Information is destroyed, an authorized officer of the Receiving Party shall certify to such
destruction in writing.

ARTICLE V
LIMITATION ON LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 5.01 Limitation on Seller Liability. Purchaser acknowledges that the Services to be
provided to it hereunder are subject to, and that its remedies under this Agreement are limited by, the
applicable provisions of Section 1.02, including the limitations on representations and warranties with
respect to the Services.

Section 5.02  Seller Indemnification of Purchaser. Subject to the limitations set forth in
Section 5.01, Seller shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates and each of

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 124



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Purchaser Indemnified Parties”) from and against any
and all Damages of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties relating to, arising out of or resulting from the gross
negligence or willful misconduct of Seller or its Affiliates in connection with the performance of this
Agreement, or from any failure of the Seller or its Affiliates to provide any Services to Purchaser, provided
that Seller shall not be responsible to indemnify Purchaser from any failure of the Seller or its Affiliates to
provide any Services to Purchaser as a result of any employees of Seller no longer being employed by
Seller, provided further that Seller has not breached this Agreement by (i) terminating its existing personnel
without cause during the Assistance Period or by (ii) reducing their current compensation and benefits.

Section 5.03  Purchaser Indemnification of Seller. Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, and
hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Seller
Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all Damages of the Seller Indemnified Parties relating to,
arising out of or resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Purchaser or its Affiliates in
connection with the performance of this Agreement.

Section 5.04 Indemnification Procedures. The matters set forth in Sections 6.4, 6.5, and 6.6
of the Purchase Agreement shall be deemed incorporated into, and made a part of, this Agreement.
Notwithstanding this Section 5.04, the indemnification terms set forth in Section 5.02 and Section 5.03 are
separate and apart from the indemnification provisions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, and are not
affected by any limitations or restrictions set forth therein.

ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6.01  Notices. All Invoices, notices and other communications given or made pursuant
hereto shall be in writing will be delivered personally, mailed by registered or certified mail (postage
prepaid, return receipt requested) or sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation of receipt) as
follows:

If to Seller:
Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC
1110 Woodlands Road
Charlottesville, Virginia
Attn: Charles J. Packard
Email: cpackard@INGENCOHOLDINGS.COM

with copy to, but not to meet notice requirements:
The Law Offices of Robert Rauch
25141 Star View Road
Mt. Vernon, Washington 98237
Attn: Robert Rauch

Email: Bob@rjrauch.com

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 125



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

If to Purchaser:
King County Department of Natural Resources & Parks
Solid Waste Division Director’s Office
201 S. Jackson Street, Suite 6400
Seattle, WA 98104
Attention: Christopher Stubbs, Deputy Director

Email: chstubbs@kingcounty.gov

with copy to, but not to meet notice requirements:
King County Civil Division - Prosecuting Attorney's Office
201 S. Jackson Street, Suite 6400
Seattle, WA 98104
Attention: Rich Anderson
Email: richanderson@kingcounty.gov
and
K&L Gates LLP
925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2900
Seattle, Washington 98104
Attention: Kari Vanderstoep

Email: Kari.vanderstoep@klgates.com

Each Party shall have the right to change the place to which notices shall be sent or delivered or to
specify additional addresses to which copies of notices may be sent, in either case by similar notice sent or
delivered in like manner to the other Party. Without limiting any other means by which a Party may be able
to prove that a notice has been received by the other Party, all notices and communications shall be deemed
to have been duly given: (a) at the time delivered by hand, if personally delivered; (b) on the fourth Business
Day after the day of mailing; (c) when received, if sent by electronic mail, if received prior to 5:00 p.m.,
recipient’s time, on a Business Day, or on the next Business Day, if received later than 5:00 p.m., recipient’s
time, or on a day that is not a Business Day; and (d) on the next Business Day after timely delivery to the
courier, if sent by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery.

Section 6.02 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and
shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 126



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Section 6.03  Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other
term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any
other jurisdiction. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the
original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the
transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent
possible.

Section 6.04 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the Services Exhibit, constitutes
the sole and entire agreement of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained
herein and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral,
with respect to such subject matter. In the event and to the extent that there is a conflict between the
provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Purchase Agreement as it relates to the Services
hereunder, the provisions of this Agreement shall control.

Section 6.05  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the
benefit, of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, but neither this Agreement nor
any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned by either Party without the
prior written consent of the other Party, which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of such Party.

Section 6.06 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the
Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied,
is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any legal or equitable right, benefit, or remedy of any
nature whatsoever, under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 6.07 Amendment and Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may only be amended,
modified, or supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by each Party hereto. No waiver by any Party
of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the
Party so waiving. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power, or privilege
arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial
exercise of any right, remedy, power, or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof
or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power, or privilege.

Section 6.08 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed
by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Washington without giving effect to
any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Washington or any other jurisdiction).
Any legal suit, action, proceeding, or dispute arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement may be instituted in the federal court of the United States of America
located in the city of Seattle, and each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court
in any such suit, action, proceeding, or dispute.

Section 6.09 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, by
manual or electronic signature, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken
together constitute one and the same instrument and may be delivered by electronic means, which shall
constitute valid and effective delivery of this Agreement.

Section 6.10  Delivery by Electronic Transmission. This Agreement and any agreement or
instrument entered into in connection with this Agreement, and any amendments or waivers hereto or
thereto, to the extent signed and delivered by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file, shall be treated in
all manner and respects as an original agreement or instrument and shall be considered to have the same

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 127



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

binding legal effect as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person. Neither Party hereto
or to any such agreement or instrument shall raise the use of e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file to
deliver a signature to this Agreement or any amendment or consent hereto or thereto or the fact that any
signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through e-mail delivery of a “.pdf”
format data file as a defense to the formation of a contract and each Party waives any such defense.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 128



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of
the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

BIO-ENERGY (WASHINGTON), LLC

By:

Name: Charles J. Packard

Title: Chief Executive Officer

KING COUNTY

By:

Name: John Taylor

Title: Director, King County Department of Natural Resources
and Parks

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 129



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit A (“Services Exhibit”)

Seller shall provide Purchaser with operating assistance, as

General Description of Service:
P requested by Purchaser, to run the Plant including:

1. Assisting Purchaser’s personnel in all aspects with operating
the Plant including starting and stopping the engine generators,
ordering and stocking replacement parts, supplies, and fuel and
complying with any regulators or third parties in connection
with operating the Plant.

2. Assisting the Purchaser’s personnel in learning how to use the
Plant’s operating controls, including the SCADA system.

3. Assistance with putting the Plant in a configuration to deliver
Product Gas to the PSE/Williams pipeline system.

4. Assistance with handling any Plant upsets or unscheduled shut
downs that may occur.

5. Assisting the Purchaser with gas plant and engine house
maintenance, provided the Purchaser has qualified personnel
who will be responsible for completing the tasks.

6. Assisting Purchaser with the documentation of any operating
procedures to the extent such operating procedures do not exist
or amending any current operating procedures. Seller shall
review and comment upon drafts of such operating procedures
prepared by Purchaser, but shall not be responsible for drafting
them.

Fee: The Purchaser shall pay Seller the following weekly rates (40
hours per week) for each person that provides Services:

1. Kevin Singer: $5,000
2. Gerran Smith: $3,000
3. Plant Operators (eight): $2,000 each, per 40 hour week

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 130



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit E
Form of License Agreement

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 131



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

LICENSE AGREEMENT

THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this [e] 2025 (“Execution
Date”) by and between Ingenco Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, having its
principal offices at 1110 Woodlands Road, Charlottesville, Virginia 22901 (“Ingenco” or
“Licensor”) and King County, Washington, a Washington municipal corporation, having its
principal place of business located at 201 South Jackson Street, Suite 6400, Seattle, WA 98104
(“Licensee” or “County”). Licensor and Licensee are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Parties,” and individually as a “Party.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Ingenco is the owner, by assignment from Bio-Energy (Washington), LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“BEW?), of certain patent rights related to the purification of
landfill gas into pipeline quality gas, which patent rights are set out in U.S. Patent 7,731,779 (“’779
Patent”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A hereto; and

WHEREAS, BEW is a fully-owned subsidiary of Ingenco; and

WHEREAS, County is purchasing from BEW the Cedar Hill landfill gas purification
facility located at 16650 228th Ave., S.E., Maple Valley, Washington (“Facility”), and has
requested a non-exclusive license to the 779 Patent as necessary for operation of the Facility; and

WHEREAS, the grant of the license described herein shall become effective upon
completion of the County’s purchase of the Facility pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase
Agreement executed by BEW and the County dated [e], 2025;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by both Parties, the Parties hereby agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.01  In this Agreement the following words and phrases mean:

(a) “Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified person, any other person that
directly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified person. For
purposes of this Subsection 1.01(a), “Control” shall mean:

(1) in the case of corporate entities, the direct or indirect ownership of at least 50%
of the stock or participating shares entitled to vote in the general meeting of shareholders,
and

(i1) in the case of a partnership or other legal entity, ownership of at least 50%

interest in the income or at least a 50% interest in the power to direct the management or
policies of such entity.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 132



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

(b) “Confidential Information” means all non-public, confidential, or proprietary
information of the Discloser, whether in oral, written, electronic, or other form or media and any
information that, due to the nature of its subject matter or circumstances surrounding its disclosure,
would reasonably be understood to be confidential or proprietary or to the extent it is: (a) if in
tangible form, marked as confidential; or (b) identified at the time of disclosure as confidential and
confirmed in writing as such within seven (7) days after disclosure. Confidential Information does
not include information that the Recipient can demonstrate was:

(i)  possessed by the Recipient prior to receipt from the Discloser, as evidenced
by the Recipient’s business records,

(ii)  published or available to the general public otherwise than through a breach
of this Agreement,

(ii1))  which is, after the Commencement Date, disclosed to the Recipient, without
restriction by a third party,

(iv)  independently developed by employees, agents or consultants of the
Recipient who had no knowledge of or access to the Confidential Information as evidenced
by the Recipient’s business records,

(V) is made subject to an order by judicial or administrative process requiring
the Recipient to disclose any or all of the information; provided however that the Recipient
shall promptly notify the Discloser allowing some reasonable time to oppose such process,
before disclosure occurs.

(vi)  is disclosed by Recipient with Discloser’s prior written approval;

(©) “Commencement Date” means the date the County completes the purchase of the
Facility pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement between BEW and the County;

(d) “Discloser” means a Party to this Agreement or its Affiliates that provides
Confidential Information to the other Party, or its Affiliates, as Recipient;

(e) “Field of Use” means the operation of the Facility;

§)) “Improvements” means any new intellectual property developed by Licensee that
relates to the Licensed Patent, whether or not such Improvements, if practiced, would infringe on
the patents or patent applications set out in Exhibit A to this Agreement.”

(2) “License” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01;

(h) “Licensed Patent” means the 779 Patent set out in Exhibit A hereto and any
Licensor Improvements;

(1) “License Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01;

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 133



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

() “Litigating Party” has the meaning set out in Subsection 5.03(d);

(k) “Patent(s)” means all issued patents and patent applications including, but not
limited to, provisional, non-provisional, continuations and continuations-in-part, and divisional
patent applications and registrations in any jurisdiction world-wide, and

(1) all continuations and continuations-in-part to any of the foregoing,

(i1) all divisionals, patents of addition, reissues, renewals, re-examinations and
extensions to any of the foregoing, and

(ii1))  all foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing in any jurisdiction world-
wide;

) “Recipient” means a Party to this Agreement or its Affiliates receiving Confidential
Information of the other Party or its Affiliates as Discloser;

(m)  “Representatives” has the meaning set out in Section 6.02;

(n) “Settlement Agreement” means the Settlement Agreement executed between BEW
and King County dated March 19, 2025 with respect to the outstanding litigation between BEW
and King County.

(0) “Suit” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03;

1.02  Any words defined elsewhere in this Agreement shall have the particular meaning
assigned to such words.

ARTICLE 2 - PROPERTY RIGHTS IN AND TO THE LICENSED PATENT AND
IMPROVEMENTS

2.01 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Licensor owns all rights, title and
interest in the Licensed Patent, including any and all Improvements, variations and enhancements
made by Licensor (“Licensor Improvements”) with respect to the Licensed Patent before and after
the Commencement Date.

2.02 If Licensor files a patent application for any Improvement during the License Term,
Licensor will provide written notice to Licensee within thirty (30) days after the filing date of the
patent application, with a copy of the patent application and such other details of the Improvement
as Licensee reasonably requires to effectively evaluate the Improvement.

2.03  Each such Improvement patent application will be deemed to be a Licensed Patent
effective on Licensee’s notice.

2.04 No Grant-Backs. All right, title, and interest in any Improvement conceived, made,

or reduced to practice by Licensee during the License Term of this Agreement (“Licensee
Improvements”), and all of Licensee's patents and patent applications claiming any such

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 134



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Improvements, will:
(a) as between the Parties, remain the sole and exclusive property of Licensee; and
(b) not be licensed to Licensor, unless the Parties otherwise specifically agree in writing.
ARTICLE 3 - TERM

3.01 The License conferred by this Agreement shall commence on the Commencement
Date and shall continue in full force and effect until the date of expiration of the last valid claim
under the Licensed Patent (the “License Term”). Licensee acknowledges that the Licensed Patent
is currently set to expire on September 24, 2028.

ARTICLE 4 - GRANT OF LICENSE TO LICENSEE

4.01 In consideration for King County’s purchase of the Facility pursuant to the terms of
the Settlement Agreement and the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement between King County and
BEW dated | Licensor hereby grants to Licensee a permanent, royalty-free, non-exclusive,
sublicensable in accordance with Article 4.02 right and license under the Licensed Patent to use,
the patented methods claimed in the Licensed Patent for the Field of Use.

4.02 Licensee may grant sublicenses to the rights granted in this Article 4 to third parties
operating the Facility on behalf of Licensee. The granting of sublicenses will be at Licensee’s sole
and exclusive discretion and Licensee will have the sole and exclusive power to determine the
identity of any sublicensee, subject to any such sublicensee being subject to the applicable terms of
this Agreement.

4.03 Licensee acknowledges that Licensor has non-exclusive license agreements with
third parties for the Licensed Patent, and Licensor retains the right to grant additional licenses to
the Licensed Patent to third parties that will not limit Licensee’s rights under this Agreement
without liability to Licensee.

4.04 Licensee also acknowledges and agrees that Licensor does not represent or warrant
to Licensee that the Licensed Patent is sufficient to permit operation of the Facility without any
potential claims of infringement by third parties. Any determination concerning the adequacy of
the Licensed Patent, and all risks associated with any third-party claims of infringement, are the
responsibility of Licensee.

ARTICLE S - PATENT PROSECUTION AND ENFORCEMENT

5.01 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Licensor shall retain responsibility for
the maintenance of the Licensed Patent and prosecution of any Licensor Improvements. If Licensor
plans to abandon any patent application or patent included within the Licensed Patent, Licensor
shall notify Licensee in writing at least thirty (30) days in advance of the due date of any payment
or other action that is required to prosecute and maintain such Licensed Patent. Following such
notice, Licensee will have the right, in its sole discretion, to assume control and direction of the
prosecution and maintenance of such Licensed Patent at its sole cost and expense in such country,

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 135



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

and Licensor shall, at Licensee’s request, assign to Licensee such patent application or patent.
Effective as of the effective date of any such assignment under this Section 5.01, such patent
application or patent shall no longer be a Licensed Patent.

5.02 If either Party becomes aware of (a) any suspected infringement of any Licensed
Patent by a third party, or (b) any claim that any Licensed Patent is invalid or unenforceable, such
Party shall promptly notify the other Party and provide it with all details of such infringement or
claim, as applicable, that are known by such Party.

5.03 In the event of an alleged infringement by a third party of the Licensed Patent, the
Licensee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to prosecute and control litigation designed to
enforce its rights in and to the Licensed Patent and enjoin such infringers of the Licensed Patent on
written notice to the Licensor. The Licensor agrees to co-operate in any such litigation to the extent
of executing all necessary documents to vest in the Licensee the right to institute any such suits, so
long as all costs and expenses of bringing and conducting any such litigation or settlement shall be
borne by the Licensee, and in such event recoveries shall inure to the Licensee.

5.04 In the event any complaint is made against Licensee by a third party alleging
infringement or violation of any patent or other proprietary rights with respect to the Licensed
Patent, or in the event of a third party alleging the invalidity of the Licensed Patent (in either case,
a “Suit”), the following procedure shall be followed:

(a) the Licensee shall promptly notify the Licensor upon receipt of any such complaint
and shall keep the Licensor fully informed of the actions and positions taken by the complainant
and taken, or proposed to be taken, by the Licensee;

(b) the Licensee, in its sole discretion, shall have the first right, but not the obligation,
to defend against any such Suit;

(c) if the Licensee does not take steps to defend against the Suit within ninety (90) days
after the date that notice thereof was received from or delivered to the Licensor, (or such shorter
period as may be required to protect the rights of the Licensor) the Licensor may take such legally
permissible action as it deems necessary or appropriate to defend against the Suit, but shall not be
obligated to do so;

(d) the Party defending against a Suit (in this section, the “Litigating Party”) shall have
the right to control such litigation and shall bear all costs and expenses incurred in investigating,
resisting, litigating and settling such Suit (including court costs and legal fees and any award of
damages and/or costs to any third party). Before any action is taken by either Party which could
abridge the rights of the other Party hereunder, the Parties agree, in good faith, to consult with each
other with the goal of adopting a mutually satisfactory position;

(e) the Litigating Party shall keep the other Party fully informed of the actions and
positions taken, or proposed to be taken, by the Litigating Party and the actions and positions taken

by all other parties to such litigation;

§)) notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Licensee defends against the

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 136



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Suit, the Licensor may elect to participate formally in any litigation involving the Suit, to the extent
that the court may permit, but any additional expenses generated by such formal participation shall
be borne entirely by the Licensor (subject to the possibility of recovery of some or all of such
additional expenses from the complainant);

(2) notwithstanding the foregoing, if the complainant is willing to accept an offer of
settlement and one of the Parties to this Agreement is willing to make or accept such offer and the
other(s) is not, then the unwilling Party shall conduct all further proceedings at its own expense,
and shall be responsible for the full amount of any damages, costs, accounting of profits and
settlement costs in excess of those provided in such offer, but shall be entitled to retain unto itself
the benefit of any litigated or settled result entailing a lower payment of costs, damages, accounting
of profits and settlement costs than that provided in such offer.

ARTICLE 6 — PUBLICATION AND CONFIDENTIALITY

6.01 The Discloser's Confidential Information provided pursuant to this Agreement shall
be used by the Recipient solely in furtherance of the purposes set forth in this Agreement and subject
to the terms and conditions set forth in this Article 7.

6.02 Each Party, as Recipient, acknowledges and agrees that it will keep all of the
Discloser's Confidential Information in confidence on the terms and conditions set out in this Article
6 during the License Term and thereafter for a period of five (5) years. Each Party, as Recipient,
acknowledges and agrees that it will not, without the Discloser's prior written consent, disclose or
communicate or cause to be disclosed or communicated any of the Discloser's Confidential
Information to any person or entity, except the Recipient's officers, employees, consultants,
professional advisors, and agents, (collectively, “Representatives”), who require said Confidential
Information in performing their obligations under this Agreement unless and until such
Representatives, sub-licensees, and/or customers have signed a confidentiality agreement with
Recipient protecting such Confidential Information. The Discloser shall be entitled to receive
copies of all such agreements upon request.

6.03  The Recipient covenants and agrees that it will limit the internal distribution of the
Discloser's Confidential Information and that it will enter into the appropriate confidentiality
agreements with any and all persons who may have access to the Discloser's Confidential
Information.

ARTICLE 7 - WARRANTY

7.01 Except as expressly set out in this Agreement, the Licensor makes no representations
or warranties, either express or implied, with respect to the suitability of the Licensed Patent for the
continued operation of the Facility, and specifically disclaims any implied warranty of
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. The Licensor shall in no event be liable for any
loss of profits or revenues by Licensee, be they direct, consequential, incidental, or special or other
similar, or like damages arising from any defect, error or failure to perform with respect to the
Licensed Patent, even if the Licensor has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

7.02  The Licensor represents and warrants that the Licensed Patent is the entirety of the

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 137



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Patents, Patent applications, and other intellectual property, including trade secrets and know-how,
owned by Licensor related to operation of the Facility.

7.03 The Licensor represents and warrants that, as of the date of execution of this
Agreement, in respect of the Licensed Patent identified in Exhibit A, such Patent has been duly
assigned to the Licensor and that Licensor is the sole and exclusive owner of the entire right, title,
and interest in and to the Licensed Patent, and no claims have been filed and served on the Licensor
or BEW, or threatened in writing, in respect thereof.

7.04  Licensor represents and warrants that it has, and throughout the License Term will
retain, the right to grant the license granted to Licensee hereunder, and it has not granted, and is not
under any obligation to grant, to any third party any license, lien, option, encumbrance, or other
contingent or non-contingent right, title, or interest in or to the Licensed Patent that conflicts with
the rights and licenses granted to Licensee hereunder;

7.05 The Licensor also represents and warrants that, as of the Execution Date of this
Agreement, no claims of infringement have been made against the Licensor or, BEW, to the best
of the Licensor’s knowledge and belief, after reasonable inquiry. The Licensor also represents and
warrants that, as of the Execution Date of this Agreement, the Licensed Patent is current, and that
there are no outstanding charges, encumbrances, or liens against such Licensed Patent.

7.06 Except as expressly set out in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed as an obligation by the Licensor to bring or prosecute actions or suits against third parties
for infringement of the Licensed Patent.

ARTICLE 8 — INDEMNITY

8.01 Each party shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other party and its
officers, directors, employees, agents, successors, and assigns (each, an “Indemnitee’’) against all
losses arising out of or resulting from any third-party claim, suit, action, or proceeding (each an
“Action”) related to, arising out of, or resulting from the other party’s (“Indemnitor” ’s) breach of
any representation, warranty, covenant, or obligation under this Agreement.

8.02  An Indemnitee shall promptly notify the Indemnitor in writing of any Action and
cooperate with Indemnitor at Indemnitor’s sole cost and expense. Indemnitor shall immediately
take control of the defense and investigation of the Action and shall employ counsel of its choice
to handle and defend the same, at Indemnitor's sole cost and expense. Indemnitor shall not settle
any Action in a manner that adversely affects the rights of any Indemnitee without the Indemnitee's
prior written consent, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The
Indemnitee's failure to perform any obligations under this Article shall not relieve Indemnitor of its
obligation under this Article except to the extent Indemnitor can demonstrate that it has been
materially prejudiced as a result of the failure. The Indemnitee may participate in and observe the
proceedings at its own cost and expense with counsel of its own choosing.

ARTICLE 9 — ASSIGNMENT RIGHTS

9.01 The Licensee may assign or transfer this Agreement to a third party that purchases

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 138



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

the Facility from the Licensee, provided that such third party assumes all of the rights, obligations
and covenants of the Licensee set forth in this Agreement. Upon the third party assuming, in writing,
the terms and conditions herein, and Licensor being reasonably satisfied with the ability of the third
party to perform Licensee’s obligations hereunder, the Licensor will release, remise and forever
discharge the Licensee from any and all obligations or covenants hereunder.

9.02 The Licensor shall have the right to assign its rights, duties and obligations under
this Agreement to a company of which it is the sole shareholder, or of which it controls the
membership, provided that the ownership of the Patent rights is concurrently transferred to such
company, and that such transfer has been documented to Licensee’s reasonable satisfaction. In the
event of any such assignment, the Licensee shall release, remise and forever discharge the Licensor
from any and all obligations and covenants hereunder, provided that such company shall have first
executed a written agreement with the Licensee under which the company assumes all of the
Licensor's rights, obligations and covenants set forth in this Agreement and the Licensee retains all
rights granted to it under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 - GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

10.01 This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws
of the State of Washington.

10.02 In the event of any dispute arising between the Parties concerning this Agreement,
its enforceability, or the interpretation thereof, the same shall be settled by litigation brought in the
U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington, and both Parties consent to the
jurisdiction and venue of such Court.

ARTICLE 11 - NON-WAIVER

11.01 No condoning, excusing or overlooking by either Party of any default, breach or
non-observance by the other Party at any time or times in respect of any covenants, provisos or
conditions of this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such Party's rights under this Agreement
in respect of any continuing or subsequent default, breach or non-observance, so as to defeat in any
way the rights of such Party in respect of any such continuing or subsequent default or breach and
no waiver shall be inferred from or implied by anything done or omitted by such Party, save only
an express waiver in writing.

11.02 No exercise of a specific right or remedy by either Party shall preclude such Party
from, or prejudice such Party from exercising another right, or pursuing another remedy, or
maintaining an action to which it may otherwise be entitled either at law or in equity.

ARTICLE 12 - NOTICES

12.01 All reports and notices or other documents that either Party hereto is required, or
may desire, to deliver to the other Party hereto may be delivered only by personal delivery, or by
registered or certified mail all postage and other charges prepaid, at the address for such Party set
forth on the first page of this Agreement or at such other address as such Party may hereinafter
designate in writing to the other Party. Any notice personally delivered shall be deemed to have

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 139



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

been given or received at the time of delivery. Any notice mailed as aforesaid shall be deemed to
have been received upon the expiration of five (5) days after it is posted, provided that if there shall
be at the time of mailing or between the time of mailing and the actual receipt of the notice a mail
strike, slow down or labor dispute which might affect the delivery of the notice by the mails, then
the notice shall only be effective if actually received.

ARTICLE 13 - GENERAL

13.01 This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between the Parties relating to
the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all previous writings and understandings, and no
modifications hereof shall be binding unless executed in writing by the Parties hereto.

13.02 Time shall be of the essence in the performance of the respective obligations of the
Parties to this Agreement.

13.03 Bankruptcy. All rights and licenses granted by Licensor under this Agreement are
and will be deemed to be rights and licenses to “intellectual property” as such term is used in, and
interpreted under, Section 365(n) of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™)
(11 U.S.C. § 365(n)). Licensee has all rights, elections, and protections under the Bankruptcy Code
and all other bankruptcy, insolvency, and similar laws with respect to the Agreement, and the
subject matter hereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Licensor acknowledges and
agrees that, if Licensor or its estate shall become subject to any bankruptcy or similar proceeding:

(a) subject to Licensee's rights of election under Section 365(n), all rights, licenses, and
privileges granted to Licensee under this Agreement will continue subject to the respective terms
and conditions hereof, and will not be affected, even by Licensor’s rejection of this Agreement; and

13.04 The Parties represent and warrant to each other that (i) the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement have been duly approved by all required company, or official
action; (ii) no approvals of any third party are required for the execution and delivery of this
Agreement; (iii) the provisions of this Agreement do not conflict with any other agreements signed
by such Party; and (iv) the individual signing this Agreement on behalf of such Party has full
authority to do so.

13.05 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (either originally
or by facsimile), each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together
shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Executed counterparts transmitted by
facsimile or electronic means shall be binding on the Parties.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 140



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the dates
set forth below.

King County, Washington

Name:
Title:
Date:

Ingenco Holdings, LLC

Name: Charles Packard
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date:

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 141



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

EXHIBIT A: THE LICENSED PATENT

United States Patent 7,731,779, a copy of which attached hereto.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 142



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 2.1(b)
Personal Property

The personal property included in the sale consists of the following items located on the Plant Site:

1. All those items of personal property included in the chronological, Master Asset List dated May,
2025, attached as Exhibit 1 to this Schedule. To the extent the Master Asset List contains duplicate, or
functionally equivalent, pieces of equipment or other items of personal property that were purchased after
construction of the Plant was completed in 2009, the most recent purchases of such items shall be included
as personal property, and the earlier, comparable items that have been removed from the Plant Site shall
not be included. General entries on the Master Asset List, such as “site development,” “direct overhead,”
and “allocated overhead” that do not reference personal property are excluded.

2. Equipment that is affixed to the property leased by Seller from the County is considered to be a
“trade fixture” under Washington law, and such equipment shall be deemed to be “personal property” for
purposes of this Schedule, and for all other purposes, given that it is attached to leased property, per Wash.
Admin. Code § 458-12-005 and RCW 84.04.080. These “trade fixtures” are those pieces of equipment
identified on, or falling within the area depicted on, the Plant Operations schematic, attached as Exhibit 2
to this Schedule. To the extent any of the equipment shown on Exhibit 2 duplicates that contained in the
Master Asset List attached as Exhibit 1, only the most recently acquired items of equipment that remain on
the Plant Site shall be included in this Schedule.

3. Plant operating manuals and instructions located on the Plant Site, including those from Guild
Associates, Air Liquide, and other major Plant equipment suppliers. Also included are the Seller’s Plant
operations manuals, gas testing manuals, standard operating procedures (“SOP’s”) and other written
instructions covering Plant operations.

4. The spare parts listed on Exhibit 3 to this Schedule that are stored in the Conex containers located
on the Plant Site.

5. Office and computer equipment (desks, chair, bookcases, etc.), including computer equipment used
for Plant operations and monitoring to the extent not captured in Exhibits 1 and 2.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 143



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit 1 to Schedule 2.1(b)
Master Asset List

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 144



Sys No Status
1 Active
2 Active
3 Active
4 Active
5 Active
6 Active
7 Active
8 Active
9 Active

10 Active
11 Active
12 Active
14 Active
15 Active
16 Active
17 Active
18 Active
19 Active
20 Active
21 Active
22 Active
23 Active
24 Active
25 Active
26 Active
27 Active
28 Active
29 Active
30 Active
31 Active
32 Active
33 Active
34 Active
35 Active
36 Active
37 Active
38 Active
39 Active
40 Active
41 Active
42 Active
43 Active
44 Active
45 Active
46 Active
47 Active
48 Active
49 Active
50 Active
51 Active

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Co Asset No Description

O 00 N O U A WN R

GO DD DD DD D DD DWWWWWWWWWWRNNNNNNNNRNRNERERRRR B B B
PO L XN UBEWIMNNERESOOMNIODNNBEONRLOLOIIYNODUEWNRODOOIOGO B_NRPO

Veh #1 2006 Chevrolet Silverado
Forklift - 1999 Hyster S80XL
Calibrator

Trailer Bio Energy

Software License SOFTCRPT01100 Green Hills
Building

Fuel Storage & Handling - Cedarhills
Interconnection - Cedarhills

LFG / Pipeline - Cedarhills

Site Auxiliares - Cedarhills

Water System Installation - Cedarhills
EPC Building - Cedarhills
Interconnection Gas - Cedarhills
Site Development - Cedarhills
Allocated Overhead - Cedarhills
Cable Trays / Ladders - Cedarhills
Cooling Skid - Cedarhills

Cooling Towers - Cedarhills

Direct Overhead - Cedarhills

Engine Skid - Cedarhills

Equipment Installation - Cedarhills

Exhaust / Ventillation / Intake Materials - Cedarhills

Fuel and Lube Oil Skids - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0299801 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0257991 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0345868 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0266454 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0413769 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0296598 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0235158 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0235152 - Cedarhills
Engine 060376808 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0259656 - Cedarhills
Engine 06E0297566 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0250736 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0247539 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0238916 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0259607 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0380900 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0379508 - Cedarhills
Engine 06R0293150 - Cedarhills
Generator $302122-05 - Cedarhills
Generator $302122-4 - Cedarhills
Generator $302122-01 - Cedarhills
Generator $S303056-02 - Cedarhills
Generator $303056-07 - Cedarhills
Generator $S303056-08 - Cedarhills
Generator $303056-01 - Cedarhills
Generator $302122-07 - Cedarhills
Generator $303056-05 - Cedarhills

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025

Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

09/15/2008
10/03/2008
06/01/2009
10/28/2009
11/18/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009

Mfg Serial No
Speedway Chevrolet 1GCEC19V267271194
Lift Link D004D06621W
Instrument & Valve Servic 11064030

William Scotsman
Woodward Governor (Mototr 8471.80.1000

06R0299801
06R0257991
06R0345868
060266454
06R0413769
06R0296598
06R0235158
06R0235152
060376808
06R0259656
06R0297566
06R0250736
06R0247539
06R0238916
06R0259607
06R0380900
06R0379508
06R0293150
$302122-05
$302122-04
$302122-01
$303056-02
$303056-07
$303056-08
$303056-01
$302122-07
$303056-05

July 22, 2025

Cost
12993.08
12450.00
4315.95
11913.42
2378.67
1464294.13
125016.28
955905.11
804230.47
3078.65
20822.45
6562401.24
3159425.08
182526.08
1640440.68
5511.02
73046.62
45526.22
2377349.4
116624.83
1087333.29
361215.57
15520.74
23430.40
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00
5820.00

Acc Depr
12993.08
12450
4315.95
11913.42
2378.67
581963
125016.28
955905.11
804230.47
3078.65
20822.45
6562401.24
3159425.08
182526.08
1640440.68
5511.02
73046.62
45526.22
2377349.4
116624.83
1087333.29
361215.57
15520.74
23430.4
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
23430.32
5820
5820
5820
5820
5820
5820
5820
5820
5820

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Acquisition Date
09/15/2008
10/03/2008
06/01/2009
10/28/2009
11/18/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009

145



Sys No Status
52 Active
53 Active
54 Active
55 Active
56 Active
57 Active
58 Active
59 Active
60 Active
61 Active
62 Active
63 Active
64 Active
65 Active
66 Active
67 Partial
68 Partial
69 Active
70 Active
71 Active
72 Active
73 Active
74 Partial
75 Active
76 Active
77 Active
78 Active
79 Active
80 Active
81 Active
82 Active
83 Active
84 Active
90 Active
91 Active
92 Active
93 Active
94 Active
95 Active
96 Active
97 Active
98 Active
99 Active

100 Active
101 Active
106 Active
112 Active
113 Active
114 Active
115 Active

Co Asset No Description

52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
106
112
113
114
115

Generator S-303056-09 - Cedarhills
Generator $203755-12 - Cedarhills
Generator S303056-04 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618304 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618302 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618310 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618203 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618301 - Cedarhills
Generator MO8H31618308 - Cedarhills
Mufflers - Cedarhills

Radiator - Cedarhills

SOCS Box - Cedarhills

Switchgear - Cedarhills

Transformers - Cedarhills

EPC - Process Engineering - Cedarhills

EPC - H2S Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
EPC - CO2 Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
EPC - Project Management - Cedarhills

EPC - Motor Control Center - Cedarhills
Other Indirects - Cedarhills

EPC - Oxygen Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
EPC - Thermal Oxidizer - Cedarhills

EPC - Nitrogen Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
EPC - Compressors - Cedarhills

EPC - Other Equipment - Cedarhills

Interest - Cedarhills

Equipment SCR - Cedarhills

Control Equipment - Cedarhills

Other Equipment & Installation - Cedarhills
Ingenco Engineering - Cedarhills

2000 SCFH Vaporizer 500 PSI Max - Cedarhills
Urea Pump Shack

PAK-735 - BK- WD

Replace Compressor - Cedarhills

Gas Calibration - Cedarhills

Online Oil Checking System for Generators - Cedarhills

Recycle Filters to Protecting the Recycle Compressor from

Engineering Onsite Programming - Cedarhills
Trolley System for Guild Skid - Cedarhills
Additional CO2 Membranes - Cedarhills
Paving - Cedarhills

Equipment SCR - Cedarhills

EPC - Other Equipment - Cedarhills

EPC - CO2 Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
Direct Overhead - Cedarhills

Adj Asset #8 - Gas Interconnect

Forklift - Lease

EPC - CO2 Removal Equipment - Cedarhills
Laptop - Matt Schneider

Computer - Cedarhills

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025
Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
10/01/2009
12/01/2009
02/12/2010
02/15/2010
05/01/2010
06/01/2010
06/01/2010
12/01/2010
04/07/2010
12/31/2010
12/31/2010
06/30/2010
04/14/2010
05/03/2010
05/24/2010
02/11/2010
09/08/2010
05/01/2010
01/01/2011
03/16/2011
03/15/2011

Central Welding Supply
Shinn Mechanical
New Pig Corp

Set Point Control
General Mechanical

Lakeside Paving

General Mechanical
CDW Direct
Dell

Mfg Serial No
S303056-09
$203755-12
S303056-04
MO08H31618304
MO08H31618302
MO08H31618310
MO08H31618203
MO08H31618301
MO08H31618308

Job 09-1769

Z0LZ-2100097886

July 22, 2025

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Cost Acc Depr Acquisition Date
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
5820.00 5820 10/01/2009
21493.30 21493.3 10/01/2009

87795.97 87795.97 10/01/2009
17286.38 17286.38 10/01/2009
142289.22 142289.22 10/01/2009
90757.45 90757.45 10/01/2009
1539608.36 1539608.36 10/01/2009
1307074.81 1003681.27 10/01/2009
2196860.00 2073148.01 10/01/2009
131133.21 131133.21 10/01/2009
731162.77 731162.77 10/01/2009
618383.04 618383.04 10/01/2009
1437284.68 1437284.68 10/01/2009

294466.00 294466 10/01/2009
$2,720,171.86 2690774.99 10/01/2009

4880199.18 4880199.18 10/01/2009
798527.68 798527.68 10/01/2009
2049447.99 2049447.99 10/01/2009
583428.01 583428.01 10/01/2009
33840.27 33840.27 10/01/2009
534278.41 534278.41 10/01/2009
86295.87 86295.87 10/01/2009

1314.00 1314 12/01/2009

6725.25 2615.34 02/12/2010
2884.42 2884.42 02/15/2010
68090.09 68090.09 05/01/2010
15304.67 15304.67 06/01/2010
17377.95 17377.95 06/01/2010
47295.87 47295.87 12/01/2010

5862.50 5862.5 04/07/2010

7524.14 7524.14 12/31/2010
333642.33 333642.33 12/31/2010
10317.00 10317 06/30/2010
2114.70 2114.7 04/14/2010
2049.98 2049.98 05/03/2010
19619.35 19619.35 05/24/2010

1295.00 1295 02/11/2010

21629.83 21629.83 09/08/2010
35529.60 35529.6 05/01/2010
36398.75 36398.75 01/01/2011
2437.49 2437.49 03/16/2011
1245.81 1245.81 03/15/2011

146



Sys No Status
116 Active
118 Active
119 Active
120 Active
121 Active
122 Active
123 Active
127 Active
128 Active
129 Active
130 Active
131 Active
138 Active
139 Active
140 Partial
141 Disposed
142 Active
149 Active
157 Active
158 Active
159 Active
160 Active
163 Active
164 Active
174 Active
175 Active
178 Active
179 Active
187 Active
199 Active
200 Active
209 Active
213 Active
214 Active
215 Active
220 Active
221 Active
223 Active
226 Active
229 Active
230 Active
231 Active
232 Active
236 Active
240 Active
249 Active
250 Active
251 Active
252 Active
253 Active

Co Asset No Description

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025
Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

116 Cedarhills Weather Station 01/19/2011
118 Contaiment Drain System for Valve Skid 05/31/2011
119 Insulate Exhaust Header Eng House 05/31/2011
120 Heat Exchanger for HX-6310 05/31/2011
121 Sound Reduction Project 08/31/2011
122 Install 3rd Stage Pre-Filter 08/31/2011
123 VFD Control unit to HX-6310 (Guild) 08/31/2011
127 Cedarhills Power Production Enhancements 12/01/2011
128 Laptop - RPn Earnest 02/17/2012
129 Computer - Bio Energy 08/31/2012
130 Offline Comp Oil Filtration - Cedarhills 04/30/2012
131 Power Production Enhancements - Cedarhills 05/31/2012
138 Back up for SCADA PC - Bio Energy 11/16/2012
139 Medal Temperature Control - Bio Energy 12/31/2012
140 Guild Retrofit - Bio Energy 09/30/2012
141 Carbon Media Beds (General Mechanical) 11/30/2012
142 Backup computer - Bio Energy 12/18/2012
149 Max Gas - Individual Injector Offset 07/31/2013
157 Bio Energy Propane Injection 10/31/2013
158 Motor for Compressor 08/31/2013
159 Replace Motor on Recycle Compressor 05/31/2013
160 AC in MCC Room 10/31/2013
163 Laptop - Bio Energy 11/07/2013
2237 Cedarhills Site Lease 08/03/2007
174 Scaffolding 04/24/2014
175 Scaffolding 05/05/2014
178 - Transfel Laptop for Matthew Schneider - BIO 11/01/2008
179 - Transfer Computer - Cedarhills (Office) 07/01/2009
187 Compressor Motor 07/24/2014
199 - Transfei Dell T5500 Computers 06/27/2014
200 Hard drives - Server Build 09/08/2014
209 Engine 06R0217606 - Cedarhills 11/04/2014
213 Ceder Hills Plant Inlet Gas Chromatograph 01/01/2015
214 Tuthill Blower Replacement 01/01/2015
215 Second Stage Compressor Motor 01/01/2015
220 Compressor VSG-2101 SER#4648R 03/11/2015
221 Vacuum pump motor-Reliance 250 hp 03/06/2015
223 Bare Pump 04/20/2015
226 Custom Motor-Glycol Pump Motor 05/07/2015
229 CAPX_02 FUEL GAS COALESCER-RELOCATE FIL-TREK VESSE 07/09/2015
230 CAPX_01-FLARED GAS REROUTE-4" 304 SS PIPING 07/09/2015
231 CAPX_01-GUILD TIE-IN 07/09/2015
232 Spare Motor/Vac Pump Fans 06/24/2015
236 Compact Flowmeter 09/09/2015
240 LAPTOP/BEW SERVER/FIREWALL 12/10/2015

System Platform 03/01/2016

Development Studio 03/01/2016

InTouch for System Platform w/Historian Client 03/01/2016

InTouch for System Platform w/Historian 03/01/2016

TOP Server GE Intelligent Platforms Suite 03/01/2016

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Dell
Dell

Dell

General Mechanical
Dell

Dell

Brand Energy Services
Brand Energy Services
Dell

Dell

Dykman Electrical, Inc.
Dell

CDW Direct

Medric

Synergy Refrigeration,Inc
Delta Electric Motors,Inc
Beckwith & Kuffel

Motion Industries

SHINN MECHANICAL,INC
SHINN MECH,INC

SHINN MECH,INC

Delta Electric Motors,INC
Rosemount

DELL

InSource Software Solutio
InSource Software Solutio
Insource Software Solutio
Insource Software Solutio
InSource Software Solutio

Mfg Serial No

Z1F2QJOK/YPX and Z1F2V27P
06R0217606

74294
74294
74294
74294
74294

July 22, 2025

ATTA

Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Cost
15914.1
18681.07
20653.10
39981.03
396957.98
16898.90
16213.12
52549.87
1026.90
1111.44
8709.55
10995.43
1374.71
81646.10
4437560.64
3760.00
1349.24
7658.30
36344.54
49784.98
53030.06
13308.43
1351.89
144,196.22
1033.83
590.78
2020.29
1643.51
30599.95
700.00
645.18
12295.18
246005.05
11252.60
35675.47
61182.75
9116.97
7347.78
8272.30
18820.38
10702.53
6191.29
678.75
8905.30
18258.48
28576.00
12129.00
4466.00
4466.00
995.00

Acc Depr

15914.1 01/19/2011
18681.07 05/31/2011
20653.1 05/31/2011
39981.03 05/31/2011
396957.98 08/31/2011
16898.9 08/31/2011
16213.12 08/31/2011
52549.87 12/01/2011
1018.35
1111.44
8709.55
10995.43
1374.71
81646.1
1476166.37 09/30/2012

1349.24
7658.3 07/31/2013
36344.54 10/31/2013
49784.98 08/31/2013
53030.06 05/31/2013
13308.43 10/31/2013
1351.89 11/07/2013
118947.69 08/03/2007
1033.83 04/24/2014
590.78 05/05/2014
2020.29 11/01/2008
1643.51 07/01/2009
30599.95 07/24/2014
688.34 06/27/2014
645.18 09/08/2014
12295.18 11/04/2014
246005.05 01/01/2015
11252.6 01/01/2015
35675.47 01/01/2015
61182.75 03/11/2015
9116.97 03/06/2015
7286.56 04/20/2015
8203.36 05/07/2015
18349.89 07/09/2015
10434.94 07/09/2015
6036.52 07/09/2015
661.83 06/24/2015
8534.24 09/09/2015
18258.48 12/10/2015
28576 03/01/2016
12129 03/01/2016
4466 03/01/2016
4466 03/01/2016
995 03/01/2016

Acquisition Date

147



Sys No Status
254 Active
263 Active
268 Active
274 Active
275 Active
291 Active
293 Active
296 Active
298 Active
299 Active
300 Active
307 Active
308 Active
309 Active
321 Active
323 Active
325 Active
326 Active
328 Active
329 Active
343 Active
347 Active
359 Active
362 Active
371 Active
378 Active
380 Active
381 Active
382 Active
384 Active
386 Active
387 Active
388 Active
389 Active
390 Active
391 Active
392 Active
399 Active
400 Active
401 Active
403 Active
405 Active
406 Active
407 Active
408 Active
409 Active
414 Active
419 Active
422 Active
426 Active

Co Asset No Description

Wonderware Primarey Software Maintenance
DeOxo Trim Heater E-6300

Sage Depreciation Software
PowerEdge T430 Server & PowerVault drive
Flowmeter

SCR Catalyst Blocks

SCR E Frame Catalyst Modules x 96
Glide Valve Replacement on Guild Unit
Install Water Header

Outdoor Sound Equipment

V-4190 Weld build up

Medal Check Valves PSA

Medal PSA Valves

Medal PSA Valves

V-4191 = V-4190 NDE

TSA Valve Changeout

MCC Cooling Project

33 GPM Qil Cooler304L Components
MCC Cooling Project 2 5 Ton A/C Units
MC Cooling Unit 2 5 Ton A/C

AC Generator

V-4191 Repair Remove 8" Piping
Crankcase Vent System

Propane Injection Elite Coriolis Meter
ST98 Flexmaster Flow Meter Insertion
Tou Refractory Blanket Reline of Tank
Tou Refractory

Tou Refractory

C-Group Catalyst Cuze Bricks

C-Group Catalyst Cuze Bricks

VSG Compressor s/n 4693R

VSG901 Compressor s/n 7270R

1st Stage Compressor VSG2101 s/n 8048
C-3142 Repairs

2nd Stage Inline Separator

Rebuild VSG-2101 s/n 4383 C-2117
Rebuild VSG-2101 s/n 4318 C-2115
V-4191 Repair

V-4191 Repair

V-4191 Repair Manway Access Tower
Install Separator V-3135

Glycol Vertical Cooler

Evapco Fluid Cooler

V-4191 Repair Weld Build Up

V-4191 Media Hydro Excavation

2 Pilot Assembly Flare Pilots

Evapco Glycol Fluid Cooler

V-4190 Lining Repairs 2405 Coating
V-4190 Line 1 & 2 Repair Manway Access Tower
C-Group Catalyst SCR

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025

Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

03/01/2016
04/19/2016
05/03/2016
06/08/2016
07/06/2016
11/01/2016
11/03/2016
12/31/2015
12/31/2015
12/22/2016
11/01/2016
02/28/2017
02/28/2017
02/28/2017
05/01/2017
06/15/2017
07/07/2017
07/07/2017
07/21/2017
07/14/2017
11/01/2017
01/29/2018
04/04/2018
04/11/2018
08/07/2018
09/06/2018
09/01/2018
09/01/2018
10/01/2018
11/14/2018
12/07/2018
12/19/2018
01/01/2019
02/11/2019
02/14/2019
02/20/2019
02/20/2019
03/19/2019
04/01/2019
04/01/2019
04/19/2019
04/23/2019
05/31/2019
06/01/2019
06/01/2019
06/04/2019
07/25/2019
08/22/2019
09/24/2019
10/17/2019

Mfg Serial No
InSource Software Solutio 74294
Chromolox Inc 1392517
Sage
Erick Halter
Rosemount Inc 70970994
Johnson Matthey Inc 244347
Johnson Matthey Inc 245173

Bruel & Kjaer North Ameri 3095471
Seattle Boiler Works 117081
Paramount Supply Co 486979
Pentair Valves & Controls 824795000
Pentair Valves & Controls 824795000

Seattle Boiler Works 117669
Shinn Mechanical, Inc 13473

All Star Heating & A/C 74518
Southwest Thermal Technol ~ BEW0001
All Star Heating & Coolin 74518

All Star Heating & Coolin 459

Cummings Generator Techno x17h351635
Shinn Mechanical

Solberg Manufacturing
Micro Motion

Fluid Components Internat
Guy Nielson Company
BrandSafway Services LLC
BrandSafway Services LLC
AeriNOx Inc

Shinn Mechanical

VMC Manufacturing LLC
VMC Manufacturing LLC
Wyatt Refrigeration

Shinn Mechanical

Control Factors Seattle |
Wyatt Refrigeration
Wyatt Refrigeration

NW Tank & Inspection
BrandSafway Services
BrandSafway Services
Shinn Mechanical
Industrial Refrigeration
Various

Seattle Boiler Works
Pro-Vac

MRW Technologies

Shinn Mechanical Inc

NW Tank & Lining Inspecti
BrandSafway Services LLC
AeriNOx Inc

July 22, 2025

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Cost Acc Depr Acquisition Date
8635.00 8635 03/01/2016
58783.00 52414.84 04/19/2016
3760.00 3760 05/03/2016
16407.91 16407.91 06/08/2016
11072.85 9688.78 07/06/2016
26664.75 26664.75 11/01/2016
69808.96 69808.96 11/03/2016
41659.28 38534.85 12/31/2015
11215.12 10373.96 12/31/2015
7651.31 7651.31 12/22/2016
9378.7 9378.7 11/01/2016
4561.21 4561.21 02/28/2017
16749.38 16749.38 02/28/2017
3179.81 3179.81 02/28/2017
18965.9 15222.63 05/01/2017
4495.5 3521.47 06/15/2017
8155.42 6320.43 07/07/2017
13120.5 10168.39 07/07/2017
2718.48 2084.18 07/21/2017
7249.27 5618.2 07/14/2017
8304.24 8304.24 11/01/2017
6497.00 4656.18 01/29/2018
6054.75 4238.36 04/04/2018
13668.26 9567.8 04/11/2018
5698.17 3798.79 08/07/2018
55633.68 36625.52 09/06/2018
10697.53 7042.52 09/01/2018
3228.07 2125.16 09/01/2018
50794.87 50794.87 10/01/2018
4930.44 4930.44 11/14/2018
43730.11 43730.11 12/07/2018
38174.69 38174.69 12/19/2018
71786.86 44866.81 01/01/2019
5433.8 3350.84 02/11/2019
45657.08 28155.2 02/14/2019
26250.55 16133.36 02/20/2019
26206.97 15942.59 02/20/2019
32308.5 19385.1 03/19/2019
6457.36 3874.43 04/01/2019
2009.10 1205.45 04/01/2019
9629.56 5697.51 04/19/2019
204675.38 60549.8 04/23/2019
63349.76 36954.04 05/31/2019
32088.04 18718 06/01/2019
112548.72 112548.72 06/01/2019
14908.31 8696.5 06/04/2019
55909.45 31682.04 07/25/2019
16550 9240.42 08/22/2019
5255.16 2890.36 09/24/2019
48876.96 26475.05 10/17/2019

148



Sys No Status
427 Active
428 Active
430 Active
432 Active
433 Active
435 Active
436 Active
437 Active
438 Active
439 Active
441 Active
443 Active
444 Active
445 Active
447 Active
448 Active
451 Active
453 Active
454 Active
455 Active
456 Active
457 Active
459 Active
461 Active
464 Active
465 Active
466 Active
469 Active
470 Active
472 Active
474 Active
475 Active
477 Active
480 Active
481 Active
482 Active
483 Active
484 Active
486 Active
487 Active
488 Active
490 Active
491 Active
492 Active
495 Active
496 Active
497 Active
498 Active
499 Active
502 Active

Co Asset No Description

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025

V-4190 Repair 10/21/2019
Testo Analyzer 350 Emissions Testing Equip 11/18/2019
Vilter Compressor VSG 2101 S/N 4377 11/01/2019
V-4190 Inspection & Weld 12/31/2019

VSG Rebuild as VSG-901 s/n 4427R 2nd Stage Compressor 12/31/2019

Activated Carbon V-4191 02/28/2020
Guild Valves 03/31/2020
HX-205 Tube Bundles 03/25/2020
CatBed A& B 04/01/2020
GDS-100 BV Goodway Descaling System 04/14/2020
AC Generator s/n X19C124602 04/08/2020
TSA Media V-21 V-22 05/05/2020

Toshiba 500 hp Motor 4th Stage Compressor Spare - VSG- 06/02/2020

Whole Catalyst Block Oxidation Catalyst 05/14/2020
9 Actuators 05/20/2020
Filter Media Change out From TSA 1 & TSA 2 Vapor Phase 05/28/2020
Digital Starter Soft Starter VMX-2450-BP 06/08/2020
TSA Media Scaffolding V-21V-22 06/22/2020
Bead 4959 PSA Media Changout PSA 1 & PSA 2 06/26/2020
PSA Media Changeout PSA 1 & PSA 2 06/26/2020
Guild Valves & Actuators 07/01/2020

HX 205 Tube Bundles Remove/Repalce 205 Heat Exchange 07/01/2020

TSA Media Remove/Install TSA Spools 07/01/2020
Turnkey Filter Media Change PS 1 & 2 07/22/2020
Qil Cooler HX for VSG-2101 09/15/2020
Catalyst Bed Recoat SCR Elements 09/21/2020
VSG-751 Compressor rebuild s/n 4440 09/30/2020
V-4190 Sulfa Treat Media 02/12/2021
V-4190 Sulfa Treat Media 02/19/2021
Oxygen Transmitter Deoxo AIT-6009 03/22/2021
Refurbish 5000 Vapor Phase Vessels H2S Media 04/01/2021
Guild Actuators x 6 BEW 8210 04/22/2021
2020 Medal Check Valves 04/30/2021
Guild Valves 06/17/2021
Gas Mass Flow Meter FIT 290 06/01/2021
Guild Valves 06/23/2021
VSG -901 Vilter Compressor 07/13/2021
Catalyst Bed A 07/13/2021
Automatic Transfer Switch 08/01/2021
Omega 43p Kaeser Blower Block s/n 2915 08/04/2021
Guild Valves 08/20/2021
V7370 & V7177 Turnkey Changeout 09/22/2021
VSG 751 2nd Stage Compressor s/n 4416 09/29/2021
SCR Bricks x 128 11/02/2021
CPI Separator 12/01/2021
SCR Catalysts x 64 01/18/2022
Change Out Services 01/21/2022
Pilot Plant from ESM 12/31/2021
Variable Frequency Drive 03/25/2022
Rebuild VSG-751 12/31/2021

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

BrandSafway Services LLC
Testo Inc

Wyatt Refrigeration
Seattle Boiler Works
VMC Manufacturing LLC
Cabot Corp

Schimberg Co

R&R Engineering Co
AeriNOx Inc

Goodway Technologies
Cummings Generator
Interra Global Corp
Dykman Electrial, Inc.
Johnson Matthey Inc
Metso Automation USA
Prominent Systems Inc
Platt Electric Supply
BrandSafway Services LLC
Interra Global Corp
Coastal Chemical Co
Shinn Mechanical

Shinn Mechanical

Shinn Mechanical
Prominent Systems
VMC Manufacturing
AeriNOx Inc

Wyatt Refrigeration
Cabot Corp
Freightquote.com Inc
CB Engineering Pacific
Karbonous

Schimberg Co

Superior Valve Co
Schimberg Company
Fluid Components Intl
Neles USA

VMC Manufacturing
AeriNOx Inc

Custom Electrical Service
R&R Compressor Service Co
Shinn Mechanical
Karbonous

Wyatt Refrigeration
AeriNOx Inc

Highland Tank

AeriNOx

Pacific Coast Carbon
ESM

Platt Electric Supply
Wyatt Refrigeration

ATTA

Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Mfg Serial No Cost

4440

3276.46
12190.20
23941.49
8153.45
43880.96
139027.50
30673.12
21520
90680.92
7406.59
6593.84
25475
32423.92
10267.79
10461.87
7000
6238
4756.69
31080.1
16205.3
12761.59
5821.5
3959.01
7000
10294
18269
38663.05
118080
22450
12848.88
39000
7137.51
5059.36
10319.91
5353.06
7794.06
40499.98
84125.92
6901.82
7499.00
8701.02
8525
23162.03
36388
19854.55
18929
33800
190809.93
5201.21
23230.64

July 22, 2025

Acc Depr
1774.77 10/21/2019
6501.45 11/18/2019

12968.31 11/01/2019
4280.58 12/31/2019
23037.52 12/31/2019
139027.5 02/28/2020
30673.12 03/31/2020
10760 03/25/2020
90680.92 04/01/2020
3703.3 04/14/2020
3296.9 04/08/2020
25475 05/05/2020
15671.55 06/02/2020
5048.33 05/14/2020
10113.12 05/20/2020
7000 05/28/2020
3015.03 06/08/2020
4756.69 06/22/2020
31080.1 06/26/2020
16205.3 06/26/2020
12761.59 07/01/2020
2765.21 07/01/2020
3959.01 07/01/2020
7000 07/22/2020
4718.08 09/15/2020
18269 09/21/2020
17398.39 09/30/2020
118080 02/12/2021
22450 02/19/2021
5139.56 03/22/2021
15600 04/01/2021
7137.51 04/22/2021
5059.36 04/30/2021
10319.91 06/17/2021
2052.01 06/01/2021
7794.06 06/23/2021
15187.5 07/13/2021
84125.92 07/13/2021
2530.66 08/01/2021
5499.27 08/04/2021
8701.02 08/20/2021
8525 09/22/2021
8106.7 09/29/2021
36388 11/02/2021
6618.2 12/01/2021
18929 01/18/2022
33800 01/21/2022
62013.21 12/31/2021
1560.36 03/25/2022
7549.94 12/31/2021

Acquisition Date

149



Sys No Status
506 Active
507 Active
508 Active
509 Active
510 Active
511 Active
514 Active
515 Active
516 Active
517 Active
518 Active
519 Active
520 Active
521 Active
522 Active
523 Active
524 Active
525 Active
526 Active
527 Active
528 Active
529 Active
530 Active
531 Active
532 Active
533 Active
534 Active
535 Active
536 Active
537 Active
538 Active
539 Active
540 Active
541 Active
542 Active
543 Active
544 Active
545 Active
546 Active
547 Active
548 Active
549 Active
550 Active
551 Active
552 Active
553 Active
554 Active
555 Active
556 Active
557 Active

Co Asset No Description

PSA Media

PSA Media Bed support Activated Alumina
Cleaning of Vessel 4191

Media Change V-4191

Turnkey Change Out Service PSA Media 1 &2 Vapor Units

Install New Methane Detector Transmitter & Receiver
CPI Condensate Tank Oil/Water Separator

CPI| Separator

ACT 1 Change Out Service

V-7370 & V-7177 Change Out Service
Qil/Water Separator

Guild Valve Vessel Tank Insulation

C-9541 Motor Replace Bearings

Replace Fin Tube HX Radiator for Engine Group
Change Out 7370 CVP4 2600 Vacuum Service
Butterfly Guild Valves x 38

Plate & Frame Exch - GenHouse

Injector Driver Project

Change Out Service ACT 2 Carbon Bed
Molecular Sieve Desiccant - 4 x 330 Ib drums - V-7177
Oil Separator

4th Stage Rebuild Compressor Overhaul

New Oil/Water Separator Condensate Tank Relocate
Kaeser Fuel Gas BlowerOmega 43P

ACT 1 Change Out Service

Guild Bypass System - Valves

GUILD Actuators

4th Stage Compressor VSSG341ST

VSG-341 Rebuild Compressor C-10561
Mechanical Integrity Inspection Ports Install
Aluminum Cladding for H2S Towers

Guild Actuators

Injector Driver x 14

Nitrogen Supply Line Upgrade

TSA Media Alumina

Stamford Generator s/n X22K455625

ACT 2 Change Out Service Carbon Bed

Radiator for Engine Group Coil Removal/Replace
Guild Actuators

Media TSA Vessels

Rebuild Compressor VSG 2101 s/n 4379R

TSA Media Change Out Service

TSA Media Access to V21 & V22

Auxiliary Storage Units

Insulation of H2S Tanks

Guild Vessel Insulation

AC Stamford Generator s/n X22K455626
Access V1 & V2 Dismantle for TSA

Vacuum Pump Oil Coolers

Enardo Element Assembly Gasket

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025

Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

04/20/2022
05/18/2022
06/01/2022
06/24/2022
06/29/2022
06/08/2022
08/12/2022
08/24/2022
10/13/2022
10/13/2022
10/27/2022
10/31/2022
11/01/2022
11/01/2022
11/08/2022
11/17/2022
11/01/2022
11/22/2022
12/15/2022
01/01/2023
01/13/2023
02/07/2023
02/01/2023
02/01/2023
02/23/2023
03/17/2023
03/30/2023
03/01/2023
03/01/2023
04/12/2023
04/12/2023
04/13/2023
04/14/2023
04/21/2023
04/27/2023
05/01/2023
05/03/2023
05/05/2023
05/31/2023
06/01/2023
06/21/2023
06/21/2023
07/01/2023
07/01/2023
07/01/2023
07/01/2023
07/14/2023
08/01/2023
08/01/2023
09/01/2023

Mfg Serial No
Research Catalysts Inc
Research Catalysts Inc

Pro Vac LLC

Shinn Mechanical Inc
Karbonous Inc

Supression Systems, Inc
Shinn Mechanical Inc

NW Tank & Lining & Inspec
Pacific Coast Carbon
Pacific Coast Carbon

Shinn Mechanical Inc

D&G Mechanical Insulation
integrated Power Services
Sutton Stromart Limited
Pacific Coast Carbon
Valmet Flow Control

WCR Incorporated
Technical & Assembly Serv
Pacific Coast Carbon

Delta Enterprises Inc

D&G Mechanical Insulation
Weyatt Refrigeration

Shinn Mechanical Inc

R&R Compressor Service Co
Pacific Coast Carbon

Unit Process Company
Schimberg Company

VMC Manufacturing LLC
Wyatt Refrigeration Co
D&G Mechanical Insulation
D&G Mechanical Insulation
Schimberg Company
Technical & Assembly Serv
Shinn Mechanical

Interra Global Corp
Cummins Generator Technol
Pacific Coast Carbon

Shinn Mechanical Inc
Schimberg Company
Freightquote.com

Wyatt Refrigeration Co
Pacific Coast Carbon
BrandSafway Services LLC
Afordable Storage Contain
BrandSafway Services
BrandSafway Services
Cummins Generator Technol
BrandSafway Services LLC
Hydra Power Systems Inc
Applied Control Equipment

July 22, 2025

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Cost Acc Depr Acquisition Date
34807.9 34807.9 04/20/2022
37944 37944 05/18/2022
112184.96 112184.96 06/01/2022
12332 12332 06/24/2022
12350 12350 06/29/2022
15054.95 4265.58 06/08/2022
7705 2054.66 08/12/2022
10950 2828.75 08/24/2022
36740.6 36740.6 10/13/2022
6636.14 6636.14 10/13/2022
3670 886.92 10/27/2022
10100 2440.83 10/31/2022
10895 2632.95 11/01/2022
22282 5384.82 11/01/2022
10239 10239 11/08/2022
30850.5 30850.5 11/17/2022
8010.59 1935.89 11/01/2022
15650 3651.68 11/22/2022
33800 33800 12/15/2022
5106.17 5106.17 01/01/2023
12050 2711.25 01/13/2023
34515.50 7478.35 02/07/2023
20620.00 4467.67 02/01/2023
8928.00 6448 02/01/2023
36840.00 36840 02/23/2023
5534.11 1106.82 03/17/2023
10163.10 6775.4 03/30/2023
115859.11 24137.31 03/01/2023
22679.25 4724.85 03/01/2023
7800.00 1560 04/12/2023
53000.00 10600 04/12/2023
16043.97 6417.58 04/13/2023
8805.05 1761.01 04/14/2023
11341.00 2173.69 04/21/2023
28000.00 17888.88 04/27/2023
10744.08 2059.28 05/01/2023
33800.00 33800 05/03/2023
6782.71 1300.01 05/05/2023
5819.32 2133.74 05/31/2023
4725.00 2887.5 06/01/2023
30069.61 5262.18 06/21/2023
6543.00 3816.75 06/21/2023
3481.67 2030.98 07/01/2023
13100.00 2292.5 07/01/2023
14657.65 2565.09 07/01/2023
6409.49 1121.66 07/01/2023
10427.36 1824.79 07/14/2023
1946.82 1081.56 08/01/2023
28990.80 4831.8 08/01/2023
29128.32 4611.97 09/01/2023

150



Sys No Status
558 Active
559 Active
560 Active
561 Active
562 Active
563 Active
564 Active
565 Active
566 Active
567 Active
568 Active
569 Active
570 Active
571 Active
572 Active

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

Co Asset No Description

Ferrix A33E Resin Media

Freight from Inv 140771736

Guild Butterfly Valve Replacement

C-Group Exhaust Pipe

C-Group Exhaust Header

Genhouse Insulation

Genhouse Insulation

H2S Tower Insulation

Vac Pump Oil Coolers B/D

Group Radiator Replacement

New Vac Pump Oil Cooler & Cores x 2
Genhouse Radiator & Detonation Arrestor
12" Butterfly & 3: Vent Line-Flare inlet Piping Mods
Vacuum Pump A&C Bearing & Seal Changes
H2S Towers Stainless Conversion

BEW Asset Listing - May 2025

Acquisition Date Vendor/Mfg

09/01/2023
09/01/2023
10/01/2023
11/01/2023
11/01/2023
12/21/2023
12/27/2023
03/01/2024
07/01/2024
09/01/2024
10/01/2024
10/01/2024
11/05/2024
12/31/2024
02/01/2025

Mfg Serial No
Purolite LLC

Hydra-Power Systems Inc
Shinn Mechanical Inc
Performance Contracting |
Shinn Mechanical Inc
Performance Contracting |
BrandSafway Services LLC
Pape Material Handling Ex
Shinn Mechanical Inc
Shinn Mechanical Inc
Affton Radiator Service
Affton Radiator Service
Shinn Mechanical
Gardner Denver Nash
Shinn Mechanical Inc

July 22, 2025

Cost
11321.15
3571.70
20192.03
17050.00
58792.75
5943.00
7948.14
10109.10
7158.20
5564.51
13572.00
13225.28
9512.53
64564.97
18734.21

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Acc Depr Acquisition Date

8962.58 09/01/2023
565.52 09/01/2023
15144.02 10/01/2023
2415.42 11/01/2023
8328.98 11/01/2023
742.87 12/21/2023
993.51 12/27/2023
1095.15 03/01/2024
536.86 07/01/2024
324.59 09/01/2024
678.6 10/01/2024
661.26 10/01/2024
396.35 11/05/2024
1614.12 12/31/2024
312.23 02/01/2025

151



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit 2 to Schedule 2.1(b)
Plant Schematic

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 152



Exhibit 2 to Schedule 2.1(c)

Cedar Hills Landfill Gas « 1
Reclamation Process Schematic High BTU Gas ]
To Pipeline — c

1st Stage

Landfill Gas Compression

2nd Stage

4th Stage Compression

3'd Stage Compression

Air Cool Gas Stream

Aftercooler

booroms
Air Cool Gas

St>eam
Aftercooler

ATTA

Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Sales Gas
Tank

into Plant : — | Generator Sets
Compression Hydrogen Sulfide
— Removal r————————- — = —I
Air Cool Gas Stream Air Cool Gas Stream Kaiser Blowers (3) |
Aftercooler ) Aftercooler | TSA Dryer-Water Removal |
To Leachate ‘ (Molecular Sieve) |
Syst »n
ysiem > Condensate |<— > : |
Recvcle <) Knock Out Pot o9 ‘
Y / &= \ TTO Leachate / = \ / \ I c1>.> |
System To Leachate Aftercooler | ,% . |
N — A System | =y ® |
cF —
r————_—_—————— — — e — — — — — —————— — = %) |
| -: — Flare | g g |
I VOC and Carbon I S k Sk I
I Dioxide Removal I Thermal Oxidizer I § < |
System I I I
| | —— |
I } |
(>4
| A | / e e o — — —— - — _I
| | i Aftercooler L
|~ Coalescing I —r————————————— A r L
I v Filter I | recvel | I I
ecycle .
: Activated PSA : Ll Jo<a\ T compressor : Kaiser Blower () : :
; To leachate I ,
| Carbon Adsorption Cycle System ) I I Aftercooler ¢ | | Acid Scrubber |
| o ! | 4 ! | ' |
| § % | | = Vacuum Pun]p | —————P |
I gz | | | carbon Filter | I c I
| % % | | Fuel Gas Tank | Aftercooler |
| E =8 | | r ! Condensate |
I pS.A 2 | I | —| Discharge |
| 4 Regeneration Cycle | I ., | Ij\ Sulfur . |
I Carbon I | 3 I | Scavengler [E I
| Particulate \I/ | | 3 o | | g |
I Filter 1st Stage a1 o0 = I I 8 |
| Membrane I | g g | Molecular | S I
I I 5 c Gate @ |
I < o I | Economize a |
I v I I R e I | Trim N
| | | \_/ \/ | | Heate I
| 2nd Stage | | |
! | o
] Membrane | | . | | Oxygen Removal I
Nitrogen Removal System |
N | . _ T i Lo 2 ystem . ___
METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 153



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Exhibit 3 to Schedule 2.1(b)
List of Spares

See attached.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 154



12:16 PM
o1ten7

Accrual Basis

Account 1352 Spares (May 31, 2025)

Date

Mar-16

01/01/2016
03/27/2015
03/07/2018
2/6/2019
07/02/2019
12/30/2019
03/11/2020
5/20/2019
03/25/2022
07/22/2022
08/09/2022
09/01/2022
10/31/2022
03/14/2023
03/14/2023
08/02/2023
08/10/2023

10/23/2023

Total 1352 - Finished Goods -- Inventory

TOTAL

Name

Memo

Split

Amount

Dykman Electrical

ABB, Inc.

arner DenverNash LI

Rogers Equipment Sales, Inc.
R&R Compressor Service Co.
VMC Manufacturing LLC
Northwest Industrial Repair
Chromalo, Inc.

Wyatt Refrigeration Co.

Platt Electric Supply, Inc.
VMC Manufacturing LLC
Integrated Power Services LLC
Wyatt Refrigeration Co.

R&R Compressor Service Co,
Center Electric, Inc.

VMC Manufacturing LLC
Wyatt Refrigeration Co.
Integrated Power Services LLC

Wyatt Refrigeration Co.

Toshiba 400 hp Motor/s/n 140302887; VSG-751

Serial # 2500kVA Padmounted Transformer = JC791730001

Nash Vacuum Pump;

'n 07D1300

Marathon #E769 350hp, 3600rpm, 460 volt, 447/9TS frame,

, premium eff. s/n WAA.
Inv # 39045726 - Omega 63 Kaeser Blower Block Rebuild s/n 1015 BJ 2012.

WA State Sales Tax not collected by Vendor - 1352 / 4026

Tuthill Blower BL-306, s/n 376623

Invoice #1707013 - Guild TSA SCR Heater Controller - MXPCII - 4091 1LOF040

Invoice # 21954 - VSG-2101 - s/n 4383 - Spare 1st Stage Compressor - Rebuild

Invoice # 2Q16977 - Variable Frequency Drive x 1

Invoice # S1253478 - Compressor VSG901 - BEW-8576

4020 - Accounts Payable

Invoice # 6801829 - BEW-8758 - 500 hp Toshiba Motor, Model # 3F4500K398078 TKKH - s/n 151001847

Invoice # 25412 - BEW-

- dated 08/25/2022 - VSG-901 Rebuild - S/N 4427R
Invoice # 42053698 - BEW-8844 - Kacser Air Compressor Motor - s/n 1542

Invoice # 81733-000 - BEW-5931 - Vac Pump Motor TECO (5 Years listed on Invoice)

Invoice # SI261896 - VSSG341ST Compressor - BEW-8818

Invoice # 26378 - BEW-9150 - Compressor VSG341ST - 4th Stage Rebuild - s/n 4482

Invoice # 6804123 - BEW-8880 - 3rd Stage Compressor Motor s/n 221200793 - (10 Years) put into st...

Invoice # 26609 - BE

287 - VSG-2101 Rebuild C-2110 Compressor - s/n 4381R

G/1

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL

30,599.95
38,162.04
24,140.00
17,404.70

8,135.19
3,483.00
12,286.92
574934
2543176
5201.21
54,341.88
13,395.00
36,024.13
6,711.85
15,50046

126,567.06
32,262.05
68,244.41

17,058.66

540,699.61

540,699.61

July 22, 2025

ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Description

Warranty Rebuild; Spare 2nd /3rd Stage Compressor
Motor

Spare transformer for plant electrical supply.
Spare guild vacuum pump
Spare Ist stage compressor motor

Spare BL-404

155

Page 101



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 2.1(c)

Transferred Contracts

1. Propane Supply Agreement and Equipment Lease Non-Residential (“Propane Agreement”) dated
February 20, 2014 between Seller and AmeriGas Propane (“AmeriGas”).

2. Product Sale Agreement (“Product Agreement”) dated February 20, 2023 between Seller and
Central Welding Supply Company, Inc.

3. Contract Order # CO500541255 with 8x8 for VOIP services.

4. Rental Agreement for a 85’ Diesel Stick Boom w/rt non-mark tire from Pape Rents.

5. Republic Services; Trash and Recycle Services Agreement dated January 12, 2023.

6. Network Administration Agreement dated October 9, 2016 between Seller and Archer Integration.
7. Service Agreement dated May 2, 2024 between Seller and Vestis.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 156



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 2.1(d)
Transferred Permits

1. Order of Approval to Notice of Construction No. 9815, Registration No. 29205, issued August 15,
2008, by Puget Sound Clean Air Agency (“PSCAA”) to Robert Greene / Bio Energy (Washington), LLC,
pursuant to Article 6 of Regulation I of the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency to Construct, Install, or Establish
a Landfill Gas Reclamation processing system rated to produce 4000 cfm of pipeline quality natural gas,
twelve (12) Detroit Diesel Series 60 compression ignited Engine Generators rated at 350 kW each using
landfill gas or diesel fuel oil, controlled by two (2) selective catalytic Nox reduction units rated for 15,000
cfm, two (2) oxidation catalysts rated for 15, 000 cfm, a thermal oxidizer rated at 5535 cfm and an
emergency flare rated for 5830 cfm at the installation address of 16645 228" Street, Maple Valley, WA,
98030.

2. Order of Approval to Notice of Construction No. 9900, Registration No. 29205, issued March 9,
2009, by PSCAA to Robert Greene / Bio Energy (Washington), LLC, pursuant to Article 6 of Regulation I
of the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency to Construct, Install, or Establish six (6) Detroit Diesel Series 60
compression ignited Engine Generators rated at 350 kW each using landfill gas or diesel fuel oil, controlled
by one (1) selective catalytic Nox reduction unit rated for 15,000 cfm, and one (1) oxidation catalysts rated
for 15,000 cfm at the installation address of 16645 228" Street, Maple Valley, WA, 98030.

3. Order of Approval to Notice of Construction 12185, Registration No. 29205, issued April 15,
2024, by PSCAA to Bio Energy (Washington), LLC, pursuant to Article 6 of Regulation I of the Puget
Sound Clean air Agency to modify the Notice of Construction Orders of Approval Nos. 9815 and 9900 to
limit when the eighteen (18) Detroit Diesel Series 60 compression ignited Engine Generators rated at 350
kW each may operate on liquid fuel only (Mode 1), eliminate Mode 1 source test emission limit
requirements, and clarify annual source testing requirements at the installation address of 16650 228" Ave
SW, Maple Valley, WA, 98038.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 157



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 2.1(e)

Transferred Intellectual Property

1. To the extent assignable, the software referenced in BEW Software Summary 2025, a copy of
which is attached to this Schedule 2.1(e).

2. To the extent needed to operate the Plant, and to the extent owned by Seller, any and all rights of
Seller in, arising out of, or associated with any of the following in any jurisdiction: (a) copyrights and
works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable, and all registrations, applications for registration, and
renewals of any of the foregoing; and (b) trade secrets, inventions (whether or not patentable), discoveries,
improvements, technology, business and technical information, databases, data compilations and
collections, tools, methods, processes, techniques, and other confidential and proprietary information and
all rights therein.

3. Any intellectual property contained in the Standard Operating Procedures prepared by Seller for
Plant operations, as well as any other Seller prepared operating manuals.

4, Any intangible know-how of Seller, its officers, employees, and consultants related to the
ownership and operation of the Plant (to the extent owned by Seller) that is (i) disclosed by Seller to
Purchaser, (ii) discerned or learned by Purchaser from Seller, its officers, employees, and consultants during
the course of Seller’s negotiation and performance of this Agreement or the Transition Services Agreement,
or (iii) communicated to Purchaser by current or former employees of Seller (the “Transferred
Knowhow”).

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 158



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 3.4(a)(ix)
Consents

1. Consent from AmeriGas to transfer the Propane Agreement.
2. Consents from PSCAA to transfer the permits listed in Schedule 2.1(d), assuming such permits
can be transferred to Purchaser.
3. Consent from Pape Rentals to transfer the Rental Agreement for a 85 Diesel Stick Boom wi/rt
non-mark tire from Pape Rentals.
4, Consent from Vestis to transfer the Service Agreement dated May 2, 2024 between Seller and

Vestis.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 159



ATTA
Asset Purchase Agreement (Final 7-14-25)

Schedule 7.5
Allocation of Purchase Price

NTD to be completed by the parties.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 160



ki
King County

Metropolitan King County Council
Transportation, Economy, and Environment Committee

REVISED STAFF REPORT

Agenda Item: 7 Name: Terra Rose
Proposed No.: | 2025-0176 Date: July 15, 2025
COMMITTEE ACTION

Proposed Substitute Ordinance 2025-0176.2, which would authorize the
Executive to enter into a revised Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire the
landfill gas processing plant owned and operated by Bio Energy Washington,
passed out of committee on July 15, 2025, without recommendation. The
Proposed Ordinance was amended in committee with Amendment 1 to replace
the transmitted version of the Asset Purchase Agreement with a revised version.
Relative to the transmitted version, the revised Asset Purchase Agreement
corrected reference errors and removed draft watermarks; added definitions for
"Tangible Personal Property” and related terms; added language clarifying that a
third-party operator is permitted to use confidential materials; and made updates
to certain schedules.

SUBJECT

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0176 would authorize the Executive to enter into the
proposed Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire the landfill gas processing plant owned
and operated by Bio Energy Washington and located onsite at the Cedar Hills Regional
Landfill.

SUMMARY

Landfill gas is generated through the decomposition of waste buried at the County’s
Cedar Hills Regional Landfill and is captured by a gas control system operated by the
Solid Waste Division to reduce emissions escaping through the ground or air. Pursuant
to original agreements approved by the Council in 2003, which were later amended and
restated in 2007," Bio Energy Washington (“BEW”), a private company, built its landfill
gas processing plant onsite at Cedar Hills and processed collected landfill gas into
pipeline-quality, renewable natural gas. Under the most recent agreement with BEW
and a separate agreement with Puget Sound Energy, the County received revenues for
the sale of the collected landfill gas, as well as for the environmental attributes

' Ordinance 14723; Ordinance 15872

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 161




associated with the collected gas due to the state’s classification of landfill gas as a
‘renewable resource.”

In 2023, BEW notified the County that it was ceasing operation of its plant and
subsequently filed suit against the County in U.S. District Court, claiming the County
breached the agreement with BEW, claiming in part the County was not following good
engineering practices in gas collection and in determining responsibility for disposal of
hazardous waste residuals after gas processing. The County countersued with multiple
claims against BEW. Earlier this year, the parties reached and executed a Settlement
Agreement wherein the County and BEW would negotiate an agreement for, among
other things, the County to acquire BEW’s plant. Since this time, the County has
received no revenues for the sale of the gas and the collected landfill gas has been
flared, which refers to burning the landfill gas at a high temperature to reduce, but not
eliminate, the volume of greenhouse gases.

Proposed Ordinance (“PO”) 2025-0176 would authorize the Executive to enter into
the proposed and negotiated Asset Purchase Agreement (Attachment A to the PO;
“‘Purchase Agreement”), which consists of several exhibits, including ancillary licensing
and transition agreements, for the County to acquire BEW'’s landfill gas processing plant
for $70 million on an “as-is” basis. Additionally, under both the Settlement Agreement
and Purchase Agreement, the County would make a $5 million payment to settle the
litigation, which does not establish either party as the prevailing party.

According to the Statement of Facts in the proposed ordinance, in addition to providing
for the County’s acquisition of the plant, the ordinance would resolve the ongoing
litigation and provide for “significant environmental and financial benefit to the County.”
According to Executive staff, capturing the landfill gas and processing it at the plant
allows for its conversion into renewable natural gas, producing potentially enough
energy to meet the natural gas needs of over 17,500 homes in King County. This
means that an equal amount of non-renewable energy, such as fossil fuels, do not need
to be consumed, reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Executive staff estimate a net revenue of $5 million annually beginning in 2026 after
expenditures, which includes the estimated cost to operate the plant, debt service, and
the one-time settlement payment. No revenue is expected for 2025. Executive staff
expect that the debt service will be supported by the revenue generated from the sale of
gas and environmental attributes such that the County should break even on its initial
investment in 2035. Assuming approximately $10 million in rehabilitation and
improvement capital projects, Executive staff state that the estimated life of the plant is
through 2045.

Further agreements with other entities for the sale of the processed gas and
environmental attributes and with a third-party to operate the plant will need to be
further negotiated and executed for the plant to be operational and begin revenue
generation. Given the work expected that is yet to be completed and other factors, there
remain some unknowns and uncertainties for the Council to consider:

o Extended due diligence period is not yet complete: A two-month due diligence
period, granted under the Settlement Agreement, took place earlier this year

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 162



during which the County had the right to review information about the plant and
its operation, as well as conduct engineering reviews and other tests. Executive
staff indicate they have negotiated an extension of this period “to allow extra time
to analyze data that was not collected during the initial demonstration period,
which resulted in the need for a subsequent demonstration period.” Executive
staff anticipate all final reports related to plant condition and operation to be
completed in mid-July.

e Final version of the Purchase Agreement expected to be available just prior to
7/15 TrEE meeting, except for Schedule 7.5: Council staff have noted that some
exhibits (including ancillary agreements) and schedules in the transmittal appear
to be in draft form. Additionally, there were provisions in the agreements that
were ambiguous or lacked clarity for which the Prosecuting Attorney’s Office has
been negotiating revisions with BEW. Executive staff expect to be able to provide
the final version of the Purchase Agreement (including exhibits) to the Council
late in the day on 7/14, the day before the TrEE meeting, except for Schedule
7.5. Schedule 7.5 concerns the allocation of the purchase price and all other
capitalized costs for tax purposes and Executive staff expect to be able to
provide a final Schedule 7.5 on 7/18. Council staff will report in committee on the
differences between the transmitted version of the Purchase Agreement (and
exhibits) with the updated version expected to be provided on 7/14.

e FEstimated taxes to be paid by the County from the proposed acquisition is
currently unknown: Given that the tax allocation schedule described in the
previous bullet is not expected to be available by the TrEE meeting, the
estimated tax burden the County would incur because of the proposed
acquisition is currently unknown and is expected to be additional to the purchase
price of $70 million. An estimate should be available following completion of the
schedule, which is expected to be provided on 7/18.

e Some potential uncertainty related to revenue estimates: Executive staff are in
the process of negotiating potential agreements for the sale of the renewable
natural gas and associated environmental attributes, so the exact pricing has not
yet been finalized. Therefore, given this and the volatility in the energy market,
there is some potential uncertainty in the actual revenue that would accrue to the
County in the near-term. Further, some uncertainty may also exist in terms of the
long-term revenue potential, as both Washington State and the County engage in
targeted efforts to further divert organic wastes and food wastes from being
disposed. Methane, which is 50-60% of landfill gas by volume?, is generally the
result of organic waste decaying under anaerobic conditions (without oxygen).3
However, as noted previously, estimated revenues are not the only factor upon
which Executive staff are justifying the acquisition, as they also note the
environmental benefits and the resolution of the litigation.

It is a policy decision of the Council to determine whether any existing uncertainty with
regard to potential revenues, the estimated tax burden to the County resulting from the

22019 King County Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan
3 U.S. EPA, Quantifying Methane Emissions from Landfilled Food Waste [Link]

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 163


https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-10/food-waste-landfill-methane-10-8-23-final_508-compliant.pdf

transaction, the outcome of the extension of the due diligence period, or other current
unknowns are outweighed by the environmental benefits and resolution of the litigation.

A related supplemental budget ordinance, Proposed Ordinance 2025-0177, would
make a supplemental appropriation of approximately $91.9 million to support the
purchase of the gas processing plant ($70M), plant capital improvements ($10M), make
the agreed-upon settlement payment ($5M), as well as cover operating and startup
costs ($3.5M) and estimated debt service ($1.8M) for 2025.

Council adoption of the ordinances authorizing the County to execute the Purchase
Agreement, perform the transactions contemplated by said agreement, as well as
appropriating the funds necessary to pay the purchase price and the agreed-upon
settlement amount, are conditions of closing under the Agreement. The Settlement
Agreement states that if the transaction does not close for any reason by the deadline of
August 29, 2025, absent an extension agreed upon by both parties, the litigation shall
promptly proceed to trial, as determined by the Court. As the Executive will not be
authorized to sign the Purchase Agreement until the underlying ordinance is effective,
final action by the Council by July 22, 2025 will ensure that the closing can occur by
August 29, 2025.

BACKGROUND

Cedar Hills Landfill Gas Generation and Collection. The Cedar Hills Regional
Landfill (“Cedar Hills”; “landfill’), owned by the County and located in unincorporated
Maple Valley, is the single operating landfill in King County and receives garbage from
the cities and unincorporated areas in the County’s regional solid waste system.*
Landfill gas is generated through the decomposition of waste buried in the landfill and
as required by state and federal law, is captured by a gas control system operated by
the Solid Waste Division to reduce emissions escaping through the ground or air.

Contractual Arrangements for the Processing and Sale of the County’s Landfill
Gas. A series of agreements have governed the processing of the landfill gas generated
at Cedar Hills into renewable natural gas and its subsequent sale, as well as the sale of
the environmental attributes associated with the landfill gas. Figure 1 provides a
graphical depiction of the existing arrangements between the County, Bio Energy
Washington (“BEW”), and Puget Sound Energy (‘PSE”). The specific contractual
arrangements and their respective authorizing legislation are further described following
the figure.

Under state law, landfill gas is classified as a “renewable resource” and therefore,
associated with the landfill gas are environmental attributes, which can be sold or used
as offset credits.®

Prior to the arrangement shown in Figure 1, the County “flared” the landfill gas, which
refers to burning the gas at a high temperature to reduce, but not eliminate, volumes of
greenhouse gasses.

4 Includes all cities in King County except for Seattle and Milton
5 RCW 19.285.030(21)

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 164



Figure 1.
Contractual Arrangements for the Processing and Sale of County's Landfill Gas
(and Associated Environmental Attributes)

King County (KC) Bio Energy Washington (BEW) Puget Sound Energy (PSE)
‘g‘ KC sells LFG to BEW sells PQG to
5 . . BEW BEW processes the | PSE; KC nota party o
g Landfill gas (LFG) is (ord. 15872) LFG to pipeline-guality to agreement PSE uses PQG in grid
‘; generated at the Cedar » natural gas (PQG) at | »| or sells, as suitable for
o Hills Regional Landfill facility onsite at Cedar its purposes
g Hills
i}
v
g " VEE SraRriantal KC selis LFG environmental attributes to PSE (Ord. 17022) PSE uses or sells
o o ; ; environmental
E3 Bt e talerky " attributes, as suitable
ca KC (Ord. 15872) S
[ E for its purposes
E <
[}

King County Arrangement with BEW. In 2003, the Council approved legislation that
authorized the King County Executive to enter into agreements with BEW, a private
company, currently owned by Ingenco Holdings, LLC, for the sale and conversion of
landfill gas into energy.® In accordance with the original project agreements, BEW
developed, built, and owns the landfill gas processing plant located at Cedar Hills on
property leased to BEW by the County.

In 2007, the Council authorized the Executive to execute amended and updated
agreements related to the project development, gas sales, and site lease that are in
effect until 2030 with the possibility of extension.” Until 2023 when the plant ceased
operations, BEW had been processing the landfill gas to pipeline-quality, renewable
natural gas at its plant.

BEW Arrangement with PSE. BEW had an agreement with PSE, to which the County is
not a party, where BEW sells PSE the pipeline-quality, renewable natural gas. This gas

6 Ordinance 14723
7 Ordinance 15872

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 165



is routed through a nearby gas line into the PSE grid and is also used to power the
BEW plant.

County Arrangement with PSE. Under the agreement between the County and BEW,
the County retains any and all rights to the environmental attributes that are associated
with the landfill gas.? Between 2011 and when the last agreement with PSE expired in
mid-2023, the County sold the environmental attributes to PSE, which resulted in PSE
having the rights to both the processed landfill gas and the environmental attributes.®

Current Situation. In 2023, BEW notified the County that it was ceasing operation of
the landfill gas processing plant and subsequently filed suit against the County in U.S.
District Court, claiming the County breached its contractual obligations to BEW, claiming
in part the County was not following good engineering practices in gas collection and in
determining responsibility for disposal of hazardous waste residuals after gas
processing.'® The County countersued with multiple claims against BEW. The parties
reached and executed a Settlement Agreement earlier this year, wherein the County
and BEW would, among other things, negotiate an agreement for the County to acquire
the plant from BEW.

Since BEW ceased operation of the plant, Executive staff indicate that the Division has
been flaring the landfill gas, as required by the landfill's operational permits, which
require flaring during periods when landfill gas cannot be sent to BEW.

ANALYSIS

There are three proposed ordinances in front of the Council that relate to the acquisition
of BEW'’s landfill gas processing plant:

¢ Proposed Ordinance 2025-0176 would authorize the Executive to enter into the
Asset Purchase Agreement (Attachment A to the PO; “Purchase Agreement” ) to
acquire BEW’s landfill gas processing plant.

e Proposed Ordinance 2025-0177 would make a supplemental appropriation to
support the purchase of the landfill gas processing plant, plant capital
improvements, and estimated operating costs.

Council status as of 7/9: The appropriations that are proposed by this ordinance
were folded into the Chair’s striking amendment to the 2025 1t omnibus budget
ordinance,’’ which was adopted at the July 9" Budget and Fiscal Management
(‘BFM”) committee meeting. Under the amended omnibus ordinance, the
proposed appropriations related to plant acquisition are expenditure restricted
such that the funds are unable to be spent until PO 2025-0176, concerning the
Purchase Agreement, is effective. Possible final Council action on the amended
omnibus budget ordinance is tentatively scheduled for July 15%.

8 Ordinance 15782

9 Ordinance 17022; Ordinance 19562

10 U.S. District Court, Case No. 2:23-cv-00542-LK
1 Proposed Ordinance 2025-0159

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 166



e Proposed Ordinance 2025-0158 would provide for additional County bond
issuance authority for the acquisition and improvements of the landfill gas
processing plant, as well as other projects proposed to be bond-funded in the
2025 15t omnibus budget ordinance.

Council status as of 7/9: This ordinance was passed out of the BFM committee
on July 9 and final Council action is tentatively scheduled for July 15,

This staff report will cover all three ordinances, but only Proposed Ordinance 2025-
0176, related to the Purchase Agreement, is on today’s committee agenda for
discussion and possible action.

| PO 2025-0176 — Asset Purchase Agreement and Related Agreements

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0176 was transmitted on June 13, 2025, and would
authorize the Executive to enter into the proposed Purchase Agreement to acquire the
landfill gas processing plant currently owned by BEW on an as-is basis for $70 million.
According to the Statement of Facts in the proposed ordinance, in addition to providing
for the County’s acquisition of the plant, the ordinance would resolve the ongoing
litigation and provide for “significant environmental and financial benefit to the County.”

Key Purchase Agreement Provisions. Figure 2 highlights key provisions of the
proposed Purchase Agreement and includes the following series of related agreements
and documents as exhibits:

Exhibit A — Settlement Agreement, executed by the County on March 19, 2025;
Exhibit B — Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

Exhibit C — Form of Bill of Sale;

Exhibit D — Form of Transition Services Agreement;

Exhibit E — Form of License Agreement.

Figure 2.

Key Provisions of Proposed Purchase Agreement Between BEW and the County
NOTE: Non-underlined, capitalized terms used in Figure 2 are defined in the Purchase Agreement or its

exhibits.
Agreement Provision
Section(s)
1.1 and Settlement Amount: A $5.0 million payment is to be made by the County to
Exhibit A BEW to settle the Litigation at Closing. Under the terms of the Settlement
Agreement (Exhibit A to the Purchase Agreement), this payment does not
establish that either Party was a Prevailing Party. Additionally, the Settlement
Agreement states that BEW expressly waives all rights to seek any attorney’s
fees, except in a scenario where the County fails to close on a purchase and
sale agreement and complete the purchase of the Plant. The Settlement
Agreement also provides that if the transaction does not close for any reason,
BEW will not be entitled to the $5 million payment.
2.1 Purchased Assets: BEW is to sell to the County, free and clear of all liens, the

assets, properties, rights, titles, and interests “to the extent related to the
ownership or operation of the Plant,” including the following and as further

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 167



Agreement

Section(s) Provision

provided for under the specific language in the Purchase Agreement:

¢ All inventories of fuels, supplies, materials, and spares located on the
Plant Site before the end of the Due Diligence Period (discussed
further later in the staff report), less any used for maintenance during
the period before the Closing Date;

¢ Machinery, equipment, vehicles, furniture, and other personal property
located on the Plant Site before the end of Due Diligence Period,
including personal property identified on Schedule 2.1(b)'?;

e Transferred Contracts identified on Schedule 2.1(c)"3;

o Transferred Permits, to the extent assignable, identified on Schedule
2.1(d), and further discussed later in this staff report;

e Transferred Intellectual Property, identified in Schedule 2.1(e)'; and

e BEW’s books and records relating to the ownership, operation, and
maintenance of the Plant, other than those identified as excluded.

“‘Excluded Assets” are further identified in Section 2.2 of the Purchase
Agreement. Examples include: cash and any similar rights arising from
ownership or operation of the Plant prior to the Closing; specific BEW records,
such as business plans, federal tax returns, personnel files, etc.

3.1 Purchase Price: A $70.0 million payment by wire transfer in immediately
available funds is to be paid by the County to BEW at Closing.

3.2 Closing Deadline: The closing of the purchase and sale contemplated by this
[Purchase] Agreement shall take place on or before the Closing Deadline,
August 29, 2025, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties.

3.3 Closing Deliverables — BEW: At Closing, BEW shall deliver to the County the
following:

e Executed Exhibits B, C, D, and E;

o Evidence that BEW has withdrawn all open or pending requests to the
County under the Washington Public Records Act;

e Evidence that BEW has transferred all Transferred Contracts and
Transferred Permits (as listed in the relevant Purchase Agreement
Schedules) to the County, effective as of the Closing;

o Certification of resolutions authorizing the execution of the Purchase
Agreement and other associated documents and agreements;

e Affidavit of non-foreign status of BEW in compliance with Internal
Revenue Service code; and

2 Examples of Personal Property include: Equipment that is affixed to the property; Plant operating and
gas testing manuals; items listed on the Master Asset List (Exhibit 1 to Schedule 2.1(b)), including the
building itself, engines, generators, various systems and computers related to Plant performance and
operation, forklifts, etc.; spares. For the full list, see Schedule 2.1(b).

13 Examples of Transferred Contracts include: a propane supply agreement with AmeriGas, trash and
recycle services with Republic Services, and a product sale agreement with Central Welding Supply
Company, among others. For the full list, see Schedule 2.1(c).

4 Examples of Transferred Intellectual Property include: To the extent needed to operate the Plant and to
the extent owned by Seller, copyrights and works of authorship, as well as trade secrets, business and
technical information, databases, tools, methods, etc.; Any intellectual property contained in the Standard
Operating Procedures; Any intangible know-how related to ownership and operation of the Plant that is
disclosed to the County, learned during the performance the Transition Services Agreement (Exhibit D),
or communicated to County by current or former employees. For the full list, see Schedule 2.1(e).

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 168



Agreement

Section(s) Provision

e Copies of all consents, approvals, waivers, and authorizations related
to Transferred Permits and Contracts, and as identified in Schedule
3.4(a)(ix).

Closing Deliverables — County: At Closing, the County shall deliver to BEW
the following:

e The Purchase Price ($70.0 million) and Settlement Agreement ($5.0
million) by wire transfer, in immediately available funds;

e Executed Exhibits B, D, and E; and

e The original of the $500k letter of credit furnished by BEW as security
for BEW’s compliance with the terms of the PDA [existing amended
and updated agreement related to project development and gas sales,
dated February 29, 2008, between BEW and the County].

3.4 Conditions Precedent to Closing — County: The obligation of the County to
consummate the Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the
County) of the following conditions. Note that the italicized conditions below
are conditions that exist for both the County and BEW.

e The Lease between BEW and the County related to the Plant’s use of
County-owned land shall have been terminated, effective as of
Closing;

e The PDA [existing amended and updated agreement related to project
development and gas sales between BEW and the County, dated
February 29, 2008,] shall have been terminated, effective as of
Closing;

e BEW has duly performed and complied in all material respects with all
agreements and covenants required by the [Purchase] Agreement and
associated documents and agreements, prior to, or on, the Closing
Date;

e The County has entered into an agreement with Puget Sound Energy
that would give the County access to the Transfer Line/Northwest
Pipeline used for delivery of pipeline quality gas produced by the Plant.
Executive staff indicate that they are currently in conversation with
PSE and anticipate that the pipeline access agreement will be included
in an agreement for the sale of a portion of the product gas to PSE.
According to Executive staff, they are aiming to transmit this and other
related potential agreements for the sale of the processed gas in the
next few weeks, with the goal of having if in effect on September 1st;

e The Council shall have adopted the ordinances authorizing the County
to execute the [Purchase] Agreement, perform the transactions
contemplated by the [Purchase] Agreement, as well as appropriating
the funds necessary to pay the purchase price and the agreed-upon
settlement amount (“Appropriations Ordinance”); and

e No action shall have been commenced against BEW or the County
that would prevent the Closing or prohibit the transactions
contemplated by the [Purchase] Agreement.

3.5 Conditions Precedent to Closing — BEW: The obligation of BEW to
consummate the Closing is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by BEW) of
the following conditions. Note that the italicized conditions below are
conditions that exist for both the County and BEW.

e The Lease between BEW and the County related to the Plant’s use of

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 169



Agreement

Section(s) Provision

County-owned land shall have been terminated, effective as of
Closing;

e The PDA [existing amended and updated agreement related to project
development and gas sales between BEW and the County, dated
February 29, 2008,] shall have been terminated, effective as of
Closing;

e The County has duly performed and complied in all material respects
with all agreements and covenants required by the [Purchase]
Agreement and associated documents and agreements, prior to, or on
the Closing Date; and

e No action shall have been commenced against BEW or the County
that would prevent the Closing or prohibit the transactions
contemplated by the [Purchase] Agreement.

6 Indemnification: Includes language emphasizing that BEW is offering no
warranties, express or implied, regarding the condition of the Purchased
Assets or the Plant, the suitability of the Plant for its intended purpose, its
merchantability, or other customary warranties offered by the sellers of new
equipment.

7 Taxes: Under the proposed Purchase Agreement, the County shall pay all
sales and use Taxes levied on the purchaser of assets under Applicable Law
(Purchaser Transfer Taxes). Other than Purchaser Transfer Taxes, BEW shall
pay all Taxes incurred as a result of the transaction contemplated by the
[Purchase] Agreement under Applicable Law, including real property transfer,
recording charges, and other similar Taxes.

Additionally, the Parties shall allocate the Purchase Price (and all other
capitalized costs) among the Purchased Assets for tax purposes in
accordance with Schedule 7.5. A Schedule 7.5 was included in the proposed
Purchase Agreement, but the document has not yet been completed.
Executive staff expect that this Schedule will be provided to the Council on
7/18.

8.1 Confidential Information: The County shall make good faith efforts to keep
confidential the information contained in the operating manuals and other
materials designated as “proprietary” or “confidential” by Guild Associates.
This covenant shall survive the Closing, as further provided in Sec. 8.1.
According to Executive staff, Guild Associates is a vendor of the nitrogen
removal system used in BEW’s operations.

Exhibit A Settlement Agreement: The Settlement Agreement, executed by BEW and the
County in March 2025, is binding and forms the basis for the Purchase
Agreement and other associated agreements included as exhibits. Key
provisions from the Settlement Agreement not already discussed in this table
include:

o The Settlement Agreement outlines the terms under which a Due
Diligence Period shall occur (Sec. 3.3). During this Period, under the
Settlement Agreement, the County assumes full responsibility for all
normal and customary plant operating expenses related to the
County’s requested operation of the Plant by BEW. This includes the
disposal of any dangerous waste contained in the Plant Condensate

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 170



Agreement

Section(s) Provision

produced during the Due Diligence Period.

e The Settlement Agreement required the County to place a $3.0 million
Earnest Money Payment into the court registry to be distributed under
certain circumstances, as outlined in Sec. 3.4.7 of the Settlement
Agreement.

o Final dismissal of the Litigation with prejudice will occur upon closing
under the Purchase Agreement by King County and payment to BEW
of the $5.0 million payment in settlement of the Litigation (Sec. 3.6.2).

e All claims remain disputed as to liability and damages, and the
performance of this [Settlement] Agreement does not constitute any
admission by the parties (Sec. 4.3).

Exhibit B Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement: The transmitted exhibit
includes a watermark indicating it is in draft form. This draft agreement, as
transmitted, transfers certain contracts entered into by BEW as Plant owner
to the County (listed in Schedule 2.1(c)). The County accepts the assignment
and assumes all of BEW’s duties and obligations under the Transferred
Contracts, such as payment for services. Examples of Transferred Contracts
include a propane supply agreement with AmeriGas, trash and recycle
services with Republic Services, and a product sale agreement with Central
Welding Supply Company, among others.

Exhibit C Form of Bill of Sale: The transmitted exhibit includes a watermark indicating it
is in draft form. This draft Bill of Sale, as transmitted, transfers the ownership
of the “Tangible Personal Property, as such term is defined in the Asset
Purchase Agreement” from BEW to the County. However, Council staff note
that “Tangible Personal Property” is not defined in the Purchase Agreement.

Exhibit D Form of Transition Services Agreement: The transmitted exhibit includes a
statement on the cover page indicating it is a draft document and that no legal
obligation of any kind will arise until a definitive written agreement is executed
and delivered by both parties. In accordance with the Settlement Agreement,
this draft transition agreement, as transmitted, provides the terms under which
BEW would provide the County with operating assistance for a period not to
exceed sixty days following Closing. BEW retains the sole option to decide
whether to continue to provide assistance after the sixty days if requested by
the County.

Under this transition agreement, the County agrees it is responsible for
operating and maintaining the Plant during the Assistance Period and that
BEW will simply be providing operating assistance at the direction of the
County, specifically the Services outlined in Exhibit A to Exhibit D. BEW
agrees to not undertake any action for its dissolution prior to the End Date of
the agreement and also to use good faith efforts to retain sufficient operating
personnel during the Assistance Period.

During the Assistance Period, BEW is solely responsible for payment and
provision of wages, benefits, and applicable severance, as well as the
withholding and payment of employment taxes. The County is required to pay
BEW a weekly rate for each person that provides services during the period:
Plant Manager $5,000; Plant Engineer $3,000; Plant Operators (eight) $2,000;
as well as severance or other associated costs in the event the County

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 171



Agreement

Section(s) Provision

terminates this transition agreement before the sixty days. The transition
agreement states that it is the intent of the Parties that the amounts listed
above approximate the cost of providing the Services, without any intent to
cause BEW to receive net profit or incur loss.

The County acknowledges that all existing employees of BEW are not
represented by any labor union and that BEW intends to use these employees
to provide the Services during the Assistance Period.

Exhibit E Form of License Agreement: The transmitted exhibit includes a watermark
indicating it is in draft form. The license agreement, as transmitted, between
King County and Ingenco Holdings, LLC,' grants a permanent, royalty-free,
non-exclusive, sublicensable right and license to certain patent rights'®
related to the purification of landfill gas into pipeline quality gas and referred to
in the Settlement Agreement and Purchase Agreement as the “Palumbo
Patent.” Under the license agreement, the license begins on the date the
County completes the purchase of the Facility pursuant to the terms of the
Asset Purchase Agreement and ends September 24, 2028, which is the date
the patent is currently set to expire.

The license agreement states that the County acknowledges and agrees that
Ingenco does not represent or warrant that the Licensed Patent is sufficient to
permit operation of the facility without any potential claims of infringement by
third parties. The license agreement further states that any determination
concerning the adequacy of the Licensed Patent, and all risks associated with
any third-party claims of infringement, are the responsibility of the County.

The transmitted exhibit indicates a copy of the Palumbo Patent is provided as
Exhibit A to Exhibit E, however, no such copy is included.

Schedules Schedules 2.1(c), 3.4(a)(ix), and 7.5 all appear to be in draft form and not yet
complete. Additionally, Schedule 2.1(e) references Annex 2.1(e)-1, however,
no such annex is included.

Outcome of Plant Testing Period (“Due Diligence Period”). As noted previously, the
plant ceased operation in 2023. The Settlement Agreement granted a two-month due
diligence period, which took place from April 29th to July 4, 2025, during which the
County had the right to review information about the plant and plant operation, including
the cost of operation and review of all financial records associated with operation and
gas sales. During this period, the County also had the right to determine whether the
Palumbo Patent described in Figure 2 conferred sufficient intellectual property to
operate the plant, as well as have access to the plant to conduct engineering reviews.
Additionally, the Settlement Agreement required BEW to operate the plant, consistent
with normal commercial practice, for a minimum of seven consecutive days
continuously (“Demonstration Period”).

The Recitals in the Purchase Agreement indicate that BEW operated the plant
consistent with normal commercial practice for the Demonstration Period. Additionally,

5 BEW is a fully-owned subsidiary of Ingenco.
16 U.S. Patent 7,731,779

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 172



Executive staff note that both BEW and the County sampled product gas during the
Demonstration Period and found that, overall, the product gas quality was sufficient to
meet most of the requirements to inject into the interstate pipeline, pending a final
access agreement with PSE. According to Executive staff, the County has taken some
additional samples to satisfy testing for the remaining constituents and will have the
results before closing.

As of the writing of this staff report, according to Executive staff, the County has
negotiated an extension of the due diligence period and for BEW to restart the plant to
facilitate some additional testing. Executive staff state that “This extension is needed to
allow extra time to analyze data that was not collected during the initial demonstration
period, which resulted in the need for a subsequent demonstration period.” Specifically,
Executive staff indicate that the County is conducting vibration testing, industrial
hygiene testing, and ultrasonic testing and the results will be reviewed by the facility
condition consultants and County staff.

Executive staff anticipate all final reports to be completed by mid-July.

Environmental Impacts of the Plant. Executive staff indicate that operating the landfill
gas processing plant has significant environmental benefits.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions. According to the 2019 Comprehensive Solid Waste
Management Plan (“2019 CSWMP”), landfill gas consists of about 50 to 60 percent
methane,'” a greenhouse gas contributing to climate change that is 28 times more
potent than carbon dioxide at trapping heat in the atmosphere.'® The 2019 CSWMP
indicates that the remainder of the landfill gas is made up of carbon dioxide and trace
amounts of oxygen, nitrogen, and other gases.

Capturing the landfill gas and processing it at the plant allows for its conversion into
pipeline-quality, renewable natural gas, producing potentially enough energy annually to
meet the natural gas needs of over 17,500 homes in King County. This means that an
equal amount of non-renewable energy, such as energy produced by fossil fuels like
coal or non-renewable natural gas, does not need to be consumed, which reduces
greenhouse gas emissions by about 85,000 metric tons per year.

The alternative to processing the gas is to continue to flare the gas in accordance with
the Division’s environmental permits, as has been done since BEW ceased operations.
Executive staff state that methane destruction from flaring is typically greater than 99%
and Division environmental permits require a 98.5% removal of all non-methane organic
compounds, which is achieved by flaring. Executive staff note that flaring reduces, but
does not eliminate all greenhouse gasses, as carbon dioxide is still released into the
atmosphere; however, it is a less potent greenhouse gas than methane.

Other Air Impacts. Executive staff indicate that BEW operates under three Orders of
Approvals to Notices of Construction from the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency
(“PSCAA”). According to Executive staff, these Orders allowed the construction and
installation of a range of equipment, including 18 diesel engines used for generators.

7 Ordinance 18893
8 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), Importance of Methane website [Link].

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 173


https://www.epa.gov/gmi/importance-methane

Under the Purchase Agreement, the three Orders would be transferred to the County.
Executive staff indicate they expect them to be folded into the County’s existing Title V
Air Operating Permit for the landfill at the next renewal.

According to Executive staff, the existing permits require:

e Limits for carbon monoxide, nitrogen gas, volatile organic compounds,
formaldehyde and particulate matter emissions from the diesel engines used as
generators;

e Reduction requirements for non-methane organic compounds from the waste gas
in the thermal oxidizer, as well as maximum flow rate;

e A max flow rate for the candlestick flare (which is described as an emergency
flare but with no definition of emergency);

e Limits on plant-wide carbon monoxide emissions per consecutive 12-month
cycle; and

e Annual source testing.

Executive staff indicate that it is the County’s understanding that BEW has received
Notices of Violation (“NOV”) from PSCAA related to emissions from its diesel engines
prior to 2020. Based on documents reviewed by the County, it appears that BEW has
resolved these NOVs to PSCAA’s satisfaction. However, BEW has reported that earlier
this year, PSCAA communicated that they expected to issue two more NOVs.
According to Executive staff, they do not know the substance of the violations, as it
appears PSCAA has yet to issue them, and therefore it is unclear if and how they would
impact King County as the plant owner. Additionally, Executive staff note that BEW
completed its annual stack test during the demonstration period and shared the
consultant report with the County on July 8. They indicate that the report is still being
reviewed by the County, but the summary results indicate that all measurement was
within emission limits.

Council staff inquired about the applicability of the plant to Climate Commitment Act
(“CCA”) regulations. According to Executive staff, biogas producers are not impacted,
and landfills were removed from the CCA after the passage of Washington Engrossed
2"d Substitute House Bill 1663 in 2022,'% which established a landfill-specific methane-
reduction program.

Executive staff have indicated that Section 173-408 of the Landfill Methane Emissions
rule could be applicable to the plant, once the County purchases the plant. BEW has
conveyed that the Department of Ecology had accepted their argument that the rule did
not apply to the facility, as landfill gas is treated by the County prior to being received by
the plant. It is unclear whether Ecology would find this argument persuasive if both the
plant and the landfill were under the same ownership.

Plant Condensate. Executive staff state that plant condensate, a byproduct of
processing the landfill gas into renewable natural gas, is being containerized and hauled
offsite by a third-party vendor to be managed as dangerous waste given its arsenic
content, as opposed to being discharged into the wastewater system. According to
Executive staff, this method for disposal does not require specific regulatory approval as

19 Session Law, Chapter 179, Laws of 2022

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 174



it inherently complies with regulatory requirements. Executive staff indicate that the
annual cost to manage plant condensate is approximately $4.0 million.

Executive staff anticipate continuing to manage the condensate in this way until an
alternative pre-treatment system is developed. The Division has a capital project
underway to develop a technology that removes arsenic from the condensate and
leachate.

Council staff inquired about any potential “PFAS” (Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances)
impacts. Executive staff indicate the levels of PFAS in the condensate are unknown, but
any future systems implemented to meet future PFAS requirements for treating landfill
leachate are also expected to be able to treat the condensate from the plant.

Other Environmental Impacts. According to Executive staff, there are no anticipated
environmental impacts of the plant related to wastewater, groundwater, or stormwater.

Planned Startup. According to Executive staff, the County intends to have a third-party
operator on board by the closing date and expects the plant to be operational shortly
after the Purchase Agreement is executed. Executive staff indicate that the three firms
that the County is considering are all experienced operators that have multiple sites, so
they would be able to augment local staff with experienced operators, technicians, and
supervisors during stand up of new operations.

Council staff inquired if any of the three third-party operators being considered use
unionized labor. According to Executive staff, “The County does not have any
information about this at this time. BEW does not currently have union labor at the plant.
The Solid Waste Division does not intend to mandate unionized labor by a third party,
unless required to by standard County processes related to labor.”

Executive staff note that the following high-level actions would need to occur before full
plant operation, following execution of the Purchase Agreement:

e Council approval of a Biomethane Purchase and Sale Agreement between King
County and Puget Sound Energy: Executive staff are expecting that a portion of
the renewable natural gas would be sold to PSE and that this gas sales
agreement will be ten years in duration and will include a fixed price for
environmental attributes, plus the market price for the gas volume;

e Execution of Management, Maintenance, and Operations Agreement with the
selected third-party operator: At this time, Executive staff does not anticipate that
this operator agreement will need Council approval.

e Council approval of a Potential Environmental Attributes Agreement between
King County and Anew: According to Executive staff, the County is also in
negotiation with Anew, which is the same broker that the Wastewater Treatment
Division uses to sells its renewable natural gas. Executive staff indicate that an
agreement with Anew to sell the landfill gas may be transmitted if certainty of
access to the historically-more-lucrative transportation fuel market can be
guaranteed.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 175



e Potential Environmental Attributes Agreement: According to Executive staff, the
County is in negotiations with a vendor, Karbone, to develop a contract that will
provide flexibility for the County to transact additional environmental attributes
not under contract to PSE through multiple markets based on market conditions.
Executive staff anticipate that this contract will have a set fee structure based on
the different markets.

Executive staff are anticipating transmitting potential purchase and sale agreements for
the processed gas in the next few weeks, with the aim that they can be in effect on
September 15t

PO 2025-0177 — Supplemental Budget Appropriation
PO 2025-0158 — Bond Issuance Authority

As noted previously, these two ordinances are not in front of the committee today for
action but as they relate to the acquisition of BEW'’s landfill gas processing plant are
being discussed in this staff report. Both items were voted out of the July 9" BFM
meeting and final action is tentatively scheduled for the July 15,

Proposed Ordinance 2025-0177 would appropriate approximately $91.9 million to
support the acquisition and future operation of the landfill gas processing plant, as well
as the costs to settle the litigation. Figure 3 provides a breakdown of the proposed
appropriation.

Figure 3.
Details on Proposed Appropriation Related to BEW Plant Acquisition
Operating
or Capital Fund Appropriation Description Amount ($)
Operating Solid Waste Cost to settle litigation under the $5,000,000
Operating Settlement Agreement
Operating Solid Waste Appropriation covers: $6,902,446
Operating e Anticipated operating costs from
September through December
2025, including condensate
disposal: $2,483,284
e Due Diligence and startup costs:
$1,000,000
e Debt service: $1,837,500
Capital Solid Waste Cost to acquire the landfill gas processing $70,000,000
Construction plant under the Purchase Agreement
Capital Solid Waste Supports major renewal and rehabilitation $10,000,000
Construction projects at the landfill gas processing plant

TOTAL $91,902,446

Purchase Price and Financing. As noted previously, the Purchase Agreement
establishes the purchase price of the plant at $70 million.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 176




According to budget materials provided with the appropriation ordinance, the Division
will initially use commercial paper to fund the cost of acquisition, before issuing Limited
Taxable General Obligation bonds in the Fall. These budget materials further state that
the Division is working with bond counsel to determine whether taxable or tax-exempt
bonds would be more appropriate. Executive staff indicate the bond term is expected to
be 20 years. According to Executive staff, annual debt service for both acquisition and
planned rehabilitation of the plant are estimated at approximately $7.5 million.

A separate ordinance, Proposed Ordinance 2025-0158, would provide for additional
County bond issuance authority for the acquisition and improvements of the landfill gas
processing plant, as well as other projects proposed to be bond funded in the 2025 15t
omnibus budget ordinance.?°

Estimated Taxes Resulting from Acquisition. According to Executive staff, they
expect the County will pay sales tax on the personal property and BEW will pay the real
estate excise tax, as a result of the transaction. Executive staff indicate there is a state
exemption from sales tax for manufacturing equipment and it is expected that a
significant portion of the personal property will fall under this exemption.

However, as noted previously, Schedule 7.5 to allocate the purchase price and all other
capitalized costs among the purchased assets for taxed purposes is not yet complete.
Therefore, the total tax burden resulting from the transaction that will be incurred by the
County is unknown and is expected to be additional to the purchase price of $70 million.

Proposed Capital Improvements for the Plant. The supplemental budget
appropriations ordinance would appropriate $10 million to support major renewal and
rehabilitation projects at the landfill gas processing plant. Budget materials indicate that
this appropriation will allow for the Division to quickly address necessary maintenance
projects, as well as plant enhancements. According to budget materials, possible
projects include: repair/replacement of the building envelope, environmental
control/containment, and equipment/infrastructure, upgrades to existing controls or
equipment that could improve plant efficiency or regulatory compliance, and projects to
provide better integration between the plant and the landfill gas infrastructure.

Estimated Costs to Operate Plant. Materials with the supplemental budget ordinance
indicate that the estimated cost to operate the plant is approximately $12 million
annually. According to Executive staff, this includes the cost of condensate disposal and
an estimate for the third-party operator fee, which would be established in the operator
agreement that has yet to be finalized.

Estimated Revenue. The Division’s financial plan, provided as Attachment 4 to the staff
report, projects that the sale of the landfill gas and the associated environmental
attributes will generate approximately $53.8 million in revenue in the 2026-2027
biennium and $52.7 million in 2028-2029.2' No revenues are assumed for 2025.

20 Proposed Ordinance 2025-0159

21 For context, during the period in which BEW’s plant was operating, the Solid Waste Division received
revenue from both the sale of the landfill gas and the environmental attributes ranging from $1.0 to $7.0
million per year, depending on production rates and the market price, according to the 2019 CSWMP.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 177



According to Executive staff, the revenue estimates are based on the forecast for gas
and pricing for the environmental attributes completed by an outside consultant. For
context, Executive staff indicate that the majority of the revenue is expected to come
from the sale of environmental attributes, with the gas sales making up only
approximately 10%.

As noted previously, Executive staff are in the process of negotiating agreements for the
sale of the renewable natural gas produced by the plant and environmental attributes
associated with the landfill gas, so the exact pricing has not yet been determined.

Council staff inquired about the both the stability of the volume of renewable natural gas
produced, as well as the gas and environmental attributes markets. Executive staff note
that the revenue will vary based on market price and gas volumes and that both gas
and environmental attributes are volatile commodities. Therefore, the market may shift
over time. However, Executive staff indicate that the anticipated ten-year duration of the
contract being negotiated with PSE and the fixed price for environmental attributes will
allow the County to hedge against market fluctuations.

Landfill Gas Collection Data and Potential Impacts on Generation/Collection. Revenues
for landfill gas are a function of the pricing structure, as agreed upon in future contracts,
and also the amount of landfill gas generated by the waste in the landfill and the
efficiency of the gas collection system.

Executive staff provided historical data on the landfill gas collected by the collection
system at Cedar Hills, provided in Figure 4. This data demonstrates that, at least for the
ten-year period shown, the annual volume of gas collected has fluctuated over time.
According to Executive staff, there is no single cause identified for the reduction in
collection of landfill gas, but several actions have been undertaken or are planned to
improve collection infrastructure.

Figure 4.
High, Low, and Average Landfill Gas Flow Rate and Annual Gas Collection at
Cedar Hills Landfill

2014 - 2024
SCFM = Standard cubic feet per minute
SCF = Standard cubic feet

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 178



Total Annual

Gas Volume Gas Volume Gas Volume Volume

Flow — Avg. Flow - High Flow - Low Collected
Year (SCFM) (SCFM) (SCFM) (SCF)%
2014 10,483 10,953 9,876 3,256,288,621
2015 10,465 11,400 9,631 3,311,464,837
2016 10,844 11,175 10,555 3,503,215,207
2017 10,445 11,341 9,793 4,245,384,894
2018 10,718 10,905 10,403 4,454,036,249
2019 10,412 11,046 10,246 4,469,414,113
2020 9,020 10,241 8,069 3,922,261,953
2021 7,798 8,117 7,239 3,337,953,044
2022 7,772 8,046 7,572 3,364,785,010
2023 7,353 7,609 7,097 3,517,530,889
2024 7,815 7,998 7,479 3,603,068,612

The amount of methane, which is 50-60% of landfill gas by volume,?? that is generated
depends on several factors, including the amount of organic waste that is disposed, as
methane is the result of organic waste decaying under anaerobic conditions (without
oxygen).?* The most recent available waste characterization study completed by the
County indicates that various organic materials, such as paper, food waste, and
wood/yard waste, make up approximately 61% of disposed waste overall.?® Both
Washington State, via the Comprehensive Organics Management Law of 2022 and
2024,%5 and the County, through its Re+ programming, are concurrently engaged in a
targeted efforts to reduce organic materials, and food waste in particular, from being
disposed at landfills.

As these efforts are ongoing, it is unknown what the actual impacts will be over the
long-term time horizon on overall annual tons disposed at the landfill, the proportion of
organics waste annually disposed over time, and how these factors may influence the
potential volume of landfill gas generation and collection, and the associated revenues.

Financial Outlook. According to budget materials, the Division is anticipating a net
revenue of $5 million annually after expenditures. Executive staff note that in their
model, the Division assumed no revenue until 2026 and used a conservative
assumption to mitigate the financial impacts of a delay in closing. The projected net
revenue, according to Executive staff, includes the cumulative estimated revenue and
expenditures for the period 2025-2027 and includes the one-time payment of $5 million
in settlement costs.

Executive staff expect that the debt service will be supported by the revenue generated

22 Executive staff indicated the unit of measurement for the annual gas volume collected is SCFM,
however, Council staff think this may have been an error as it is a total volume rather than flow rate.
232019 CSWMP

24 U.S. EPA, Quantifying Methane Emissions from Landfilled Food Waste [Link]

25 2022 King County Waste County Waste Characterization and Customer Survey Report [Link]

26 For more information, see the 2024 Organics Management Laws — Focus Sheet [Link]

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 179


https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-10/food-waste-landfill-methane-10-8-23-final_508-compliant.pdf
https://your.kingcounty.gov/dnrp/library/solid-waste/Solid-waste-planning-monitoring/Solid-waste-monitoring/waste-characterization-study-2022.pdf
https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2407025.pdf

from the sale of gas and environmental attributes such that the County should break
even on its initial investment in 2035. With the rehabilitation and improvement projects
proposed in the supplemental budget ordinance, Executive staff state that the estimated
life of the plant is through 2045.

Council Considerations and Time Constraints

Council Considerations. This package of legislation in front of the Council related to
the acquisition of BEW’s landfill gas processing plant to settle the ongoing litigation
constitutes a complex, multi-million-dollar transaction that has required a series of
interrelated agreements to be negotiated with BEW and their owner, Ingenco. Further
agreements with other entities (e.g., PSE, Anew, third-party operator) will need to be
negotiated and executed for the plant to be operational and begin revenue generation.
Given the work expected that is yet to be completed, there remain some unknowns and
uncertainties for the Council to consider:

Extended due diligence period is not yet complete: Because the Executive staff
concluded more information regarding plant operations was necessary, the Due
Diligence period has been extended, with reports of the findings from additional
testing and operation expected to be available in mid-July.

Final version of the Purchase Agreement expected to be available just prior to
7/15 TrEE meeting, except for Schedule 7.5: At the time this staff report was
prepared, the final version of the Purchase Agreement has not yet been
provided. Executive and PAO staff have indicated that the corrections noted by
Council staff and Council legal counsel will be addressed in the final version of
the Purchase Agreement, which is expected to be provided to the Council on
7/14, with the exception of Schedule 7.5 concerning tax allocation. Council staff
anticipate being able to provide information on the differences between the
transmitted and final versions during the briefing at the 7/15 TrEE Committee.

Estimated taxes to be paid by the County from the proposed acquisition is
currently unknown: According to Executive staff, the tax allocation schedule
described in this staff report will not be available. Therefore, the estimated tax
burden the County would incur from the proposed acquisition is currently
unknown and is expected to be additional to the purchase price of $70 million. An
estimate should be available following completion of the schedule, which is
expected to be provided on 7/18.

Some potential uncertainty related to revenue estimates: Executive staff are in
the process of negotiating potential agreements for the sale of the renewable
natural gas and associated environmental attributes expected to be produced by
the plant, so the exact pricing has not yet been finalized. Therefore, given this
and the volatility in the energy market, there is some potential uncertainty in the
actual revenue that would accrue to the County in the near-term.

Further, some uncertainty may also exist in terms of the long-term revenue
potential, as both Washington State and the County engage in targeted efforts to
further divert organic wastes and food wastes from being disposed. Methane,

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 180



which is 50-60% of landfill gas by volume,?” is generally the result of organic
waste decaying under anaerobic conditions (without oxygen).?® However, as
noted previously, estimated revenues are not the only factor upon which
Executive staff are justifying the acquisition, as they also note the environmental
benefits and the resolution of the litigation.

Under the Settlement Agreement, if the transaction does not close for any reason by the
deadline of August 29, 2025, absent an extension agreed upon by both parties, the
litigation shall promptly proceed to trial, as determined by the Court.

It is a policy decision of the Council to determine whether any existing uncertainty with
regard to potential revenues, the estimated tax burden to the County resulting from the
transaction, the outcome of the extension of the due diligence period, or other current
unknowns are outweighed by the environmental benefits and resolution of the litigation.

Time Constraints. As noted previously, the Purchase Agreement states that closing
shall take place on or before August 29, 2025. Executive staff have requested Council
take final action on both the Purchase Agreement ordinance (PO 2025-0176) and make
the appropriations requested in the supplemental budget ordinance (PO 2025-0177), if
possible, in July before the August Recess in order for the ordinances to be effective
prior to the Closing Deadline.

If the Council wishes to meet Executive staff's timing request, assuming regular
meetings only, PO 2025-0176 would need to be voted out of the 7/15 TrEE committee
and expedited to the 7/22 full Council meeting. Final action would need to occur at the
7/22 Council meeting, as it is the last regular Council meeting prior to the August
Recess.

AMENDMENT

Council staff will prepare an amendment that would replace the transmitted Purchase
Agreement in PO 2025-0176 with a final version to be provided by Executive staff.

Council staff will email the amendment to Councilmembers when it is ready.

272019 King County Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan
28 U.S. EPA, Quantifying Methane Emissions from Landfilled Food Waste [Link]

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 181


https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-10/food-waste-landfill-methane-10-8-23-final_508-compliant.pdf

1200 King County Courthouse
2 KING COUNTY 516 Thind Avenue
m Seattle, WA 98104
. Signature Report
King County 9 P

Motion

Proposed No. 2025-0148.1 Sponsors Baron
A MOTION confirming the executive's appointment of
Marsha Matsumoto, who resides in council district four, to
the King County board of ethics.
BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County:
The county executive's appointment of Marsha Matsumoto, who resides in

council district four, to the King County board of ethics, for a partial term to expire on

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 182



Motion

7 July 31, 2026, is hereby confirmed.

KING COUNTY COUNCIL
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Girmay Zahilay, Chair
ATTEST:

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council

Attachments: None

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 183



ki
King County

Metropolitan King County Council
Government Accountability and Oversight Committee

STAFF REPORT

Agenda Item: 5 Name: Olivia Brey
Proposed No.: | 2025-0148 Date: July 8, 2025
SUBJECT

Proposed Motion 2025-0148 would confirm the Executive's appointment of Marsha
Matsumoto to the King County Board of Ethics for a partial term expiring on July 31,
2026. Ms. Matsumoto would be filling a Board-nominated position.

BACKGROUND

The King County Board of Ethics was created by Ordinance 1321 in 1972 “to ensure
proper implementation of the code of ethics and to investigate and report on conflicts of
interest.”! The Board of Ethics provides advisory opinions on questions of ethics
whenever requested or when deemed necessary in the public interest.?

The Board consists of five members: two to be appointed by the County Executive, two
to be appointed by the County Executive from a list of nominees submitted by the
County Council, and a fifth member, who serves as chair and is appointed by the
County Executive from a list of nominees submitted by the other four members. Each
member serves a term of three years. King County Code is silent on the number of
terms a Board member may serve. All appointments to the Board are subject to
confirmation by the Council.3

In 2023, Ordinance 19661% made a change to the Board of Ethics to include
requirements that members of the Board have demonstrated experience applicable to
carrying out the Board's responsibilities. The code also specifies that members should
have a “strong commitment to an accountable, transparent, and well-managed board of
ethics.”™

1K.C.C. 3.04.090

2K.C.C. 3.04.100

3K.C.C. 3.04.080.A.

4 King County — File #:2024-0180
5K.C.C. 3.04.080.B.

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 184



https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/06_Title_3.htm
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/06_Title_3.htm
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/06_Title_3.htm
https://mkcclegisearch.kingcounty.gov/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6187968&GUID=585D0A6D-0072-4BBB-9DBC-CEB17D3E48C1&Options=Advanced&Search=
https://aqua.kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/code/06_Title_3.htm

APPOINTEE INFORMATION

Marsha Matsumoto is a resident of Council District Four and is a retired disciplinary
counsel for the Washington State Bar Association. In this role, Ms. Matsumoto
investigated and prosecuted allegations of unethical conduct against lawyers in
Washington and established an ethics school for lawyers who participated in diversion
as a way to resolve a grievance filed against them. During her career, Ms. Matsumoto
also worked as an Assistant Ombudsman for King County, investigating ethics,
whistleblower, and citizen complaints. In her application materials, Ms. Matsumoto
expressed her commitment to public service.

ANALYSIS

If confirmed by the Council, Marsha Matsumoto would be appointed as a Board-
nominated member. The proposed Board Profile, including the appointee, is shown in
Table 1.

Table 1. Proposed Board Profile

K.C.C. Background Date Term # of Appointed
. . and/or . .
District . Appointed Expires Terms
Representing
1 | Michael 1 | Council- 3/8/23 7/31/26 | 1 Partial / 2 Ful
Blake nominated
Marsha 1 Partial,
Matsumoto Board- To be subject to
2 (pending 4 nominated determined 7131126 Council
nomination) confirmation
3 Laura o | Executive- 11/20/24 7/31/27 | 1 Partial / 1 Full
Crandall nominated
4 |Bruce g | Executive- 144 00/24 7/31/27 | 1 Partial / 1 Full
Davis nominated
Amy Council- .
5 Calderwood 4 nominated 12/4/24 7/31/26 1 Partial

Staff has not identified any issues with the proposed appointment. It appears to be
consistent with the requirements of the King County Code.

INVITED

e Marsha Matsumoto, Appointee, King County Board of Ethics
e Thomas Barrington, Staff Liaison, King County Board of Ethics

ATTACHMENTS

1. Proposed Motion 2025-0148
2. Transmittal Letter

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 185




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

1200 King County Courthouse
2 KING COUNTY 516 Thind Avenue
m Seattle, WA 98104
. Signature Report
King County 9 P

Motion

Proposed No. 2025-0219.1 Sponsors Dunn
A MOTION appointing committees to write the voters'
pamphlet statements for the November 4, 2025, election
regarding Ordinance 19950 providing for the submission to
the qualified electors of King County, at special election on
November 4, 2025, of a proposition to continue funding for
the countywide Medic One emergency medical services
system by authorizing a regular property tax levy for a
consecutive six year period, for collection beginning in
2026, at a rate of $0.25 or less per $1,000 of assessed
valuation, to provide for Medic One emergency medical
services.

WHEREAS, K.C.C. chapter 1.10 provides for the publication and distribution of
local voters' pamphlets in conformity with chapter 29A.32 RCW for elections held in
King County, and

WHEREAS, RCW 29A.32.280 provides for each measure from a jurisdiction that
is included in a local voters' pamphlet, the legislative authority of that jurisdiction shall
formally appoint a committee to prepare arguments advocating voter approval of the
measure and a committee to prepare arguments advocating voter rejection of the measure,

and

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025 186



20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Motion

WHEREAS, Ordinance 19950 provides for the submission to the qualified
electors of King County, at special election to be held in King County on November 4,
2025, of a proposition to continue funding for the countywide Medic One emergency
medical services system by authorizing a regular property tax levy for a consecutive six
year period, for collection beginning in 2026, at a rate of $0.25 or less per $1,000 of
assessed valuation, to provide for Medic One emergency medical services;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MOVED by the Council of King County:

The following individuals are appointed to serve on the voters' pamphlet

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

187



28

29

30

32

Motion

committees to write a statement for and against the proposed levy:
FOR AGAINST
1. Reagan Dunn I.
2. Greg Markley 2.
3. Tom Rea 3.
KING COUNTY COUNCIL

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Girmay Zahilay, Chair
ATTEST:

Melani Hay, Clerk of the Council

APPROVED this day of ,

Shannon Braddock, County Executive

Attachments: None

METROPOLITAN KING COUNTY COUNCIL July 22, 2025

188



	7-22-25 Revised Council Meeting Agenda
	7-15-25 Council Meeting Minutes  pg 9
	2025-0164 Proposed Ordinance  pg 19
	2025-0164 A  pg 22
	2025-0164 B  pg 28
	2025-0164 C  pg 35
	2025-0164 Staff Report  pg 42

	2025-0169 Proposed Ordinance  pg 46
	2025-0169 Staff Report  pg 53

	2025-0176 Proposed Substitute Ordinance  pg 59
	2025-0176 A  pg 63
	2025-0176 Revised Staff Report  pg 161

	2025-0148 Proposed Motion  pg 182
	2025-0148 Staff Report  pg 184

	2025-0219 Proposed Ordinance  pg 186



